
 
PUBLIC MEETING 

 
FRANCHISE AND CONCESSION REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 
WEDNESDAY MARCH 11th, 2026 @ 2:30 P.M. 

 
Location: 

255 Greenwich Street 
8th Floor 

New York, NY 10007 
 

 
NOTE: For further information on accessibility or to make a request for accommodations, such as sign language interpretation 
services, please contact the Mayor’s Office of Contract Services (MOCS) via e-mail at DisabilityAffairs@mocs.nyc.gov or via 
phone at (212) 298-0800. Any person requiring reasonable accommodation for the public meeting should contact MOCS at 
least five (5) business days in advance of the meeting to ensure availability.  
 
Franchise and Concession Review Committee Public Meeting  
Wednesday March 11th, 2026 @ 2:30 P.M. 
 

 

NEW YORK CITY OFFICE OF TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION 
 

No. 1:  IN THE MATTER of the intent to seek Franchise and Concession Review 
Committee approval for a proposed transfer of control of an existing mobile telecommunications 
franchise agreement between the City of New York and Crown Castle Fiber LLC to Small Cells 
HoldCo Inc. The mobile telecommunications franchise agreement authorizes the franchisee to 
install, operate and maintain equipment and facilities, including base stations and access point 
facilities, on City-owned street light poles and traffic light poles, and certain utility-owned poles 
located on the City street and subject to necessary further approvals, public communications 
structures, bus stop shelters and automatic public toilets, all in connection with the provision of 
mobile telecommunications services. The franchise agreement term runs through June 15, 2030. 

 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Franchise & Concession Review Committee; Honorable Borough Presidents; 
Honorable City Council Members; Community Boards   

 
FROM: Brett Sikoff, Executive Director, Franchise Administration 
 
DATE: 2/13/2026 
 
SUBJECT: Notice of Franchise and Concession Review Committee Public Hearing, 3/9/2026 

 

NOTICE OF A FRANCHISE AND CONCESSION REVIEW COMMITTEE (“FCRC”) PUBLIC 
HEARING to be held on 3/9/2026, at 2:30 p.m. at 255 Greenwich Street, 8th Floor, New York, NY 
10007 relative to the proposed transfer of control of an existing mobile telecommunications franchise 
agreement. 

Crown Castle Fiber LLC is seeking consent to transfer control of the mobile telecommunications 
franchise agreement between the City of New York and Crown Castle Fiber LLC to Small Cells 
HoldCo Inc. The mobile telecommunications franchise agreement authorizes the franchisee to install, 
operate and maintain equipment and facilities, including base stations and access point facilities, on 1) 
City-owned street light poles and traffic light poles, and certain utility-owned poles located on the City 
street and 2) subject to necessary further approvals, public communications structures, bus stop 
shelters and automatic public toilets, all in connection with the provision of mobile 
telecommunications services. The franchise agreement has a term that runs through June 15, 2030. 

The public may participate in the public hearing by attending and providing testimony. Written 
testimony may be submitted in advance of the hearing electronically to fcrc@mocs.nyc.gov. All 
written testimony must be received by 3/9/2026. 

A copy of the original franchise agreement and proposed organizational chart may be obtained at no 
cost any of the following ways: 

1) Submitting a written request to OTI at franchiseopportunities@oti.nyc.gov from 2/16/2026 
through 3/9/2026. 

2) Downloading from 2/16/2026 through 3/9/2026 on OTI’s website. To download a draft 
copy of the proposed before and after organizational charts, visit 
www1.nyc.gov/content/oti/pages/franchises. 

3) By submitting a written request by mail to NYC Office of Technology & Innovation, 2 
MetroTech Center, P-1 Level Mailroom. Written requests must be received by 3/6/2026. For 
mail-in requests, please include your name and return address. 

 
The agenda and related documentation for the hearing will be posted on the MOCS website at 
https://www.nyc.gov/site/mocs/opportunities/franchises-concessions.page.   
 
 
 
 



 
 
For further information on accessibility or to make a request for accommodations, such as sign 
language interpretation services, please contact the Mayor’s Office of Contract Services (MOCS) via 
e-mail at DisabilityAffairs@mocs.nyc.gov or via phone at (212) 298-0800. Any person requiring 
reasonable accommodation for the public hearing should contact MOCS at least five (5) business days 
in advance of the hearing to ensure availability. 

 



RECOMMENDATION FOR AWARD OF FRANCHISE AGREEMENT MEMORANDUM COVER SHEET 
(Attach, in the following order, FRFA Checklist and Narrative and  

 
AGENCY 
Office of Technology and 
Innovation 

RECOMMENDED FRANCHISEE 
Name: Crown Castle Fiber LLC 
 

Address: 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, TX, 77057 

Telephone #713-570-3000  EIN SSN # 01-0570431 

FRANCHISE I.D. # 
8582018FRANCH1-001 

# VOTES required for 
proposed action = 5 

DESCRIPTION OF FRANCHISE (Attach Proposed Resolution and Proposed Agreement) 

The proposed transfer of control of the mobile telecommunications services franchise agreement between the City of New York 
and Crown Castle Fiber LLC (Crown Castle Fiber) for the installation, operation, maintenance of equipment and facilities, 
including base stations and access point facilities, on 1) City-owned street light poles and traffic light poles, and certain privately-
owned utility poles located on the City streets and 2) subject to necessary further approvals, LinkNYC kiosks, bus stop shelters 
and automatic public toilets, all in connection with the provision of mobile telecommunications services to Small Cells HoldCo 
Inc. The terms of the franchise agreement will not change.  

Borough(s)Location of Franchise: All C.B.(s): All 
 

PUBLIC SERVICE TO BE PROVIDED 
 
Telecommunications Services 

Request for Proposals 
SELECTION PROCEDURE 

 Other:  
 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT TERM 

Initial Term From: Notice to Proceed - 10 yrs (06/15/2030) 

Extended Term: N / A  

SUBSIDIES TO FRANCHISEE  N/A 
 
 

$  

DCP determined the franchise would have land use impacts or implications. YES  NO 
If YES, proposed franchise reviewed and approved pursuant to Sections 197-c and 197-d of the City Charter. 

CPC approved on  / /  

City Council approved on  / /  N/A 

 Law Department determined RFP/other solicitation document consistent with adopted authorizing resolution on         
June 4th 2018 

 
 Law Department approved franchise agreement on 01/21/2020 

AUTHORIZED AGENCY STAFF 
 
This is to certify that the information presented herein is accurate and that I find the proposed franchisee to be 
responsible and approve of the award of the subject franchise agreement. This is to further certify that the subject 
franchise agreement was approved by the FCRC on 03/11/2026 by a vote of X to  X . 

Name   Title   

Signature Date / / 
CERTIFICATE OF PROCEDURAL REQUISITES 

This is to certify that the agency has complied with the prescribed procedural requisites for award of the subject 
franchise agreement. 

Signature    Date  / /  
City Chief Procurement Officer 

 



RECOMMENDATION FOR AWARD OF FRANCHISE AGREEMENT MEMORANDUM  
 

Instructions: Check all applicable boxes and provide all applicable information requested below.  
If any requested date or information is unavailable, describe the reason it cannot be ascertained.   

 
A. AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION   (Attach copy)    

 
1.    Mayor’s Office of Legislative Affairs transmitted proposed authorizing resolution to City 

Council on 12/16/2015 
2. City Council conducted public hearing on 01/16/2016   

 3.  City Council adopted authorizing resolution on 03/09/2016    
 
 
B. SOLICITATION/EVALUATION/AWARD 
 
   1. RFP/solicitation document issued on 06/12/2018.   (Attach copy)                         

 
2.  The Agency certifies that it complied with all the procedures for the solicitation,  

evaluation and/or award of the subject franchise as set forth in the applicable 
authorizing resolution and request for proposals, if applicable.   

 
 Basis for Award:  
   

 
Instructions: Check applicable box below; attach a list of proposed franchisee’s Board of 
Directors.   

 
  Recommended franchisee is highest rated proposer and offered highest amount of 

revenue (overall or for the competition pool).   
 

                Recommended franchisee was sole proposer or was determined to be only responsive  
 proposer (overall or for the competition pool), and the and agency certifies that a sufficient 

number of other entities had a reasonable opportunity to propose, the recommended 
franchisee meets the minimum requirements of the RFP or other solicitation and award is in 
the best interest of the City.  Explain: 

 
  The subject franchise is a non-exclusive franchise and the recommended  

 franchisee has been determined to be both technically qualified and responsible.  
    
     Other  Describe: 
 
 
 
 



C. PUBLIC HEARING & APPROVAL   
                                 

1. Agency filed proposed agreement with FCRC on 3/9/2026. 

2.  Public Hearing Notice  

 a. Agency published, for at least 15 business days immediately prior to the public 
hearing, a public hearing notice and summary of the terms and conditions of the 
proposed agreement in the City Record from 02/13/2026 to 03/09/2026 

 
 b. Agency provided written notice containing a summary of the terms and conditions 

of the proposed agreement to each affected CB and BP by 02/13/2026. (Check 
the applicable box below and provide the requested information) 

 
 

 Franchise relates to property in one borough only and, as such, agency 
additionally published a public hearing notice and summary of the terms 
and conditions of the proposed agreement twice in NY Post, a NYC 
daily, citywide newspaper on __/__/____ and __/__/____, and in AMNY, 
a NYC weekly, local newspaper published in the affected borough on 
__/__/_____ and __/__/____. A copy of each such notice containing a 
summary of the terms and conditions of the proposed agreement was 
sent to each affected CB and the affected BP by __/__/___   

 
 Franchise relates to property in more than one borough and, as such, 

agency additionally published a public hearing notice and summary of 
the terms and conditions of the proposed agreement twice in NY Post, a 
NYC daily, citywide newspaper on 02/19/2026 and 02/20/2026, and in 
AMNY, also a NYC daily, citywide newspaper on 02/18/2026 and 
02/19/2026. A copy of each such notice containing a summary of the 
terms and conditions of the proposed agreement was sent to each 
affected CB, each affected BP and each affected Council Member by 
02/13/2026. 

 
      Franchise relates to a bus route contained within one borough only and, 

as such, agency additionally published a public hearing notice and 
summary of the terms and conditions of the proposed agreement twice in  
____________, a NYC daily, citywide newspaper on ___/___/___ and 
___/___/___, and in ______________, a NYC weekly, local newspaper 
published in the affected borough on ___/___/___ and ___/__/___.  A 
copy of each such notice containing a summary of the terms and 
conditions of the proposed agreement was sent to each affected CB and 
the affected BP by ___/___/___.   

 
 Franchise relates to a bus route that crosses one or more borough 

boundaries and, as such, agency additionally published a public hearing 
notice and summary of the terms and conditions of the proposed 
agreement twice in  ____________, a NYC daily, citywide newspaper on 
___/___/___ and ___/___/___, and in ______________, also a NYC 
daily, citywide newspaper on ___/___/___ and ___/__/___.  A copy of 
each such notice containing a summary of the terms and conditions of 
the proposed agreement was sent to each affected CB, each affected 
BP and each affected Council Member by ___/___/___.   A notice was 
posted in the buses operating upon the applicable route. 

 
  b. Franchise relates to extension of the operating authority of a private bus 

company that receives a subsidy from the City and, as such, at least 1 business 
day prior to the public hearing the Agency published a public hearing notice in 
the City Record on ___/___/___.  

 
3. FCRC conducted a public hearing within 30 days of filing on 03/09/2026. 



Execution Copy 

Between 

THE CITY OF NEW YORK 

And 

CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC 

FRANCHISE FOR THE INSTALLATION AND USE OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES, INCLUDING BASE STATIONS AND ACCESS POINT 

FACILITIES, ON CITY-OWNED STREET LIGHT POLES AND TRAFFIC LIGHT 
POLES, AND CERTAIN UTILITY POLES AND OTHER FACILITIES LOCATED _ON 

CITY STREETS, IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROVISION OF MOBILE 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES 

Dated as of 

2020 
--------� 

April 9





Execution Copy 

AGREEMENT 

This AGREEMENT (the "Agreement"), dated as of ________ , 2020 
(the "Execution Date"), is by and between THE CITY OF NEW YORK (the "City") and CROWN 
CASTLE FIBER LLC (the "Company"), whose principal place of business is located at 1220 
Augusta: Drive, Suite 600, Houston, TX 77057 

WITNESSETH: 

. WHEREAS, the New York City Department of Information Technology and 
Telecommunications ("DoITT"), on behalf of the City, has the authority to grant franchises 
involving the occupation or use of the Inalienable Property ( as defined in Section 1 hereof) of the 
City for the purposes described in this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, DoITT, pursuant to authorization granted by Resolution No. 935 
( adopted by the New York City Council on March 9, 2016) ( the "Authorizing Resolution"), issued 
on June 12, 2018, a Request for Proposals (the "RFP") for franchises of a type which includes the 
franchise described in this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the New York City Department of City Planning determined, as 
evidenced in its letter dated March 1, 2018, that franchises issued pursuant to the RFP would have 
no land use impacts and that therefore review of such RFP pursuant to Section 197-c of the New 
York City Charter (the "City Charter") was not required; and 

WHEREAS, DoITT, as lead agency pursuant to Section 5-03(e) of Title 62 of the 
Rules of the City of New York, reviewed the proposed action of granting this franchise for its 
potential environmental impacts and has issued a "negative declaration", that is, a determination, 
pursuant to City Environmental Quality Review, as set forth in Chapter 5 of Title 62 of the Rules 
of the City of New York, that such action will not have a significant effect on the environment; 
and 

WHEREAS, on January 13, 2020, the New York City Franchise and Concession 
Review Committee (the "FCRC") held a public hearing on the Company's proposal for a franchise, 
which was a full public proceeding affording due process in compliance with the requirements of 
Chapter 14 of the City Charter, including without limitation publication ofnotice of such hearing 
in accordance with Section 371 of the City Charter; and 

WHEREAS, on January 14, 2020, the FCRC voted on and adopted a resolution· 
approving the grant of a franchise to the Company on the terms set forth in this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, (i) City-owned property, such as street light poles ("SLPs") and 
traffic light poles ("TLPs'.') located on City streets (SLPs and TLPs collectively referred to herein 
as "Street Operations Poles"), (ii) poles that are lawfully located on the City's inalienable property 
which are privately-owned poles owned by a "utility" as that term is defined in 47 USC Section 
224 (herein referred to as "Street Utility Poles"), (iii) LinkNYC ·Kiosks (as defined in Section 1 
hereof), and (iv) Coordinated Franchise Structures (as defined in Section 1 hereof) are some, but 
not the only, or even the preponderant, type of location that can be used to locate mobile 

April 9























































































































































  

 

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP 

1111 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC  20004  +1.202.739.3000 
United States  +1.202.739.3001 

Russell M. Blau 
Danielle Burt 
Stephanie A. Roy 
russell.blau@morganlewis.com 
danielle.burt@morganlewis.com 
stephanie.roy@morganlewis.com 

May 28, 2025 
 
Via Overnight Courier 
 
New York City Office of Technology and Innovation 
(formerly known as the Department of Information Technology and Telecommunications) 
Attention: Assistant Commissioner for Franchise Administration 
15 Metro Tech Center, 19th Floor  
Brooklyn, NY 11201 
 
Re: Joint Petition of Crown Castle Fiber LLC and Small Cells Holdco Inc. for 

Consent of the Transfer of Control of Franchisee to Small Cells Holdco Inc. 
 
Dear Assistant Commissioner: 
 
On behalf of Crown Castle Fiber LLC and Small Cells Holdco Inc. (“Joint Petitioners”) 
attached for filing with the Office is the above-referenced Joint Petition and accompanying 
exhibits to support the Joint Petition. As required by the Franchise Agreement with the City 
of New York (the “City”) for the provision of Mobile Telecommunications Services, dated 
April 9, 2020, Joint Petitioners have also served a copy of the filing to the addresses 
provided on the attached Certificate of Service. 
 
We would appreciate acknowledgement of receipt and acceptance of this filing. Should you 
have any questions concerning this submission, please do not hesitate to contact the 
undersigned.  
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Danielle Burt 

  
Russell M. Blau 
Danielle Burt 
Stephanie A. Roy 
 
Counsel to Joint Petitioners 
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BEFORE THE 
CITY OF NEW YORK 

OFFICE OF TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION 
and 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
____________________________________ 
      ) 
Joint Petition of    ) 
      ) 
Crown Castle Fiber LLC   )  NOTICE AND PETITION 
      )  
and      )   FOR CONSENT OF 
      )  
Small Cells HoldCo Inc.   )   TRANSFER OF CONTROL 
      ) 
For consent of the transfer of control of  )   
Franchisee to Small Cells HoldCo Inc. )   
____________________________________) 
 

 
 Crown Castle Fiber LLC (“CCF” or “Franchisee”) is a party to a Franchise Agreement 

with the City of New York (“City”) for the provision of Mobile Telecommunications Services, 

dated April 9, 2020. 

 Franchisee and Small Cells HoldCo Inc. (“Small Cells HoldCo” or “Purchaser”), pursuant 

to Sections 9.2 and 9.3 of the Franchise Agreement, seek consent for the transfer of control of 

Franchisee from Crown Castle Operating Company (“CCOC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Crown Castle Inc. (“CCI”), to Small Cells Holdco (the “Small Cell Transaction”). The Small Cell 

Transaction entails the sale of CCOC’s small cells businesses to Small Cells HoldCo, which is 

ultimately controlled by EQT Active Core Infrastructure Fund (“EQT Fund”). This will be accom-

plished through Small Cell HoldCo’s indirect acquisition of all the ownership interest in Franchi-

see, which will at closing hold all of CCI’s small cell network business.1  For the City’s 

convenience, pre- and post-transaction organizational charts are provided as Exhibit A. 

 
1 Separate petitions will be filed for the transfer of control of Franchise Agreements with the City 

for the provision of Mobile Telecommunications Services held by (i) Crown Castle Solutions LLC 
(“CCS”) and (ii) Crown Castle NG East, LLC (“CCNG”), a wholly owned subsidiary of CCS. CCF also 
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 In light of the many business and financial considerations affected by the timing of the 

consent process, Petitioners respectfully request that the City move quickly to approve the pro-

posed transfer of control. 

I. DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTIES 

 A. Franchisee and CCI 

Franchisee, a New York limited liability company, is wholly owned by Crown Castle Fiber 

Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation. Crown Castle Fiber Holdings Corp. is wholly owned by 

CCOC, a Delaware corporation. CCOC is wholly owned by CCI, a publicly traded corporation 

(NYSE: CCI) incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware. Since January 1, 2014, CCI 

has operated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. CCI, 

through certain of its indirect subsidiaries, owns, operates, leases, or manages approximately 

40,000 towers and rooftop sites for wireless communications equipment with a significant pres-

ence in the top 100 U.S. markets (CCI and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “Crown 

Castle”). 

Crown Castle subsidiaries have deployed approximately 105,000 small cell nodes and ap-

proximately 90,000 route miles of fiber in the United States. These Crown Castle subsidiaries 

provide transport, backhaul, and small cell services as well as dedicated point-to-point telecom-

munications services.   

A copy of the Form 10-K and most recent Form 10-Q filed by CCI with the SEC is avail-

able at https://investor.crowncastle.com/financial-information/sec-filings. Such forms include 

CCI’s financial statements and information about its management. For convenience, Exhibit B 

includes a copy of CCI’s audited financial statements for the period ending December 31, 2024, 

 
holds a Franchise Agreement with the City for the provision of Information Services, dated April 22, 
2022, and a separate petition will be filed in connection with the proposed transfer of that agreement. 
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and Exhibit C includes biographies for key management of the small cells business. More infor-

mation can be found on Crown Castle’s website at: www.crowncastle.com. 

For more than two decades, Franchisee (including its predecessors in interest) has enjoyed 

a successful working relationship with OTI (as successor to Department of Information Technol-

ogy and Telecommunications) and the City and has worked cooperatively in connection with its 

Franchise Agreement. CCF has performed in good faith and acted in accordance with the terms of 

its Franchise Agreement and all applicable rules and regulations.  

 B.  Small Cells HoldCo 

Small Cells HoldCo is a Delaware corporation created to aggregate the indirect ownership 

of the EQT Fund, ultimately managed by affiliates of EQT AB (“EQT”), in connection with the 

indirect investment of the EQT Fund (and co-investors) in Small Cells HoldCo. EQT, founded in 

Sweden in 1994, is a leading alternative investments firm. As of December 31, 2024, EQT has 

more than EUR 269 billion (approximately $305 billion) in total assets under management (in-

cluding EUR 136 billion (approximately $154 billion)2 in fee-generating assets under manage-

ment) across more than 40 active funds. EQT has offices in more than 25 countries across Europe, 

Asia, and the Americas with more than 1,900 employees (as of December 31, 2024). EQT is pub-

licly traded on the Stockholm Nasdaq (ticker symbol EQT) and is majority owned by its partners.  

More information can be found on EQT’s website at www.eqtgroup.com. 

Investments by the EQT Fund are typically made through one or more limited partnerships, 

which act as aggregator vehicles for the multiple limited partnerships and other investment ar-

rangements comprising the EQT Fund, and such partnerships and arrangements are managed by 

 
2 The assets under management provided are as of December 31, 2024. EQT AB (publ) Year-end Report 

2024, EQT AB (Jan. 23, 2025), https://eqtgroup.com/news/eqt-ab-publ-year-end-report-2024. The conversion rate 
from Euros to U.S. Dollars is as of April 30, 2025, according to figures from the European Central Bank. Euro Foreign 
Exchange Reference Rates, European Central Bank (Apr. 30, 2025), https://www.ecb.europa.eu/stats/exchange/eu-
rofxref/shared/pdf/2025/04/20250430.pdf.  
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the Fund’s fund manager, EQT Fund Management S.à r.l. (the “Manager”) (which also acts as the 

Alternative Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”) for a number of the limited partnerships within 

the structure). Under the structure of the EQT Fund and consistent with European Union regula-

tions regarding investment fund management, day-to-day investment activities of the EQT Fund 

are indirectly exercised by the Manager. This Manager, as well as the general partners of the lim-

ited partnerships comprising the EQT Fund, are ultimately controlled by EQT. Under this struc-

ture, EQT has the authority to appoint (and change) the board of the Manager, which is ultimately 

solely responsible, in its capacity as the fund manager, for all investment decisions of the EQT 

Fund. 

Small Cells HoldCo provides in Exhibit D biographies of key personnel that will support 

the small cell business. Small Cells HoldCo is a newly formed entity and does not have historical 

financial statements. The most recent annual consolidated financial statement of EQT is provided 

as Exhibit E.  

II. DESIGNATED CONTACTS 

For the purposes of this Petition, questions or any correspondence, orders, or other materi-

als should be directed to the following contacts: 

Russell M. Blau 
Danielle Burt 
Stephanie A. Roy 
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP 
1111 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. 
Washington, DC 20004-2541 
Tel:  202-739-3000 
Fax: 202-739-3001 
russell.blau@morganlewis.com   
danielle.burt@morganlewis.com  

With copies to:   
 
Edward B. Adams, Jr. 
Executive Vice President and General Counsel  
Crown Castle Inc. 
8020 Katy Freeway 
Houston, TX 77024 
Tel: (713) 570-3000 
teddy.adams@crowncastle.com 
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stephanie.roy@morganlewis.com 
 

And:  

Luuk Bogaarts 
Small Cells HoldCo Inc. 
c/o EQT Partners Inc. 
1114 Avenue of the Americas, 45th Floor  
New York, NY 10036  
Tel: 646-647-7193 
eqt-fo-infrastructure@eqtpartners.com 
 

 

III. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION AND ITS ANTICIPATED 
IMPACTS 

Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 13, 2025,3 Crown Castle will exe-

cute a series of intracompany, pre-closing restructuring steps such that the small cell business seg-

ments of its operating subsidiaries will continue to operate through the Franchisee and its 

subsidiaries, CCS and CCNG. CCS and CCNG will become subsidiaries of Franchisee as part of 

the intracompany, pre-closing restructuring steps. 

Crown Castle will then sell to Small Cells HoldCo, and Small Cells HoldCo will purchase 

from Crown Castle, all the ownership interests in CCF, and thus acquire the equity of what will 

then be CCF’s wholly owned subsidiary CCS, and CCS’s wholly owned subsidiary, CCNG (which 

three entities in the aggregate at closing will hold all of Crown Castle’s small cells business).  

As a result of the Small Cell Transaction, after closing, Crown Castle’s small cell business, 

which was originally comingled among Crown Castle’s operating subsidiaries, will instead be 

housed in CCF and its subsidiaries, which will be owned and controlled by Small Cells HoldCo. 

The enterprise value of the small cells business is approximately $4.25 billion, subject to custom-

ary purchase price adjustments. 

 
3 The Purchase Agreement is available at: https://investor.crowncastle.com/static-files/3b910737-

4f3d-4197-a8b4-893f83855c9f.  
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Immediately after consummation of the Small Cell Transaction, the Franchisee will con-

tinue to operate its facilities and provide service to its customers at the same rates, terms, and 

conditions, ensuring a seamless transition of ownership without confusion or adverse impact to 

customers. 

III. THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION WILL ENHANCE COMPETITION AND 
FURTHER THE PUBLIC INTEREST 

The proposed Small Cell Transaction serves the public interest by facilitating the reorgan-

ization of Crown Castle’s network business into discrete fiber network and small cell segments, 

resulting in more efficient, streamlined operations that focus on serving customers in their respec-

tive sectors. Small Cells HoldCo and its owners are managerially, technically, and financially well-

qualified to complete the Small Cell Transaction and assume ownership and control of the small 

cells business. Small Cells HoldCo will call upon EQT’s expertise as it acquires ownership of 

Crown Castle’s small cell business, in addition to the experienced employees that have operated 

the small cells business under Crown Castle’s ownership. As explained above, EQT has EUR 269 

billion in assets under management in a variety of industries, including the telecommunications 

and digital infrastructure sectors.  EQT also has deep experience overseeing U.S. domestic carriers 

with its current ownership of Lumos, a high-speed fiber internet provider in North Carolina, South 

Carolina, and Virginia, and its ownership of Segra prior to the sale of that business to Cox Com-

munications in 2021. Thus, Small Cells HoldCo possesses substantial and valuable experience and 

will bring to bear its full managerial expertise and extensive industry relationships in directing the 

operations of Franchisee’s small cell business segment.  

Franchisee under Small Cells Holdco will continue to provide services to existing small 

cell customers without changes to the rates, terms, and conditions of service (subject to future 

changes in the ordinary course of business pursuant to applicable law and contract provisions). 



The Small Cell Transaction will be implemented seamlessly and will not cause customer confusion

or service interruptions.

Finally, the proposed Small Cell Transaction does not raise competition concerns as Small

Cells HoldCo will operate Franchisee as an independent provider of small cell services following

closing, competing (as it does today) with a large number of outsourced small cell providers as

well as the mobile network operators' first-party small cell infrastructure. The small cells business

will continue to face vigorous competition in each of the markets it serves.

In sum, the Small Cell Transaction will not have a detrimental effect on, or result in a

material change in, the services provided to existing customers of the Franchisee. Franchisee will

remain well qualified and will continue to operate within the City in a safe and professional man-

ner.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Crown Castle Fiber LLC and Small Cells HoldCo Inc. re-

spectfully request that the City consent to the transfer of control of Crown Castle Fiber LLC to

Small Cells HoldCo Inc.

Respectfully submitted,

U2~OQ~ Su0:
Russell M. BlaU'""
Danielle Burt
Stephanie A. Roy
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP
1111 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, DC 20004
Phone: (202) 739-3000
Fax: (202) 739-3001
russell.blau@morganlewis.com
danielle.burt@morganlewis.com
stephanie.roy@morganlewis.com

Counsel for Petitioners

Dated: May 28, 2025

7



 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Pre- and Post-Transaction Organization Charts 
 

       
 

 



CHART 1A: PRE-RESTRUCTURING, PRE-CLOSE 
CROWN CASTLE OWNERSHIP 

Economic Ownership

All rights are voting and equity and 100% unless
noted otherwise

Crown Castle Inc. 
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Operating Company
(US-DE)

(Transferor)

Crown Castle Fiber Holdings Corp. 
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Fiber LLC
(US-NY) 

(Franchisee)

Small Cell ManagementCo LLC
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Solutions LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)

Crown Castle NG East LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)



CHART 1B: POST-RESTRUCTURING, PRE-CLOSE
CROWN CASTLE OWNERSHIP 

Economic Ownership

All rights are voting and equity and 100% unless
noted otherwise

Crown Castle Inc. 
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Operating Company
(US-DE)

(Transferor)

Crown Castle Fiber Holdings Corp. 
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Fiber LLC
(US-NY) 

(Franchisee)

Small Cell ManagementCo LLC
(US-DE)

Crown Castle Solutions LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)

Crown Castle NG East LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)



CHART 2: POST-CLOSE 
OWNERSHIP 

Small Cell ManagementCo LLC
(US-DE)

FinCo 4 LLC
(US-DE)

FinCo 3 LLC*
(US-DE)

FinCo 2 LLC*
(US-DE)

FinCo 1 LLC*
(US-DE)

Small Cells LLC
(US-DE)

Small Cells HoldCo Inc.
(US-DE)

(Purchaser)

(see Chart 3)

Crown Castle Fiber LLC
(US-NY)

(Franchisee)

Economic Ownership

All rights are voting and equity and 100% 
unless noted otherwise* These entities have not 

yet been formed. Crown Castle Solutions LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)

Crown Castle NG East LLC
(US-TX)

(Franchisee)



CHART 3: POST-CLOSE OWNERSHIP 

Small Cells HoldCo Inc.
(US-DE)

(Purchaser)

Small Cells 
Aggregator, LP*

(US-DE)

Small Cells GP LLC**
(US-DE)

15.7%

(see Chart 2)

(see Chart 4)

H.E.S.T. Australia Ltd.
(Australia)

Whitecap Investments 
Pte. Ltd.

(Singapore)

18.1%

13.8%

52.4%

General Partner

Economic Ownership

Limited Partner

(see Chart 7)

All rights are voting and equity and 100% unless noted otherwise

Passive
Investors, 

< 10% Each

* EQT continues to syndicate investment in Small Cells TopCo, LP.  To 
the extent additional capital raised by the EQT Fund, including through co-
investment syndication, would result in disclosure of additional 10% 
investors, the Applicants will promptly supplement this Application.

** The ownership of Small Cells GP LLC is subject to finalization of 
transaction documentation/the organizational documents of this entity, and 
it may be the case that a portion of the equity of Small Cells GP LLC is 
owned by one or more of the entities that own the equity of Small Cells 
TopCo, LP.

Small Cells TopCo, LP
(US-DE)



Small Cells Aggregator, LP^^ 
(US-DE)

All rights are voting and equity and 
100% unless noted otherwise

CHART 4: POST-CLOSE OWNERSHIP 

Small Cells Aggregator GP LLC
(US-DE)

Retail Deal GP LLC
(US-DE)

EQT Holdings S.à r.l.
(Luxembourg

EQT Treasury AB
(Sweden)

EQT AB
(Sweden)

EQT Investment 
Verwaltungs-GmbH

(Germany)

EQT Management S.à r.l.
(Luxembourg)

99.84%

(see Chart 5)

* EQT Fund Management S.à r.l as the Alternative Investment Fund Manager is the 
fund manager for all of the EQT ACI Fund entities on this chart but holds no 
ownership interest in any of the entities depicted.

^ The remaining interests of EQT ACI Small Cells Upper Aggregator Side Car LLP 
are ultimately owned by EQT AB through a passive German sidecar structure.

^^ No other owners of Small Cells Aggregator, LP have 10% equity/voting rights in 
Small Cells Aggregator, LP or Licensee.

96.90%

(see Chart 3)

General Partner

Economic Ownership

Limited Partner

Alternative 
Investment Fund 
Manager

EQT ACI Chord
Topside GP LLC

(US-DE)

(see Chart 6)

5.43%

94.57%

EQT ACI
(General Partner) S.à r.l.

(Luxembourg)

EQT Fund Management S.à r.l.*
(Luxembourg)

Passive 
Investors, < 10% 
Indirect Interest in 

Licensee

Baker Street
Investment Lte Ltd

(Singapore)

The Public 
Investment Fund

(Saudi Arabia)

EQT ACI Chord
Side Car (EUR) SCSp

(Luxembourg)

19.34%

19.34%

EQT ACI
Side Car GmbH & Co. KG

(Germany)

EQT ACI Small Cells
Upper Aggregator Side Car LP^ 

(US-DE)

EQT ACI Small Cells
Lower Aggregator Side Car LP

(US-DE)

 Baker Street Investments is ultimately owned by GIC (Ventures) Pte Ltd., an 
investment holding company formed in Singapore and wholly owned by the 
Government of Signapore through the Minister of Finance, a body corporate under 
the Singapore Minister for Finance (Incorporation) Act of 1959.

 The Public Investment Fund is a sovereign wealth fund of the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia.

61.32%



Equity/Voting 
Ownership Unless 
Otherwise indicated

EQT AB
(SE)

Investor Investments 
Holding AB (SE)

Investor Holding AB
(SE)

Investor AB 
(SE)

14%

Ultimate Beneficial 
Owners of Investor 

AB**

Bark Partners AB
(SE)

11% 75%

Ultimate Beneficial 
Owners of 

Bark Partners AB***

*No Other Ultimate Beneficial 
Owners of EQT AB have 10% 
equity/voting rights indirectly 
in EQT AB or Licensee

** Investor AB is publicly held; No Ultimate 
Beneficial Owners of Investor AB have 10% 
equity/voting rights indirectly in EQT AB or 
Licensee.

*** No Ultimate Beneficial Owners of Bark 
Partners AB have 10% equity/voting rights 
indirectly in EQT AB or Licensee.

CHART 5: EQT AB OWNERSHIP* 

(see Chart 4)

All rights are voting and equity and 100% unless
noted otherwise

Ultimate Beneficial 
Owners of EQT AB*



CHART 6: RETAIL DEAL GP LLC OWNERSHIP 

All rights are voting and equity and 100% 
unless noted otherwise

Retail Deal GP LLC
(US-DE)

(see Chart 4)

EQIC Holdco LLC
(US-DE)

EQIC Holdings L.P.
(Canada)

EQIC Holdings GP LLC
(US-DE)

EQT Infrastructure Company LLC
(US-DE)

EQT Holdings AB
(Sweden)

General Partner

Equity/Voting 
Ownership Unless 
Otherwise indicated

Limited Partner

EQT Treasury AB
(Sweden)

(see Chart 4)

9.09% equity

91.9% equity



Equity/Voting 
Ownership Unless 
Otherwise indicated

CHART 7: TEMASEK OWNERSHIP 

(see Chart 3)

Whitecap Investments 
Pte. Ltd.

(Singapore)

Waddington Investments 
Pte. Ltd. 

(Singapore)

Temasek Capital (Americas) 
Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

(Singapore)

Temasek Holdings 
(Private) Limited* 

(Singapore)

*Temasek Holdings 
(Private) Limited is wholly-
owned by the Singapore 
Minister for Finance, a 
body corporate under the 
Singapore Minister for 
Finance (Incorporation) Act 
1959.

All rights are voting and equity and 100% unless
noted otherwise
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Crown Castle Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Crown Castle Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), of equity (deficit) and of cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes and financial statement schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Towers Segment - Site Rental Revenues

As described in Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized $4,266 million in site rental revenues from the Towers
segment for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company generates site rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access to its
shared communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements. Providing such
access over the length of the tenant contract term represents the Company’s sole performance obligation under its tenant contracts. Site rental revenues from the
Company's tenant contracts are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition for the site rental revenues from the Towers
segment is a critical audit matter are a high degree of auditor effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to revenue recognition for
the site rental revenues from the Towers segment.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to revenue recognition for the site rental revenues from the Towers
segment. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s identification of the contractual terms by obtaining and inspecting tenant
contracts and other relevant source documents on a test basis and (ii) testing the appropriateness of the amount of revenue recognized based on contractual
terms on a test basis.

Quantitative Goodwill Impairment Test – Fiber Reporting Unit

As described in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $5,127 million as of December 31,
2024. Management tests goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to such excess, limited to the total amount of
goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. Management performed the most recent annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2024. The quantitative
impairment test indicated that the carrying amount of the Company’s Fiber reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value. As such, management recorded an
impairment charge of $4,958 million, which resulted in no goodwill remaining for the Fiber reporting unit. The means of estimating the fair value of the
Company’s reporting units is using discounted cash flow (DCF) models developed by management. Key assumptions and estimates used in the DCF models
included projected future revenues, operating cash flows, capital expenditures (net of certain payments received from customers), an exit multiple and a
discount rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the quantitative goodwill impairment test of the Fiber reporting unit is
a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the Fiber reporting unit; (ii) a high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing the procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the exit multiple and
discount rate; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s quantitative goodwill impairment test, including
controls over the valuation of the Fiber reporting unit. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s process for developing the fair
value estimate of the Fiber reporting unit; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the DCF model used by management; (iii) testing the completeness and
accuracy of underlying data used in the DCF model; and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant
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assumptions related to the exit multiple and discount rate. Evaluating management's assumption related to the exit multiple involved evaluating whether the
assumption used by management was reasonable considering the consistency with external market and industry data. Professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of (i) the appropriateness of the DCF model and (ii) the reasonableness of the exit multiple and discount rate
assumptions.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
March 14, 2025
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(In millions of dollars, except par values)

  December 31,
2024 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 119  $ 105 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 171  171 
Receivables, net of allowance of $22 and $19, respectively 478  481 
Prepaid expenses 106  103 
Current portion of deferred site rental receivables 176  116 
Other current assets 40  56 

Total current assets 1,090  1,032 
Deferred site rental receivables 2,343  2,239 
Property and equipment, net 15,495  15,666 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 5,797  6,187 
Goodwill 5,127  10,085 
Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net 2,727  3,122 
Other intangible assets, net 54  57 
Other assets, net 103  139 

Total assets $ 32,736  $ 38,527 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 192  $ 252 
Accrued interest 244  219 
Deferred revenues 476  605 
Other accrued liabilities 359  342 
Current maturities of debt and other obligations 610  835 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 296  332 

Total current liabilities 2,177  2,585 
Debt and other long-term obligations 23,471  22,086 
Operating lease liabilities 5,236  5,561 
Other long-term liabilities 1,985  1,914 

Total liabilities 32,869  32,146 
Commitments and contingencies (see note 12)
CCI stockholders' equity (deficit):

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,200 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: December 31, 2024—435 and
December 31, 2023—434 4  4 

Additional paid-in capital 18,393  18,270 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (5) (4)
Dividends/distributions in excess of earnings (18,525) (11,889)

Total equity (deficit) (133) 6,381 
Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $ 32,736  $ 38,527 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Net revenues:

Site rental $ 6,358  $ 6,532  $ 6,289 
Services and other 210  449  697 

Net revenues 6,568  6,981  6,986 
Operating expenses:

Costs of operations:
Site rental 1,728  1,664  1,602 
Services and other 119  316  466 

Selling, general and administrative 706  759  750 
Asset write-down charges 148  33  34 
Acquisition and integration costs —  1  2 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,738  1,754  1,707 
Restructuring charges 109  85  — 
Goodwill impairment charges 4,958  —  — 

Total operating expenses 9,506  4,612  4,561 
Operating income (loss) (2,938) 2,369  2,425 
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net (932) (850) (699)
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations —  —  (28)
Interest income 19  15  3 
Other income (expense) (28) (6) (10)
Income (loss) before income taxes (3,879) 1,528  1,691 
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (24) (26) (16)
Net income (loss) $ (3,903) $ 1,502  $ 1,675 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1) 1  (1)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (1) 1  (1)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (3,904) $ 1,503  $ 1,674 
Net income (loss), per common share:

Net income (loss)—basic $ (8.98) $ 3.46  $ 3.87 
Net income (loss)—diluted $ (8.98) $ 3.46  $ 3.86 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 434  434  433 
Diluted 434  434  434 

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(a)
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions of dollars)

  Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net Income (loss) $ (3,903) $ 1,502  $ 1,675 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,738  1,754  1,707 
Goodwill impairment charges 4,958  —  —  — 
(Gains) losses on retirement of long-term obligations —  —  28 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other non-cash interest 32  29  17 
Stock-based compensation expense, net 131  157  156 
Asset write-down charges 148  33  34 
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision 4  8  3 
Restructuring charges, non-cash 12  7  — 
Other non-cash adjustments, net 23  7  5 
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions:

Increase (decrease) in accrued interest 25  36  — 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (22) (14) (5)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (91) (265) (281)
Decrease (increase) in receivables 6  115  (49)
Decrease (increase) in other assets (118) (243) (412)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 2,943  3,126  2,878 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (1,222) (1,424) (1,310)
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (8) (96) (35)
Other investing activities, net 10  1  (7)

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities (1,220) (1,519) (1,352)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,244  3,843  748 
Principal payments on debt and other long-term obligations (99) (79) (74)
Purchases and redemptions of long-term debt (750) (750) (1,274)
Borrowings under revolving credit facility —  3,613  3,495 
Payments under revolving credit facility (670) (4,248) (2,855)
Net issuances (repayments) under commercial paper program 1,341  (1,241) 976 
Payments for financing costs (12) (39) (14)
Purchases of common stock (33) (30) (65)
Dividends/distributions paid on common stock (2,729) (2,723) (2,602)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (1,708) (1,654) (1,665)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 15  (47) (139)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1) 1  — 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 281  
 327  466 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 295  $ 281  $ 327 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(Amounts in millions)

  Common Stock Additional

Paid-In Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Dividends/Distributions
in Excess of Earnings Total  Shares ($0.01 Par)

Balance, December 31, 2021 432  $ 4  $ 18,011  $ (4) $ (9,753) $ 8,258 
Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures 1  —  170  —  —  170 
Purchases and retirement of common stock —  —  (65) —  —  (65)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  (1) —  (1)
Common stock dividends/distributions —  —  —  —  (2,588) (2,588)
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  1,675  1,675 
Balance, December 31, 2022 433  4  18,116  (5) (10,666) 7,449 
Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures 1  —  184  —  —  184 
Purchases and retirement of common stock —  —  (30) —  —  (30)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  1  —  1 
Common stock dividends/distributions —  —  —  —  (2,725) (2,725)
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  1,502  1,502 
Balance, December 31, 2023 434  4  18,270  (4) (11,889) 6,381 
Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures 1  —  156  —  —  156 
Purchases and retirement of common stock —  —  (33) —  —  (33)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  (1) —  (1)
Common stock dividends/distributions —  —  —  —  (2,733) (2,733)
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  (3,903) (3,903)
Balance, December 31, 2024 435  $ 4  $ 18,393  $ (5) $ (18,525) $ (133)

(a) See the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the components of "total other comprehensive income (loss)."

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(a)

(a)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

1.     Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Crown Castle Inc. and its predecessor, as applicable (together, "CCI"), and their
subsidiaries, collectively referred to herein as the "Company." All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As
used herein, the term "including," and any variation thereof, means "including without limitation." The use of the word "or" herein is not exclusive. Unless the
context suggests otherwise, references to "U.S." are to the United States of America and Puerto Rico, collectively.

The Company owns, operates and leases shared communications infrastructure that is geographically dispersed throughout the U.S., including (1) towers
and other structures, such as rooftops (collectively, "towers"), and (2) fiber primarily supporting small cell networks ("small cells") and fiber solutions. The
Company's towers, small cells and fiber assets are collectively referred to herein as "communications infrastructure," and the Company's customers on its
communications infrastructure are referred to herein as "tenants."

The Company's core business is providing access, including space or capacity, to its shared communications infrastructure via long-term contracts in
various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements (collectively, "tenant contracts").

The Company's operating segments consist of (1) Towers and (2) Fiber. See note 14.

On March 13, 2025, the Company signed a definitive agreement (“Strategic Fiber Agreement”) to sell its Fiber segment, together with certain supporting
assets and personnel ("Fiber Business"), with Zayo Group Holdings Inc. ("Zayo") acquiring the fiber solutions business and EQT Active Core Infrastructure
fund ("EQT") acquiring the small cell business ("Strategic Fiber Transaction"). The Fiber Business did not meet the criteria for assets held for sale as of
December 31, 2024, and therefore remains presented as a component of continuing operations. As a result, this document, unless otherwise noted, does not
contemplate the planned sale of the Fiber Business. In subsequent periods, the Fiber Business will be presented as a discontinued operation, and its net assets
will be classified as held for sale and comparable prior periods will be recast to reflect this change. See note 17.

Approximately 54% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, and other agreements with
AT&T and T-Mobile (including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). The Company has the option to purchase these towers at the end of
their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See notes 4 and 13.

As part of the Company's effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary business, the Company also offers
certain services primarily relating to its Towers segment. For the periods presented, such services predominately consisted of (1) site development services
relating to existing or new tenant equipment installations, including: site acquisition, architectural and engineering, or zoning and permitting (collectively, "site
development services") and (2) tenant equipment installation and subsequent augmentations (collectively, "installation services").

See note 16 to the Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of (1) the Company's July 2023 restructuring plan ("2023 Restructuring
Plan"), which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product offering and (2) the Company's June 2024 restructuring plan ("2024
Restructuring Plan," and together with the 2023 Restructuring Plan, "Restructuring Plans").

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, the Company has certain taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"). See
note 9.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents represents (1) the cash held in reserve by the indenture trustees pursuant to the indenture governing certain of the
Company's debt instruments, (2) cash securing performance obligations such as letters of credit and (3) any other cash whose use is limited by contractual
provisions. The restriction of rental cash receipts is a critical feature of certain of the Company's debt instruments due to the applicable indenture trustee's
ability to utilize the restricted cash for the payment of (1) debt service costs, (2) ground rents, (3) real estate or personal property taxes, (4) insurance premiums
related to towers, (5)  other assessments by governmental authorities and potential environmental remediation costs or (6)  a portion of advance rents from
tenants. The restricted cash in excess of required reserve balances is subsequently released to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indentures. See
note 15 for a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents.

Receivables Allowance

An allowance for credit losses is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. The Company uses judgment in estimating this allowance and considers
historical collections, current credit status, or contractual provisions. Additions to the allowance for credit losses are charged either to "Site rental costs of
operations" or to "Services and other costs of operations," as appropriate, and deductions from the allowance are recorded when specific accounts receivable
are written off as uncollectible.

Lease Accounting

General. The Company evaluates whether a contract meets the definition of a lease whenever a contract grants a party the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To the extent the identified asset is able to be shared among multiple parties, the Company
has determined that one party does not have control of the identified asset and the contract is not considered a lease. The Company accounts for contracts that
do not meet the definition of a lease under other relevant accounting guidance (such as ASC 606 for revenue from contracts with customers).

Lessee. For its Tower segment, the Company's lessee arrangements primarily consist of ground leases for land under towers. Ground leases for land are
specific to each site, generally contain an initial term between five to 15 years and are renewable (and cancellable after a notice period) at the Company's
option. The Company also enters into term ground leases, such as term easements, in which it prepays the entire term. For its Fiber segment, the Company's
lessee arrangements primarily include leases of fiber assets to support the Company's small cells and fiber solutions.

The majority of the Company's lease agreements have certain termination rights that provide for cancellation after a notice period and multiple renewal
options exercisable at the Company's option. The Company includes renewal option periods in its calculation of the estimated lease term when it determines the
options are reasonably certain to be exercised. When such renewal options are deemed to be reasonably certain, the estimated lease term determined under ASC
842 will be greater than the non-cancelable term of the contractual arrangement. Although certain renewal periods are included in the estimated lease term, the
Company would have the ability to terminate or elect to not renew a particular lease if business conditions warrant such a decision.

The Company classifies its lessee arrangements at inception as either operating leases or finance leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if at least
one of the following criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the lessee an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset,
(4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset, or (5) the underlying asset is
of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. A lease is classified as an operating lease if
none of the five criteria described above for finance lease classification is met.

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets associated with operating leases are included in "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. Current and long-term portions of lease liabilities related to operating leases are included in "Current portion of operating lease liabilities" and
"Operating lease liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet, respectively. ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for
the estimated lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's present value of its future lease payments. In assessing its leases and determining its lease
liability at lease commencement or upon modification, the Company is not able to readily determine the rate implicit for its lessee arrangements, and thus uses
its incremental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis to determine the present value of the lease payments. The Company's ROU assets are measured as the
balance of the lease liability plus any prepaid or accrued lease payments and any unamortized initial direct costs. For both the Towers and Fiber segments,
operating lease expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make payments annually, semi-
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annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber lease agreements contain fixed escalation
clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in consumer price index
("CPI")). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
The Company calculates the straight-line expense over the contract's estimated lease term, including any renewal option periods that the Company deems
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease agreements may also contain provisions for a contingent payment based on (1) the revenues derived from the communications infrastructure
located on the leased asset, (2) the change in CPI or (3) the usage of the leased asset. The Company's contingent payments are considered variable lease
payments and are (1) not included in the initial measurement of the ROU asset or lease liability due to the uncertainty of the payment amount and (2) recorded
as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

ROU assets associated with finance leases are included in "Property and equipment, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Lease liabilities
associated with finance leases are included in "Current maturities of debt and other obligations" and "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. For both its Towers and Fiber segments, the Company measures the lease liability for finance leases using the effective interest
method. The initial lease liability is increased to reflect interest on the liability and decreased to reflect payments made during the period. Interest on the lease
liability is determined each period during the lease term as the amount that results in a constant periodic discount rate on the remaining balance of the liability.
The Company depreciates ROU assets for finance leases on a ratable basis over the applicable lease term.

The Company reviews the carrying value of its ROU assets for impairment, similar to its other long-lived assets, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The Company could record impairments in the future if there are changes in (1) long-
term market conditions, (2) expected future operating results or (3) the utility of the assets that negatively impact the fair value of its ROU assets.

Lessor. The Company's lessor arrangements primarily include tenant contracts for dedicated space (including dedicated fiber) on its shared
communications infrastructure. The Company classifies its leases at inception as operating, direct financing or sales-type leases. A lease is classified as a sales-
type lease if at least one of the following criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the lessee an
option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of
the underlying asset, (4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying assets or (5)
the underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. Furthermore, when
none of the above criteria is met, a lease is classified as a direct financing lease if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the present value of the of the sum
of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee, that is not already reflected in the lease payments, equals or exceeds the fair value of the
underlying asset and (2) it is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not qualify as a sales-type or direct financing lease. Currently, the Company classifies all of its lessor arrangements as
operating leases.

Site rental revenues from the Company’s lessor arrangements are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the
relevant tenant contract, regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are received in equal monthly amounts during the life of a tenant contract. Certain
of the Company's tenant contracts contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed-dollar or fixed-percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses
(such as those tied to the change in CPI). If the payment terms call for fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the rental revenue is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the agreement. When calculating straight-line site rental revenues, the Company considers all
fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions.

Certain of the Company's arrangements with tenants in its Fiber segment contain both lease and non-lease components. In such circumstances, the
Company has determined (1) the timing and pattern of transfer for the lease and non-lease component are the same and (2) the stand-alone lease component
would be classified as an operating lease. As such, the Company has aggregated certain non-lease components with lease components and has determined that
the lease components (generally dedicated fiber) represent the predominant component of the arrangement.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment includes land owned through fee interests and
perpetual easements, which have no definite life. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line
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method at rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. Depreciation for the majority of communications infrastructure is
computed with a useful life equal to the shorter of 20 years or the term of the underlying ground lease (where applicable and including optional renewal
periods). Additions and permanent improvements to the Company's communications infrastructure are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed.

Labor and interest costs incurred directly related to the construction of certain property and equipment are capitalized during the construction phase of
projects. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $298 million, $299 million and $265 million in capitalized labor
costs, respectively. The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.

Abandonments and write-offs of property and equipment are recorded to "Asset write-down charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and were $146 million, $40 million and $39 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The increase in asset write-down charges from 2023 to 2024 is primarily driven by the cancellation of approximately 7,000 greenfield small cell
nodes in the Company's contracted backlog that it mutually agreed to cancel following discussions with certain of its tenants. The Company wrote off property
and equipment deemed to have no alternative future use, and as a result, recognized approximately $106  million as "Asset write-down charges" on its
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Pursuant to its ground lease, leased facility and certain pole attachment agreements, the Company records obligations to perform asset retirement
activities, including requirements to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which certain of its communications infrastructure is
located. The Company does not record an obligation for asset retirement activities related to its fiber, as a settlement date is indeterminable and therefore a
reasonable estimation of fair value cannot be made. Asset retirement obligations are included in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet. The liability accretes as a result of the passage of time and the related accretion expense is included in "Depreciation, amortization and accretion"
on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as an additional
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the useful life of such asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price for an acquired business over the allocated value of the related net assets. Management tests
goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The annual test begins
with goodwill and all intangible assets being allocated to applicable reporting units. The Company's reporting units are the same as its operating segments
(Towers and Fiber). The Company then performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount,
it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized
in an amount equal to such excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The Company performed its most recent annual
goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2024, which resulted in an impairment of $5.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024 to its Fiber
reporting unit. With respect to the Towers reporting unit, there was no indication of impairment following the quantitative assessment, as the estimated fair
value was well in excess of the corresponding carrying value. See note 5 to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are included in "Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net" and "Other intangible assets, net" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet and predominately consist of the estimated fair value of site rental contracts and tenant relationships or other contractual rights, such as
trademarks, that are recorded in conjunction with acquisitions. Site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are comprised of (1) the current
term of the existing leases, (2) the high rate of tenant retention, and (3) any associated relationships that are expected to generate value following the expiration
of all renewal periods under existing leases.
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The useful lives of intangible assets are estimated based on the period over which the intangible asset is expected to benefit the Company and gives
consideration to the expected useful life of other assets to which the useful life may relate. Amortization expense for intangible assets is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each of the intangible assets. The useful lives of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible
assets are limited by the maximum depreciable life of the communications infrastructure (20 years), as a result of the interdependency of the communications
infrastructure and the site rental contracts and tenant relationships. In contrast, the site rental contracts and tenant relationships are estimated to provide
economic benefits for several decades because of the low rate of tenant cancellations and high rate of tenant retention experienced to date. Thus, while site
rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are valued based upon the fair value of the site rental contracts and tenant relationships, which
includes assumptions regarding both (1) tenants' exercise of optional renewals contained in the acquired leases and (2) renewals of the acquired leases past the
contractual term including exercisable options, site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are amortized over a period not to exceed 20 years.

The carrying value of other intangible assets with finite useful lives will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The Company has a dual grouping policy for purposes of determining the unit of
account for testing impairment of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets. First, the Company pools site rental contracts and tenant
relationships intangible assets with the related communications infrastructure assets into portfolio groups for purposes of determining the unit of account for
impairment testing. Second and separately, the Company pools the site rental contracts and tenant relationships by significant tenant or by tenant grouping for
individually insignificant tenants, as appropriate. If the sum of the associated estimated future cash flows (undiscounted) from an asset is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss may be recognized. Measurement of an impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset.

Deferred Credits

Deferred credits are included in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and consist of the
estimated fair value of below-market tenant leases for contractual interests with tenants on acquired communications infrastructure that are amortized to site
rental revenues.

Fair value for these deferred credits represents the difference between (1) the stated contractual payments to be made pursuant to the in-place lease and (2)
management's estimate of fair market lease rates for each corresponding lease. Deferred credits are measured over a period equal to the estimated remaining
economic lease term considering renewal provisions or economics associated with those renewal provisions, to the extent applicable. Deferred credits are
amortized over their respected estimated lease terms at the time of acquisition, the most recent of which took place in 2017.

Deferred Financing Costs

Third-party costs incurred to obtain financing, with the exception of costs incurred related to revolving lines of credit, are deferred and are included as a
direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability in "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet
and are amortized using the effective interest yield methodology to "Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net" on the Company's
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the related debt liability. Third party costs incurred to obtain financing
through a revolving line of credit are deferred and are included in "Other assets, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and are amortized using the
effective interest yield methodology to "Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the 2016 Credit Agreement (as defined in note 7).

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates site rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access, including space or capacity, to its shared
communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements. Typically, providing
such access over the length of the tenant contract term represents the Company’s sole performance obligation under its tenant contracts.

Site Rental Revenues. Site rental revenues from the Company's tenant contracts are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-
cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract, which generally ranges between five to 15 years for wireless tenants and between one to 20 years for fiber
solutions tenants (including from organizations with high-bandwidth and multi-location demands), regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are
received in equal monthly amounts during the life of the tenant contract. Certain of the Company's tenant contracts contain (1) fixed escalation clauses (such as
fixed dollar or
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fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the CPI), (2) multiple renewal periods exercisable at the tenant's option
and (3) only limited termination rights at the applicable tenant's option through the current term. If the payment terms call for fixed escalators, upfront
payments, or rent-free periods, the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the tenant contract. When calculating
straight-line rental revenues, the Company considers all fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions, even if such escalation provisions contain a
variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's assets related to straight-line site rental revenues are recorded within "Current portion of deferred
site rental receivables" and "Deferred site rental receivables" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts billed or received prior to being earned
are deferred and reflected in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts to which the
Company has an unconditional right to payment, which are related to both satisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations, are recorded within
"Receivables, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Payments Associated with Sprint Cancellations. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, site rental revenues include $5 million
and $170 million, respectively, of payments in the Company's Fiber segment to satisfy the remaining rental obligations of certain canceled Sprint leases as a
result of the T-Mobile US, Inc. and Sprint network consolidation. In connection with such canceled Sprint leases, the Company also recognized $59 million of
accelerated prepaid rent amortization in the Company's Fiber segment for the year ended December 31, 2023 that did not recur in the year ended December 31,
2024.

Services and Other Revenues. As part of the Company’s effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary
business, the Company offers certain services primarily relating to its Towers segment. For the periods presented, such services predominately consisted of (1)
pre-construction site development services and (2) installation services. See note 16 to the Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the
Company's July 2023 restructuring plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product offering. Upon contract commencement, the
Company assesses its services to tenants and identifies performance obligations for each promise to provide a distinct service.

The Company may have multiple performance obligations for site development services, which primarily include: structural analysis, zoning, permitting
and construction drawings. For each of these performance obligations, services revenues are recognized at completion of the applicable performance obligation,
which represents the point at which the Company believes it has transferred goods or services to the tenant. The services revenue recognized is based on an
allocation of the transaction price among the performance obligations in a respective tenant contract based on estimated standalone selling price. The volume
and mix of site development services may vary among tenant contracts and may include a combination of some or all of the above performance obligations.
Amounts are billed per contractual milestones, with payments generally due within 45 to 90 days, and generally do not contain variable-consideration
provisions.

The transaction price for the Company's tower installation services consists of amounts for (1) permanent improvements to the Company's towers that
represent a lease component and (2) the performance of the service. Amounts under the Company's tower installation service agreements that represent a lease
component are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line basis over the length of the associated estimated lease term. For the performance of the
installation service, the Company has one performance obligation, which is satisfied at the time of the applicable installation or augmentation and recognized as
services and other revenues on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Since performance obligations are
typically satisfied prior to receiving payment from tenants, the unconditional right to payment is recorded within "Receivables, net" on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet. Generally, the services the Company provides to its tenants have a duration of one year or less.

Additional Information on Revenues. As of January 1, 2024 and  December 31, 2024, $2.1 billion  and  $2.0 billion of unrecognized revenues,
respectively,  were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, approximately $490 million of the January 1, 2024 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as revenues. As of January 1,
2023, $2.3 billion of unrecognized revenues were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. During the year ended  December 31,  2023, approximately  $631 million  of the January 1, 2023 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as
revenues.

See note 3 for further discussion regarding the Company’s revenues.

69



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Costs of Operations

Approximately 40% of the Company's site rental costs of operations expenses consist of Towers ground lease expenses, and the remainder includes fiber
access expenses, repairs and maintenance expenses, employee compensation or related benefit costs, property taxes, or utilities. Generally, the ground leases for
land are specific to each site and are for an initial term of between five to 15 years and are renewable for pre-determined periods. The Company also enters into
ground leases, such as term easements, in which it prepays the entire term in advance. Fiber access expenses primarily consist of leases of fiber assets and other
access agreements to facilitate the Company's communications infrastructure.

Ground lease and fiber access expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make
payments annually, semi-annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber access agreements
contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in
CPI). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
When calculating straight-line ground lease and fiber access expenses, the Company considers all fixed elements of contractual escalation provisions, even if
such escalation provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's liability related to straight-line expense is included in
"Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The Company's assets related to prepaid agreements is included in "Prepaid
expenses" and "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Services and other costs of operations predominately consist of third-party service providers such as contractors and professional services firms and, to a
lesser extent, internal labor costs, associated with the Company's site development and installation services. See note 16 to the Company's consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of the Company's July 2023 restructuring plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product
offering. The Company's costs incurred prior to the satisfaction of associated performance obligations of $31 million and $44 million as of December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively, are included in "Other current assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Acquisitions and Integration Costs

Direct or incremental costs related to a potential or completed business combination transaction are expensed as incurred. Such costs are predominately
comprised of severance, retention bonuses payable to employees of an acquired enterprise, temporary employees to assist with the integration of the acquired
operations, fees paid for services (such as consulting, accounting, legal, or engineering reviews), and any other costs directly associated with the transaction.
These business combination costs are included in "Acquisition and integration costs" on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). For those transactions accounted for as asset acquisitions, these costs are capitalized as part of the purchase price.

Stock-based Compensation Expense, Net

Restricted Stock Units. The Company records stock-based compensation expense for unvested restricted stock units ("RSUs") for which the requisite
service is expected to be rendered. The cumulative effect of a change in the estimated number of RSUs for which the requisite service is expected to be or has
been rendered is recognized in the period of the change in the estimate. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting
purposes is not reversed; rather, it is recognized regardless of whether or not the awards vest. A discussion of the Company's valuation techniques and related
assumptions and estimates used to measure the Company's stock-based compensation expense is as follows:

Valuation. The fair value of RSUs without market conditions is determined based on the number of shares relating to such RSUs and the quoted price of
the Company's common stock at the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of RSUs with market conditions granted using a Monte Carlo
simulation. The Company's determination of the fair value of RSUs with market conditions on the date of grant is affected by its common stock price as well as
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex or subjective variables. The determination of fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation requires the input
of subjective assumptions, and other reasonable assumptions could provide differing results.

Amortization Method. The Company amortizes the fair value of all RSUs on a straight-line basis for each separately vesting tranche of the award (graded
vesting schedule) over the requisite service periods.

Expected Volatility. The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of its common stock.

Expected Dividend Rate. The expected dividend rate at the date of grant is based on the then-current dividend yield.
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Risk-Free Rate. The Company bases the risk-free rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with an equivalent remaining term
equal to the expected life of the award.

Forfeitures. The Company uses historical award forfeiture data and management's judgment about the future employee turnover rates to estimate the
number of shares for which the requisite service period will not be rendered.

Interest Expense and Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs, Net

The components of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net are as follows:

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Interest expense on debt obligations $ 920  $ 836  $ 685 
Amortization of deferred financing costs and adjustments on long-term debt 32  29  26 
Capitalized interest (20) (15) (12)
Total $ 932  $ 850  $ 699 

The Company amortizes deferred financing costs, discounts and premiums over the estimated term of the related borrowing using the effective interest
yield method. Deferred financing costs and discounts are generally presented as a direct reduction to the related debt obligation on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet. 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

We classify an asset as held for sale when the following criteria are met: (1) management with proper authority has approved and committed to a plan to
sell, (2) the asset is available for immediate sale, (3) an active program to locate a buyer has commenced at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current
fair value, (4) the sale of the asset is probable (5) transfer of the asset is expected to occur within one year, except in certain circumstances such as extended
regulatory approval, and (6) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Assets classified as held for sale
are recorded at the lower of carrying value or fair value, less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated.

Further, we classify the balances and results related to a disposal in discontinued operations if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the operations and
cash flows of the disposal group can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the company, (2) the disposal group meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale and (3) the disposal represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on our operations and financial results. For businesses classified as
discontinued operations, the associated balances included in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss) are reclassified from their historical presentation to assets and liabilities of discontinued operations on the consolidated balance sheet and to
discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss), respectively, for all periods presented. The gains or
losses associated with the discontinued operation are also recorded in discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).

Income Taxes

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, the Company is generally entitled to a deduction for dividends that it
pays and therefore is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is currently distributed to its stockholders. The Company
may be subject to certain federal, state, local and foreign taxes on its income, including (1) taxes on any undistributed income and (2) taxes related to the TRSs.
In addition, the Company could, under certain circumstances, be required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to
utilize one or more relief provisions under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"), to maintain qualification for taxation as a REIT.

Additionally, the Company has included in TRSs certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be subject, as
applicable, to federal and state corporate income taxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. The Company's
foreign assets and operations (including its tower operations in Puerto Rico) are subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and
operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not. For certain acquisitions by the REIT, the Company will be subject to a federal
corporate level tax rate (currently 21%) on any gain recognized from the sale of assets occurring within a specified period (generally 5 years) after the transfer
date up to the amount of the built in gain that existed on the transfer date, which is based upon the fair market value of those assets in excess of the Company's
tax basis on the transfer date. This gain can be offset by any remaining federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs").
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For the Company's TRSs, the Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's financial statements or tax
returns. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is "more likely than not" that the asset will
not be realized. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets when it is "more likely than not" that some portion or all of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized. The Company reviews the recoverability of deferred tax assets each quarter and based upon projections of future taxable income,
reversing deferred tax liabilities or other known events that are expected to affect future taxable income, records a valuation allowance for assets that do not
meet the "more likely than not" realization threshold. Valuation allowances may be reversed if related deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based upon
changes in facts and circumstances that impact the recoverability of the asset.

The Company recognizes a tax position if it is "more likely than not" that it will be sustained upon examination. The tax position is measured at the
largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company reports penalties and tax-related interest expense
as a component of the benefit (provision) for income taxes. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has not recorded any material penalties related to
its income tax positions. See note 9.

Per Share Information

Basic net income (loss), per common share, excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, diluted net income (loss), per common share, is computed by
dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus any potential dilutive common share
equivalents, including shares issuable upon the vesting of RSUs as determined under the treasury stock method.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations is shown in the table below.

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Net income (loss) $ (3,903) $ 1,502  $ 1,675 

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic weighted-average number of common stock outstanding 434  434  433 
Effect of assumed dilution from potential issuance of common shares relating to RSUs —  —  1 
Diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 434  434  434 

Net income (loss), per common share:
Basic $ (8.98) $ 3.46  $ 3.87 
Diluted $ (8.98) $ 3.46  $ 3.86 

Dividends/distributions declared per share of common stock $ 6.26  $ 6.26  $ 5.98 

Fair Values

The Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of the
information used to determine fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are (1) Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active and accessible
markets, (2) Level 2 — observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets but corroborated by market data, and (3) Level 3 —
unobservable inputs and are not corroborated by market data. The Company evaluates fair value hierarchy level classifications quarterly, and transfers between
levels are effective at the end of the quarterly period.
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The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents approximate the carrying values. The Company determines the fair
value of its debt securities based on indicative, non-binding quotes from brokers. Quotes from brokers require judgment and are based on the brokers'
interpretation of market information, including implied credit spreads for similar borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask prices or quotes from active markets if
available. There were no changes since December  31, 2023 in the Company's valuation techniques used to measure fair values. See note 8 for a further
discussion of fair values. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new guidance, which became effective starting with the Company's 2024
Form 10-K, that is designed to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosure of significant segment expenses.
The Company adopted the guidance as of the effective date (i.e. for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023). The new guidance also expands interim
segment disclosure requirements and requires disclosure of the position and title of the Company's chief operating decision-maker. The Company adopted the
new segment guidance using a retrospective approach for each prior reporting period presented. The adoption of the new guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company's consolidated financial statement but resulted in expanded disclosure, primarily within its segment reporting footnote. See note 14 to
the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued new guidance that enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures, primarily through
changes to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disclosures. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 2025,
and can be applied prospectively or retrospectively, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the guidance, including
the impact on its financial statement disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued new guidance which requires disclosure of disaggregated information about certain income statement expense line
items in the notes to the financial statements for both annual and interim periods. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year ending
December 31, 2027, and can be applied prospectively or retrospectively, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the
guidance, including the impact on its financial statement disclosures.

3. Revenues

The following table is a summary of the contracted amounts owed to the Company by tenants pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 31,
2024. As of December 31, 2024, the weighted-average remaining term of tenant contracts was approximately six years, exclusive of renewals exercisable at the
tenant's option.

Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

Contracted amounts $ 5,056  $ 4,882  $ 4,733  $ 4,474  $ 3,661  $ 13,126  $ 35,932 

(a) Based on the nature of the contract, tenant contracts are accounted for pursuant to relevant lease accounting (ASC 842) or revenue accounting (ASC 606) guidance. Excludes amounts related to
services, as those contracts generally have a duration of one year or less.

See notes 2 and 13 for further discussion regarding the Company's lessor arrangements and note 14 for further information regarding the Company's
operating segments.

(a)
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4. Property and Equipment

The major classes of property and equipment are summarized in the table below.

 
Estimated Useful Lives

As of December 31,
  2024 2023
Land — $ 2,537  $ 2,442
Buildings 40 years 213  209
Communications infrastructure assets 1-20 years 26,519  25,479
Information technology assets and other 2-7 years 725  681
Construction in process — 1,045  1,134
Total gross property and equipment 31,039  29,945
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,544) (14,279
Total property and equipment, net $ 15,495  $ 15,666

(a) Includes land owned through fee interests and perpetual easements.

For each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, depreciation expense was $1.3 billion, while depreciation expense for the year
ended December 31, 2022 was $1.2 billion.

22% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a master lease or other related agreements with AT&T for a
weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin. The Company has the option to purchase the leased
and subleased towers from AT&T at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for aggregate option payments of approximately $4.2 billion, which
payments, if such option is exercised, would be due between 2032 and 2048.

32% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, or other agreements with T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). Approximately half of such towers have an initial term of 32 years (through May 2037),
and the Company has the option to purchase in 2037 all (but not less than all) of such leased and subleased towers from T-Mobile for approximately $2.3
billion. The remainder of such towers have a weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin, and
the Company has the option to purchase such towers from T-Mobile at the end of the respective terms for aggregate option payments of approximately $2.0
billion, which payments, if such option is exercised, would be due between 2035 and 2049. In addition, another 1% of the Company's towers under master
leases, subleases, or other agreements with T-Mobile are subject to a lease and sublease or other related arrangements with AT&T. The Company has the option
to purchase these towers from AT&T at the end of their respective lease terms for aggregate option payments of up to approximately $385 million as of
December 31, 2024, which payments, if such option is exercised, would be due prior to 2032 (less than $12 million would be due before 2029).

See note 13 for further discussion of finance leases recorded as "Property and equipment, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

(a)
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5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $5.0 billion related to the goodwill associated with
its Fiber segment, which represents a reporting unit for purposes of evaluating goodwill, which resulted in no goodwill remaining for the Fiber reporting unit.

Management performed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2024. The means of estimating the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units is using discounted cash flow ("DCF") models developed by management. Key assumptions and estimates used in the DCF models included
projected future revenues, operating cash flows, capital expenditures (net of certain payments received from customers), an exit multiple and a discount rate.
With respect to the Towers reporting unit, there was no indication of impairment following the quantitative assessment, as the estimated fair value was well in
excess of the corresponding carrying amount.

The quantitative impairment test indicated that the carrying amount of the Company's Fiber reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value. The
impairment was due to a number of factors, one of which was a reduction in management’s assumptions for long-term revenue growth as actual demand,
particularly related to small cells, has continued to be lower than previous expectations. In the face of this reduced demand, and consistent with the recently
concluded operating review of the Fiber business, management implemented operational and strategic changes targeted at reducing future capital investment in
the Fiber business by focusing primarily on colocation opportunities which require less capital expenditures than new-build opportunities. Although this more
targeted strategy is focused on higher-return projects, the lower capital investment is expected to result in lower overall revenues and operating cash flows in
the Fiber business. Following implementation of these changes, and consistent with the ongoing developments surrounding the Company's strategic review of
its Fiber business, during the fourth quarter of 2024, management incorporated the anticipated impact of these changes in expectations into its long-term
forecasts, which decreased the estimated fair value of the Fiber reporting unit. Additionally, management’s expectations regarding the terminal value of the
projections decreased due to several factors, including lower operating cash flows forecasted by management in the terminal year as well as lower exit
multiples derived from industry research firms' outlook reports, which management uses in its DCF models. Finally, changes in the macroeconomic
environment, including elevated interest rates, resulted in an increase in the discount rate used in the valuation model, which had a negative impact on
estimated fair value.

The impairment charges for the Fiber reporting unit are recorded in "Goodwill impairment charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The change in the carrying value of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Towers Fiber Total
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 5,127  $ 4,958  $ 10,085 
Impairment —  (4,958) (4,958)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 5,127  $ —  $ 5,127 

Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the Company's intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Gross Carrying

Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships $ 7,879  $ (5,152) $ 2,727  $ 7,880  $ (4,758) $ 3,122 
Other intangible assets 113  (59) 54  113  (56) 57 
Total $ 7,992  $ (5,211) $ 2,781  $ 7,993  $ (4,814) $ 3,179 
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Amortization expense related to intangible assets is classified as "Depreciation, amortization and accretion" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and was $397 million, $447 million, and $446 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

The estimated annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2025 to 2029 is as follows:

  Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Estimated annual amortization $ 375  $ 371  $ 288  $ 284  $ 284 

6. Other Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

The following is a summary of the components of "Other long-term liabilities" as presented on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. See also note 2.

  As of December 31,
  2024 2023
Deferred rental revenues $ 1,356  $ 1,310 
Deferred credits, net 174  216 
Asset retirement obligation 395  355 
Deferred income tax liabilities 31  26 
Other long-term liabilities 29  7 
Total $ 1,985  $ 1,914 

Pursuant to its ground lease, leased facility, and certain pole attachment agreements, the Company has the obligation to perform certain asset retirement
activities, including requirements upon contract termination to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which its communications
infrastructure is located. The changes in the carrying amount of the Company's asset retirement obligations were as follows:

  Years Ending December 31,
  2024 2023
Balance, January 1 $ 355  $ 327 
Additions 14  6 
Accretion expense 27  24 
Settlements (1) (2)
Balance, December 31 $ 395  $ 355 

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated undiscounted future cash outlay for asset retirement obligations was approximately $1.2 billion. See note 2.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $42 million, $45 million and $49 million, respectively, in "Site rental
revenues" related to the amortization of below-market tenant leases. The estimated annual amounts related to below-market tenant leases expected to be
amortized into site rental revenues for the years ending December 31, 2025 to 2029 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Below-market tenant leases $ 34  $ 25  $ 20  $ 18  $ 16 
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Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities included accrued payroll and other accrued compensation of $148 million and $140 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

7. Debt and Other Obligations

The table below sets forth the Company's debt and other obligations as of December 31, 2024.

  Original Issue Date
Contractual

Maturity Date  
Outstanding Balance as of December 31,

Stated Interest Rate
as of

December 31,
2024   2023 2024

Secured Notes, Series 2009-1, Class A-2 July 2009 Aug. 2029 32  40  9.0 %
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 May 2015 May 2045 700  698  3.7 %
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-2 July 2018 July 2048 747  746  4.2 %
Installment purchase liabilities and finance leases Various Various 299  270  Various

Total secured debt 1,778  1,754 
2016 Revolver Jan. 2016 July 2027 —  670  N/A
2016 Term Loan A Jan. 2016 July 2027 1,117  1,162  5.6 %
Commercial Paper Notes Various Various 1,341  —  5.0 %
3.200% Senior Notes Aug. 2017 Sept. 2024 —  749  N/A
1.350% Senior Notes June 2020 July 2025 499  498  1.4 %
4.450% Senior Notes Feb. 2016 Feb. 2026 899  898  4.5 %
3.700% Senior Notes May 2016 June 2026 749  748  3.7 %
1.050% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 July 2026 997  994  1.1 %
4.000% Senior Notes Feb. 2017 Mar. 2027 498  498  4.0 %
2.900% Senior Notes Mar. 2022 Mar. 2027 746  744  2.9 %
3.650% Senior Notes Aug. 2017 Sept. 2027 997  997  3.7 %
5.000% Senior Notes Jan. 2023 Jan. 2028 993  991  5.0 %
3.800% Senior Notes Jan. 2018 Feb. 2028 996  995  3.8 %
4.800% Senior Notes Apr. 2023 Sept. 2028 595  594  4.8 %
4.300% Senior Notes Feb. 2019 Feb. 2029 596  595  4.3 %
5.600% Senior Notes Dec. 2023 June 2029 742  740  5.6 %
4.900% Senior Notes Aug. 2024 Sept. 2029 544  —  4.9 %
3.100% Senior Notes Aug. 2019 Nov. 2029 547  546  3.1 %
3.300% Senior Notes Apr. 2020 July 2030 742  741  3.3 %
2.250% Senior Notes June 2020 Jan. 2031 1,093  1,091  2.3 %
2.100% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 Apr. 2031 991  990  2.1 %
2.500% Senior Notes June 2021 July 2031 744  743  2.5 %
5.100% Senior Notes Apr. 2023 May 2033 743  743  5.1 %
5.800% Senior Notes Dec. 2023 Mar. 2034 742  740  5.8 %
5.200% Senior Notes Aug. 2024 Sept. 2034 689  —  5.2 %
2.900% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 Apr. 2041 1,235  1,234  2.9 %
4.750% Senior Notes May 2017 May 2047 345  344  4.8 %
5.200% Senior Notes Feb. 2019 Feb. 2049 396  396  5.2 %
4.000% Senior Notes Aug. 2019 Nov. 2049 346  346  4.0 %
4.150% Senior Notes Apr. 2020 July 2050 490  490  4.2 %
3.250% Senior Notes June 2020 Jan. 2051 891  890  3.3 %

Total unsecured debt 22,303  21,167 
Total debt and other obligations 24,081  22,921 
Less: current maturities of debt and other obligations 610  835 
Non-current portion of debt and other long-term obligations $ 23,471  $ 22,086 

(a) Represents the weighted-average stated interest rate, as applicable.
(b) If the Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and Series 2018-2 (collectively, "Tower Revenue Notes") are not paid in full on or prior to an applicable anticipated repayment date, then Excess Cash

Flow (as defined in the indenture governing the terms of such notes) of the issuers of such notes will be used to repay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes, and
additional interest (of an additional approximately 5% per annum) will accrue on the respective Tower Revenue Notes. As of December 31, 2024, the Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and
2018-2 have principal amounts of $700 million and $750 million, with anticipated repayment dates in 2025 and 2028, respectively.

(c) The Company's installment purchases primarily relate to land and bear interest rates up to 8% and mature in periods ranging from less than one year to approximately 20 years.

(a)

(b)

(b)

(c) (c) (d) (d) (c)

(e) (f)

(f)

(g) (g)

(h)

(i) (i)

(i) (i)
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(d) For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, reflects $35 million and $18 million, respectively, in finance lease obligations (primarily related to vehicles).
(e) As of December 31, 2024, the undrawn availability under the senior unsecured revolving credit facility ("2016 Revolver") was $7.0 billion.
(f) Both the 2016 Revolver and senior unsecured term loan A facility ("2016 Term Loan A" and, collectively, "2016 Credit Facility") bear interest, at the Company's option, at either (1) Term SOFR

plus (i) a credit spread adjustment of 0.10% per annum and (ii) a credit spread ranging from 0.875% to 1.750% per annum or (2) an alternate base rate plus a credit spread ranging from 0.000%
to 0.750% per annum, in each case, with the applicable credit spread based on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating. The Company pays a commitment fee ranging from 0.080% to
0.300%, based on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating, per annum on the undrawn available amount under the 2016 Revolver. See further discussion below regarding potential
adjustments to such percentages.

(g) The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, as defined below, when outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. There were no Commercial Paper Notes issued
or outstanding during the period that had original maturities greater than three months.

(h) In September 2024, the Company repaid in full the 3.200% senior unsecured notes on the contractual maturity date.
(i) See "Bonds—Senior Notes" below for further discussion of senior unsecured notes issued during 2024.

The credit agreement governing the Company's 2016 Credit Facility ("2016 Credit Agreement") contains financial maintenance covenants. The Company
is currently in compliance with these financial maintenance covenants. In addition, certain of the Company's debt agreements also contain restrictive covenants
that place restrictions on CCI or its subsidiaries and may limit the Company's ability to, among other things, incur additional debt and liens, purchase the
Company's securities, make capital expenditures, dispose of assets, undertake transactions with affiliates, make other investments, pay dividends or distribute
excess cash flow.

Bank Debt

2016 Credit Facility. In January 2016, the Company established the 2016 Credit Facility, which was originally comprised of (1) a $2.5 billion 2016
Revolver maturing in January 2021, (2) a $2.0 billion 2016 Term Loan A maturing in January 2021 and (3) a $1.0 billion senior unsecured 364-day revolving
credit facility ("364-Day Facility") maturing in January 2017.  The Company used the net proceeds from the 2016 Credit Facility (1) to repay the then
outstanding senior credit facility originally established in January 2012 and (2) for general corporate purposes. In February 2016, the Company used a portion
of the net proceeds from the February 2016 issuance of $1.5  billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes offering to repay in full all
outstanding borrowings under the then outstanding 364-Day Facility.

In February 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) incur additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount
of $500 million and (2) extend the maturity of both the 2016 Term Loan A and the 2016 Revolver to January 2022.

In August 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $3.5 billion,
and (2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to August 2022.

In June 2018, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $4.25 billion, and
(2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2023.

In June 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $5.0 billion, and
(2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2024.

In June 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (1) the extension of the
maturity date of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2026, (2) reductions to the interest rate spread ("Spread") and unused commitment fee ("Commitment Fee")
percentage upon meeting specified annual sustainability targets ("Targets") and increases to the Spread and Commitment Fee percentage upon the failure to
meet specified annual sustainability thresholds ("Thresholds") and (3) the inclusion of "hardwired" LIBOR transition provisions consistent with those published
by the Alternative Reference Rate Committee. The Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to an upward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively, if
the Company fails to achieve the Thresholds. The Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to a downward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively,
if the Company achieves the Targets. In January of the years 2022 through 2025, the Company submitted the required documentation and received confirmation
from its administrative agent that all Targets were met as of the respective prior fiscal year ends, and, as such, the Spread and Commitment Fee percentage
reductions were applied in January 2022 and maintained for 2023, 2024 and 2025.

In July 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (1) the extension of the
maturity date of the 2016 Credit Facility to July 2027, (2) an increase to the commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $7.0 billion, (3) certain modifications to the
specified sustainability metric and (4) the replacement of the LIBOR pricing benchmark with a Term SOFR pricing benchmark.
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Commercial Paper Program. In April 2019, the Company established a commercial paper program ("CP Program"), pursuant to which the Company may
issue short-term, unsecured commercial paper notes ("Commercial Paper Notes"). Commercial Paper Notes may be issued, repaid and re-issued from time to
time, with an aggregate principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding under the CP Program at any time originally not to exceed $1.0 billion. The
net proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes are expected to be used for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, when
outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. There were no Commercial Paper Notes issued or outstanding during the period that
had original maturities greater than three months. The Commercial Paper Notes are issued under customary terms in the commercial paper market and are
issued at a discount from par or, alternatively, can be issued at par and bear varying interest rates on a fixed or floating basis. At any point in time, the Company
intends to maintain available commitments under its 2016 Revolver in an amount at least equal to the amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding. While
any outstanding commercial paper issuances generally have short-term maturities, the Company classifies the outstanding issuances as long-term based on its
ability and intent to refinance the outstanding issuances on a long-term basis.

In March 2022, the Company increased the size of the CP Program to permit the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes in an aggregate principal amount
not to exceed $2.0 billion at any time outstanding. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had net issuances of $1.3 billion under the CP Program.

Securitized Debt

The Tower Revenue Notes and the Secured Notes, Series 2009-1, Class A-2 ("2009 Securitized Notes") (collectively, "Securitized Debt") are obligations
of special purpose entities and their direct and indirect subsidiaries (each an "issuer"), all of which are wholly-owned, indirect subsidiaries of CCI. The Tower
Revenue Notes and 2009 Securitized Notes are governed by separate indentures. The 2015 Tower Revenue Notes and 2018 Tower Revenue Notes (each as
defined below) are governed by one indenture and consist of multiple series of notes, each with its own anticipated repayment date.

In May 2015, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2015 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and have similar terms and security as the Company's then outstanding Tower Revenue Notes. The 2015
Tower Revenue Notes originally consisted of (1) $300 million aggregate principal amount of 3.222% senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of May 2022 and a final maturity date of May 2042 ("Series 2015-1 Notes") and (2) $700 million aggregate principal amount of 3.663% senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of May 2025 and a final maturity date of May 2045 ("Series 2015-2 Notes"). The Company
primarily used the net proceeds of the 2015 Tower Revenue Notes, together with proceeds received from the Company's sale of the formerly 77.6% owned
subsidiary that operated towers in Australia ("CCAL"), to (1) repay $250 million aggregate principal amount of previously outstanding August 2010 Tower
Revenue Notes, (2) repay all of the then outstanding WCP Secured Wireless Site Contracts Revenue Notes, Series 2010-1 ("WCP Securitized Notes"), (3)
repay portions of outstanding borrowings under the 2012 Credit Facility and (4) pay related fees and expenses. In June 2021, the Company used a portion of the
net proceeds from the 2.500% senior unsecured notes offering due July 2031 to repay in whole the Series 2015-1 Notes.

In July 2018, the Company issued $1.0 billion  aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2018 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and have similar terms and security as the Company's then outstanding Tower Revenue Notes. The 2018
Tower Revenue Notes originally consisted of (1) $250 million aggregate principal amount of 3.720% senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of July 2023 and a final maturity of July 2043 ("Series 2018-1 Notes") and (2) $750 million aggregate principal amount of 4.241% senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of July 2028 and a final maturity of July 2048 ("Series 2018-2 Notes"). The Company used the
net proceeds of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes, together with cash on hand, to repay all of the previously outstanding Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2010-6 and
to pay related fees and expenses. In addition to the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes described above, in connection with Exchange Act risk retention requirements
("Risk Retention Rules"), an indirect subsidiary of the Company issued and a majority-owned affiliate of the Company purchased approximately $53 million of
the Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-1, Class R-2028 to retain an eligible horizontal residual interest (as defined in the Risk Retention Rules)
in an amount equal to at least 5% of the fair value of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes. In March 2022, the Company prepaid the Series 2018-1 Notes.

The Securitized Debt is paid solely from the cash flows generated by the operation of the towers held directly and indirectly by the issuers of the
respective Securitized Debt. The Securitized Debt is secured by, among other things, (1)  a security interest in substantially all of the applicable issuers'
assignable personal property, (2) a pledge of the equity interests in each applicable issuer and (3) a security interest in the applicable issuers' leases with tenants
to lease tower space (space
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licenses). The governing instruments of two indirect subsidiaries ("Crown Atlantic" and "Crown GT") of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes generally
prevent them from issuing debt and granting liens on their assets without the approval of a subsidiary of Verizon Communications. Consequently, while
distributions paid by Crown Atlantic and Crown GT will service the Tower Revenue Notes, the Tower Revenue Notes are not obligations of, nor are the Tower
Revenue Notes secured by the cash flows or any other assets of, Crown Atlantic and Crown GT. As of December  31, 2024, the Securitized Debt was
collateralized with personal property and equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately $667 million, exclusive of Crown Atlantic and Crown
GT personal property and equipment.

The excess cash flows from the issuers of the Securitized Debt, after the payment of principal, interest, reserves, expenses and management fees, are
distributed to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indentures. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio ("DSCR") (as defined in the applicable
governing loan agreement) as of the end of any calendar quarter falls to a certain level, then all excess cash flow of the issuers of the applicable debt instrument
will be deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Company. The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the Company until
the DSCR exceeds a certain level for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the DSCR falls below a certain level as of the end of any calendar quarter, then all
cash on deposit in the reserve account along with future excess cash flows of the issuers will be applied to prepay the debt with applicable prepayment
consideration.

The Company may repay the Securitized Debt in whole or in part at any time, provided in each case that such prepayment is accompanied by any
applicable prepayment consideration. The Securitized Debt has covenants and restrictions customary for rated securitizations, including provisions prohibiting
the issuers from incurring additional indebtedness or further encumbering their assets. The Company is currently in compliance with these financial
maintenance covenants.

Bonds—Senior Notes

In August 2024, the Company issued $550 million aggregate principal amount of 4.900% senior unsecured notes due 2029 and $700 million aggregate
principal amount of 5.200% senior unsecured notes due 2034 (collectively, "August 2024 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the August
2024 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the CP Program and pay related fees and expenses.

In December 2023, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 5.600% senior unsecured notes due June 2029 and $750 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.800% senior unsecured notes due March 2034 (collectively, "December 2023 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net
proceeds from the December 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under its commercial paper program and pay
related fees and expenses.

In April 2023, the Company issued $600 million aggregate principal amount of 4.800% senior unsecured notes due September 2028 and $750 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.100% senior unsecured notes due May 2033 (collectively, "April 2023 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds
from the April 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016 Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.

In January 2023, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 5.000% senior unsecured notes due January 2028 ("January 2023 Senior
Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the January 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016
Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.

In March 2022, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 2.900% senior unsecured notes due March 2027 ("March 2022 Senior
Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the March 2022 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the CP
Program and pay related fees and expenses.

Each of the outstanding senior notes listed in the table above (collectively, "Senior Notes") are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank
equally with all of the Company's existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, including obligations under the 2016 Credit Facility, and senior to all of
the Company's future subordinated indebtedness. The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of the
Company's subsidiaries. The Company's subsidiaries are not guarantors of the Senior Notes.

The Company may redeem any of the Senior Notes in whole or in part at any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed, plus a
make whole premium, if applicable, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.
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Previously Outstanding Indebtedness

Bonds—Senior Notes. In September 2024, the Company repaid in full the previously outstanding 3.200% senior unsecured notes due September 2024.

Scheduled Principal Payments and Final Maturities

The following are the scheduled principal payments and final maturities of the total debt and other long-term obligations of the Company outstanding as
of December 31, 2024, which do not consider the principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates on the Tower Revenue
Notes. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not paid in full on or prior to their respective anticipated repayment dates, as applicable, then the Excess Cash Flow (as
defined in the indenture) of the issuers of such notes will be used to repay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes and
additional interest (of an additional approximately 5% per annum) will accrue on the Tower Revenue Notes.

Years Ending December 31,
Thereafter

Total Cash
Obligations

Unamortized
Adjustments, Net

Total Debt and
Other Obligations

Outstanding2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Scheduled principal payments

and
final maturities $ 1,951  $ 2,787  $ 3,258  $ 2,635  $ 2,478  $ 11,130  $ 24,239  $ (158) $ 24,081 

(a) Predominately consists of outstanding indebtedness under the CP Program and the 1.350% senior unsecured notes due July 2025.

Purchases and Redemptions of Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of the purchases, payments and redemptions of long-term debt during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Principal Amount Cash Paid Gains (losses)
Year Ended December 31, 2024

3.200% Senior Unsecured Notes 750  750  — 
Total $ 750  $ 750  $ — 

Year Ended December 31, 2023
3.150% Senior Unsecured Notes 750  750  — 

Total $ 750  $ 750  $ — 
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-1 $ 250  $ 252  $ (3)
3.849% Secured Notes 1,000  1,022  (23)
2016 Revolver —  —  (2)

Total $ 1,250  $ 1,274  $ (28)

(a) Exclusive of accrued interest.
(b) Inclusive of the write-off of the respective deferred financing costs.

8. Fair Value Disclosures

The following table shows the estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, along with the carrying amounts of the related assets
(liabilities). See also note 2.

  Level in Fair Value
Hierarchy

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
  Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 119  $ 119  $ 105  $ 105 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current and
non-current

1
176  176  176  176 

Liabilities:
Total debt and other obligations 2 24,081  22,398  22,921  21,201 

(a)

(a) (b)
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9. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes by geographic area is summarized in the table below.

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ (3,904) $ 1,499  $ 1,661 
Foreign 25  29  30 
Total $ (3,879) $ 1,528  $ 1,691 

(a) Inclusive of income (loss) before income taxes from Puerto Rico.

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following: 

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Current:

Federal $ (9) $ (7) $ (6)
Foreign (6) (9) (9)
State (5) (2) 2 

Total current (20) (18) (13)
Deferred:

Federal 1  —  — 
Foreign (5) (8) (3)

Total deferred (4) (8) (3)
Total tax benefit (provision) $ (24) $ (26) $ (16)

A reconciliation between the benefit (provision) for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to the
income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Benefit (provision) for income taxes at statutory rate $ 815  $ (321) $ (355)
Tax adjustment related to REIT operations (822) 313  349 
Valuation allowances (1) —  (1)
State tax (provision) benefit, net of federal (5) (2) 2 
Foreign tax (11) (16) (11)
Total $ (24) $ (26) $ (16)

(a)
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The components of the net deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

  December 31,
  2024 2023
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property and equipment $ 11  $ 10 
Deferred site rental receivables 7  9 
Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net 29  29 

Total deferred income tax liabilities 47  48 
Deferred income tax assets:

Other intangible assets, net 29  29 
Net operating loss carryforwards 1  5 
Straight-line rent expense liability 5  5 
Accrued liabilities 5  5 
Other 6  5 
Valuation allowances (3) (2)

Total deferred income tax assets, net 43  47 
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ (4) $ (1)

(a) Balance results from the Company's foreign NOLs. Due to the Company's REIT status, no federal or state NOLs result in the Company recording a deferred income tax asset. See further
discussion surrounding the Company's NOL balances below.

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The components of the net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

  December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Classification Gross
Valuation
Allowance Net Gross

Valuation
Allowance Net

Federal $ 28  $ (2) $ 26  $ 26  $ (1) $ 25 
State 1  —  1  1  —  1 
Foreign (30) (1) (31) (26) (1) (27)
Total $ (1) $ (3) $ (4) $ 1  $ (2) $ (1)

The Company recorded valuation allowances totaling $3 million and $2 million, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 respectively, related to certain
deferred tax assets as management believes that it is not "more likely than not" that the Company will realize the assets.

At December 31, 2024, the Company had U.S. federal and state NOLs of approximately $1.5 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively, which are available to
offset future taxable income. These amounts include approximately $237 million of losses related to stock-based compensation. As footnoted above, the
Company’s federal and state NOLs are valued at a tax rate of 0% for deferred income tax purposes due to the Company’s REIT status. As a result, any
expirations of these NOLs will not have any impact on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet or the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company also has foreign NOLs of $3 million. If not utilized, the Company's U.S. federal NOLs expire starting in 2025
and ending in 2036, the remaining state NOLs expire starting in 2025 and ending in 2043, and the foreign NOLs start expiring in 2028 and ending in 2036. The
federal NOLs potentially expiring in 2025 are $128 million, and the state NOLs potentially expiring in 2025 are $52 million. The utilization of the NOLs is
subject to certain limitations. The Company's U.S. federal and state income tax returns generally remain open to examination by taxing authorities until three
years after the applicable NOLs have been used or expired.

As of December 31, 2024, there were no unrecognized tax benefits that would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized.

From time to time, the Company is subject to examinations by various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Company has business operations. At
this time, the Company is not subject to an Internal Revenue Service examination.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it has business operations. The
Company has no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2024. Additionally, the Company does

(a)

83



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

not believe any such additional assessments arising from examinations or audits will have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's deferred tax assets are included in "Other assets, net" and the Company's deferred tax liabilities are included in
"Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

10. Equity

2021 "At-the-Market" Stock Offering Program

The Company previously maintained an "at-the-market" stock offering program through which it had the right to issue and sell shares of its common
stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 million ("2021 ATM Program"). The Company terminated its previously outstanding 2021 ATM
Program in March 2024 with the entire gross sales price of $750 million remaining unsold.

2024 "At-the-Market" Stock Offering Program

In March 2024, the Company established a new "at-the-market" stock offering program through which it may issue and sell shares of its common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 million ("2024 ATM Program"). Sales under the 2024 ATM Program may be made by means of ordinary
brokers' transactions on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") or otherwise at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to prevailing
market prices or, subject to the Company's specific instructions, at negotiated prices. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from any sales under the
2024 ATM Program for general corporate purposes, which may include (1) the funding of future acquisitions or investments or (2) the repayment or repurchase
of any outstanding indebtedness. The Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the 2024 ATM Program.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the following dividends/distributions were declared or paid:

Equity Type Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
Dividends Per

Share

Aggregate
Payment
Amount

Common Stock February 21, 2024 March 15, 2024 March 28, 2024 $ 1.565  $ 683 
Common Stock May 22, 2024 June 14, 2024 June 28, 2024 $ 1.565  $ 684 
Common Stock August 7, 2024 September 13, 2024 September 30, 2024 $ 1.565  $ 683 
Common Stock November 6, 2024 December 13, 2024 December 31, 2024 $ 1.565  $ 682 

(a) Inclusive of dividends accrued for holders of unvested RSUs, which will be paid when and if the RSUs vest.

See also note 17 for a discussion of the Company's common stock dividend declared in March 2025.

Tax Treatment of Dividends

The following table summarizes, for income tax purposes, the nature of dividends paid during 2024 on the Company's common stock.

Equity Type Payment Date
Cash Distribution

(per share)
Ordinary Taxable

Dividend (per share)

Qualified Taxable
Dividend (per share) Section 199A

Dividend (per share)

Non-Taxable
Distribution (per

share)
Common Stock March 28, 2024 $ 1.565000  $ 0.884582  $ 0.018596  $ 0.865986  $ 0.680418 
Common Stock June 28, 2024 $ 1.565000  $ 0.884582  $ 0.018596  $ 0.865986  $ 0.680418 
Common Stock September 30, 2024 $ 1.565000  $ 0.884582  $ 0.018596  $ 0.865986  $ 0.680418 
Common Stock December 31, 2024 $ 1.565000  $ 0.884582  $ 0.018596  $ 0.865986  $ 0.680418 

(a) Qualified taxable dividend and section 199A dividend amounts are included in ordinary taxable dividend amounts.

(a)

(a)
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Purchases of the Company's Common Stock

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company purchased 0.3 million, 0.2 million and 0.4 million shares of its common stock,
respectively, utilizing $33 million, $30 million and $65 million in cash, respectively. The shares of common stock purchased relate to shares withheld in
connection with the payment of withholding taxes upon vesting of RSUs.

11. Stock-based Compensation

Stock Compensation Plans

Pursuant to stockholder approved plans, the Company has granted stock-based awards to certain employees, consultants or non-employee directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates. Following the stockholder approval of the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2022 LTIP"), no further awards can be
made under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2013 LTIP"). As of December 31, 2024, the Company had approximately 0.4 million and 0.1 million shares
available for issuance under existing and future awards, respectively, pursuant to the 2013 LTIP and approximately 2.2 million and 11.9 million shares available
for issuance under existing and future awards, respectively, pursuant to the 2022 LTIP.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company issues RSUs to certain executives and employees. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of the Company's common
stock subject to satisfaction of the applicable vesting terms. The RSUs granted to certain executives and employees include (1) annual awards that contain only
service-based conditions, (2) annual performance awards that vest subject to the achievement of certain stock performance-based metrics (as further described
below), (3) annual performance awards that vest subject to the achievement of the Company's performance related to its average return on invested capital (as
further described below), (4) new hire, promotional or relocation awards that generally contain only service-based vesting conditions and (5) other awards
related to specific business initiatives or compensation objectives including retention and merger integration. Generally, such awards vest over periods of
approximately three years.

The following is a summary of the RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2024.

  RSUs
  (In millions)
Outstanding at the beginning of year 3 
Granted 1 
Vested (1)
Forfeited — 
Outstanding at end of year 3 

The Company granted approximately 1.4  million RSUs to its executives and certain other employees for the year ended December  31, 2024,
approximately 1.6 million RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2023 and approximately 0.9 million RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of the grants for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $107.98, $126.56 and $146.52 per
share, respectively. The weighted-average requisite service period for the RSUs granted during 2024 was approximately 2.2 years.

Of the approximately 1.4  million RSUs granted during the year ended December  31, 2024, (1) approximately 1.2 million RSUs were granted to the
Company's executive and certain other employees and generally were subject to time-based vesting conditions, vesting over a three-year period (2)
approximately 0.1 million RSUs were granted to the Company's executives and certain other employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the grant date
based upon the Company's total stockholder return compared to that of the companies in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index and (3) approximately 0.1 million
RSUs were granted to the Company's executives and certain other employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the grant date based upon the Company's
average return on invested capital (defined as Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(effective August 1, 2022)) less cash taxes paid, divided by the Company's historical gross investment in (a) property and equipment (excluding the impact of
construction in process), (b) site rental contracts and tenant relationships and (c) goodwill) over a three-year performance period. Certain RSU agreements
contain provisions that result in forfeiture by the employee of any unvested shares in the event that the Company's common stock does not achieve certain
market performance targets. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting purposes is not reversed; rather, it is
recognized regardless of whether or not the market performance target is achieved.

85



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The following table summarizes the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation to determine the grant-date fair value for the RSUs with market
conditions granted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Risk-free rate 4.4 % 4.5 % 1.7 %
Expected volatility 27 % 27 % 31 %
Expected dividend rate 5.5 % 4.6 % 3.0 %

The Company recognized aggregate stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of $111 million, $139 million and $134 million for the years
ended December  31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The aggregate unrecognized compensation (net of estimated forfeitures) related to RSUs at
December 31, 2024 is $71 million and is estimated to be recognized over a weighted-average period of less than one year.

The following table is a summary of the RSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Years Ended December 31,
Total Shares


Vested
Fair Value on


Vesting Date
  (In millions of shares)  
2024 1  $ 102 
2023 1  92 
2022 1  187 

Stock-based Compensation Expense, Net

The following table discloses the components of stock-based compensation expense, net.

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Stock-based compensation expense, net:

Site rental costs of operations $ 19  $ 19  $ 18 
Services and other costs of operations 6  10  10 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 106  128  128 

Total stock-based compensation expense, net $ 131  $ 157  $ 156 

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Other Matters

The Company is involved in various claims, assessments, lawsuits or proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While there are uncertainties
inherent in the ultimate outcome of such matters and it is impossible to presently determine the ultimate costs or losses that may be incurred, if any,
management believes the adverse resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence of such costs should not have a material adverse effect on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are also contingently liable for commitments or
performance guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, including certain letters of credit or surety bonds.

See note 13 for a discussion of operating lease commitments. In addition, as mentioned in note 4, the Company has the option to purchase approximately
54% of its towers at the end of their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options.

13. Leases

Lessor Tenant Leases

See note 3 for further information regarding the contractual amounts owed to the Company pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 31, 2024
and other information.
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Lessee Operating Leases

The components of the Company's operating lease expense are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Lease cost:
Operating lease expense $ 706  $ 708  $ 660 
Variable lease expense 209  205  175 

Total lease expense $ 915  $ 913  $ 835 

(a) Represents the Company's operating lease expense related to its ROU assets.
(b) Represents the Company's expense related to contingent payments for operating leases (such as payments based on revenues derived from the communications infrastructure located on the leased

asset). Such contingencies are recognized as expense in the period they are resolved.
(c) Excludes those direct operating expenses accounted for pursuant to accounting guidance outside the scope of ASC 842.

Lessee Finance Leases

The vast majority of the Company's finance leases are related to the towers subject to prepaid master lease agreements with AT&T and T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint), and are recorded as "Property and equipment, net" on the consolidated balance sheet. See
note 4 for further discussion of the Company's prepaid master lease agreements.

The components of the Company's finance leases are as follows:

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

Gross Carrying Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value Gross Carrying Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Master Prepaid Leases $ 4,234  $ (3,007) $ 1,227  $ 4,243  $ (2,832) $ 1,411 
Finance Leases 86  (48) 38  71  (49) 22 
Total $ 4,320  $ (3,055) $ 1,265  $ 4,314  $ (2,881) $ 1,433 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $191 million to "Depreciation, amortization and accretion" related to finance leases and
recorded $182 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Other Lessee Information

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate for operating leases were 15 years
and 4.9%, respectively.

The following table is a summary of the Company's maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

Years Ending December 31,
Thereafter

Total undiscounted
lease payments

Less: Imputed
interest

Total operating lease
liabilities2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Operating leases $ 558  $ 551  $ 547  $ 543  $ 538  $ 5,682  $ 8,419  $ (2,887) $ 5,532 
(a) Excludes the Company's contingent payments for operating leases (such as payments based on revenues derived from the communications infrastructure located on the leased asset) as such

arrangements are excluded from the Company's operating lease liability. Such contingencies are recognized as expense in the period they are resolved.

14. Operating Segments and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Reportable Segments

The Company's operating segments, which are also its reportable segments, consist of (1) Towers and (2) Fiber. The Towers segment provides access,
including space or capacity, to the Company's more than 40,000 towers geographically dispersed throughout the U.S. The Towers segment also reflects certain
ancillary services relating to the Company's towers, predominately consisting of site development services and installation services. See note 16 to the
Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the Company's 2023 Restructuring Plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a
Towers product offering and note 17 for a discussion of the sale of the Fiber segment which is expected to close in the first half of 2026. The Fiber segment
provides access, including space or capacity, to the Company's approximately (1)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)
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105,000 small cells either currently generating revenue or under contract and (2) 90,000 route miles of fiber primarily supporting small cells and fiber solutions
geographically dispersed throughout the U.S.

The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer functions as the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The measurement of profit or loss
primarily used by the CODM to evaluate the performance of the Company's operating segments is segment operating profit (loss). The CODM uses segment
operating profit (loss) to evaluate budget-to-actual variances to assist in deciding whether to (1) reinvest capital into the Company's operating segments by
constructing new assets, acquire new assets or land interests (which primarily relate to land assets under towers), or make improvements and structural
enhancements to our existing infrastructure, (2) return cash generated to stockholders in the form of dividends, (3) purchase shares of our common stock, or (4)
repurchase, repay, or redeem the Company's debt. The CODM also uses segment operating profit (loss) in the evaluation of pricing of new projects and new
tenant agreements. Additionally, the Company CODM reviews segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margin.
The CODM uses segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margin to (1) evaluate the economic productivity of
the Company's operating segments, (2) identify underlying business trends that are impacting the Company's segment performance, (3) assist in making
resource allocation decisions and (4) aid in the preparation of the annual operating budget for the Company's operating segments.

The Company defines segment operating profit (loss) as segment site rental revenues plus segment services and other revenues, less segment site rental
costs of operations, segment services and other costs of operations, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, each of which excludes stock-
based compensation, net, and prepaid lease purchase price adjustments, which are recorded in the respective consolidated figures. The Company defines
segment adjusted site rental gross margin as segment site rental revenues less segment site rental costs of operations, excluding stock-based compensation
expense, net and amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments recorded in consolidated site rental costs of operations. The Company defines
segment adjusted services and other gross margin as segment services and other revenues less segment services and other costs of operations, excluding stock-
based compensation expense, net recorded in consolidated services and other costs of operations. All of these measurements are exclusive of depreciation,
amortization and accretion, which are shown separately.

Costs that are directly attributable to Towers and Fiber are assigned to those respective segments. Additionally, certain costs are shared across segments
and are reflected in the Company's segment measures through allocations that management believes to be reasonable. The "Other Non-Segment Items" column,
which does not meet the criteria to be classified as a reportable segment, (1) represents amounts excluded from specific segments, such as restructuring charges
(credits), asset write-down charges, goodwill impairment, acquisition and integration costs, depreciation, amortization and accretion, amortization of prepaid
lease purchase price adjustments, interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net, gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations,
interest income, other income (expense), stock-based compensation expense, net and certain selling, general and administrative expenses, and (2) reconciles
segment operating profit (loss) to income (loss) before income taxes, as the amounts are not utilized in assessing each segment’s performance. The "Other Non-
Segment Items" total assets balance includes corporate assets such as cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents which have not been
allocated to specific segments. For both the Towers and Fiber segments, other segment costs of operations primarily consists of (1) utilities, (2) property taxes,
(3) third-party costs related to ancillary services performed and (4) various other insignificant expenses. Other segment selling, general and administrative
expenses primarily contains an allocation of corporate facilities expense relating to employees operating for each respective segment and external selling costs
in the Fiber segment. There are no significant revenues resulting from transactions between the Company's operating segments.

88



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2024 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,266  $ 2,092  $ 6,358 
Segment services and other revenues 192  18  210 
Segment revenues 4,458  2,110  6,568 
Segment site rental costs of operations 959  734  1,693 
Segment services and other costs of operations 101  12  113 
Segment costs of operations 1,060  746  1,806 
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,307  1,358  4,665 
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 91  6  97 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses 76  176  252 
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,322  1,188  4,510 
Other selling, general and administrative expenses $ 348  348 
Stock-based compensation expense, net 131  131 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,738  1,738 
Restructuring charges 109  109 
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 932  932 
Goodwill impairment 4,958  4,958 
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes 173  173 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (3,879)
Capital expenditures $ 133  $ 1,045  $ 44  $ 1,222 
Total assets (at year end) $ 20,814  $ 11,283  $ 639  $ 32,736 
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127  $ —  $ —  $ 5,127 

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 745  $ 369  $ —  $ 1,114 
Employee compensation expense 90  95  —  185 
Repairs and maintenance expense 54  120  —  174 
Other segment costs of operations expense 171  162  —  333 

Total segment costs of operations 1,060  746  —  1,806 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 63  102  160  325 
Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 13  74  188  275 

Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses $ 76  $ 176  $ 348  $ 600 

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.
(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $25 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16

million. For the year ended December 31, 2024, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $106 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.

(a)(b)

(b)

(b)

(c)

(a)(b)

(b)
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2023 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,313  $ 2,219  $ 6,532 
Segment services and other revenues 421  28  449 
Segment revenues 4,734  2,247  6,981 
Segment site rental costs of operations 943  686  1,629 
Segment services and other costs of operations 294  12  306 
Segment costs of operations 1,237  698  1,935 
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,370  1,533  4,903 
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 127  16  143 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses 104  194  298 
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,393  1,355  4,748 
Other selling, general and administrative expenses $ 333  333 
Stock-based compensation expense, net 157  157 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,754  1,754 
Restructuring charges 85  85 
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 850  850 
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes 41  41 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 1,528 
Capital expenditures $ 194  $ 1,175  $ 55  $ 1,424 
Total assets (at year end) $ 21,550  $ 16,308  $ 669  $ 38,527 
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127  $ 4,958  $ —  $ 10,085 

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 732  $ 347  $ —  $ 1,079 
Employee compensation expense 122  98  —  220 
Repairs and maintenance expense 58  107  —  165 
Other segment costs of operations expense 325  146  —  471 

Total segment costs of operations 1,237  698  —  1,935 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 82  117  171  370 
Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 22  77  162  261 

Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses $ 104  $ 194  $ 333  $ 631 

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.
(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $29 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16

million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $128 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.

(a)(b)

(b)

(b)

(c)

(a)(b)

(b)
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2022 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,322  $ 1,967  $ 6,289 
Segment services and other revenues 685  12  697 
Segment revenues 5,007  1,979  6,986 
Segment site rental costs of operations 918  650  1,568 
Segment services and other costs of operations 447  9  456 
Segment costs of operations 1,365  659  2,024 
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,404  1,317  4,721 
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 238  3  241 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses 115  190  305 
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,527  1,130  4,657 
Other selling, general and administrative expenses $ 317  317 
Stock-based compensation expense, net 156  156 
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,707  1,707 
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 699  699 
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes 87  87 
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 1,691 
Capital expenditures $ 185  $ 1,058  $ 67  $ 1,310 
Total assets (at year end) $ 22,210  $ 16,010  $ 701  $ 38,921 
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127  $ 4,958  $ —  $ 10,085 

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Towers Fiber
Other Non-Segment

Items Total
Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 707  $ 321  $ —  $ 1,028 
Employee compensation expense 159  100  —  259 
Repairs and maintenance expense 56  97  —  153 
Other segment costs of operations expense 443  141  —  584 

Total segment costs of operations 1,365  659  —  2,024 
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 93  118  183  394 
Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 22  72  134  228 

Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses $ 115  $ 190  $ 317  $ 622 

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.
(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $28 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16

million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $128 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.

(a)(b)

(b)

(b)

(c)

(a)(b)

(b)
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Major Tenants

The following table summarizes the percentage of the consolidated revenues for those tenants accounting for more than 10% of the Company's
consolidated revenues.

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
T-Mobile 35 % 38 % 38 %
AT&T 19 % 19 % 18 %
Verizon Wireless 19 % 19 % 18 %
Total 73 % 76 % 74 %

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
cash equivalents and trade receivables. The Company mitigates its risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents by maintaining such deposits at high credit
quality financial institutions and monitoring the credit ratings of those institutions. The Company's restricted cash and cash equivalents are predominately held
and directed by a trustee (see note 2).

The Company derives the largest portion of its revenues from tenants in the wireless industry. The Company also has a concentration in its volume of
business with T-Mobile, AT&T and Verizon Wireless or their agents that accounts for a significant portion of the Company's revenues, receivables and deferred
site rental receivables. The Company mitigates its concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables by actively monitoring the creditworthiness of
its tenants, the use of tenant leases with contractually determinable payment terms or proactive management of past due balances.

15. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table is a summary of the supplemental cash flow information during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

  Years Ended December 31,
  2024 2023 2022
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash payments related to operating lease liabilities $ 566  $ 571  $ 560 
Interest paid 895  800  684 
Income taxes paid 17  18  10 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
ROU assets recorded in exchange for operating lease liabilities 4  12  191 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable for purchases of property and equipment (33) 36  (5)
Capitalized stock-based compensation 23  29  21 
Purchase of property and equipment under finance leases and installment land purchases 69  62  28 

(a) Excludes the Company's contingent payments pursuant to operating leases, which are recorded as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents reported within various lines on the consolidated balance sheet to
amounts reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows is shown below.

As of December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 119  $ 105  $ 156 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current 171  171  166 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents reported within other assets, net 5  5  5 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 295  $ 281  $ 327 

(a)
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16. Restructuring

2023 Restructuring Plan

In July 2023, the Company initiated the 2023 Restructuring Plan as part of its efforts to reduce costs to better align the Company's operational needs with
lower tower activity. The 2023 Restructuring Plan included reducing the Company's total employee headcount by approximately 15%, discontinuing
installation services as a Towers product offering while continuing to offer site development services on Company towers, and consolidating office space.

The 2023 Restructuring Plan included charges related to the (1) employee headcount reduction, including severance, stock-based compensation and other
one-time termination benefits and (2) office space consolidation, which included remaining obligations under facility leases and non-cash charges for
accelerated depreciation. The actions associated with the 2023 Restructuring Plan were substantially completed and related charges were recorded by June 30,
2024. The payments for the employee headcount reduction were completed in 2024, while payments for the office space consolidation are expected to be
completed in 2032. The following tables summarize the activities related to the 2023 Restructuring Plan for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023

Employee
Headcount
Reduction

Office Space
Consolidation Total

Employee
Headcount
Reduction

Office Space
Consolidation Total

Liability as of the beginning of the respective year $ 16  $ 12  $ 28  $ —  $ —  $
Charges (credits) —  9  9  63  22 
Payments (14) (12) (26) (46) (4)
Non-cash items —  (4) (4) (1) (6)
Liability as of the end of the respective year $ 2  $ 5  $ 7  $ 16  $ 12  $

2024 Restructuring Plan

In June 2024, the Company initiated the 2024 Restructuring Plan as part of its efforts to drive operational efficiencies and reduce operating costs and
capital expenditures, with a primary focus on the Company's Fiber segment. As a result, the Company announced a reduction of the Company's total employee
headcount by more than 10% and the closing of certain offices.

The 2024 Restructuring Plan includes charges related to the (1) employee headcount reduction, including severance, stock-based compensation and other
one-time termination benefits and (2) office closures, which includes remaining obligations under facility leases and non-cash charges for accelerated
depreciation. The actions associated with the 2024 Restructuring Plan were substantially completed and the related charges were recorded by December 31,
2024, while the payments are expected to be completed for the employee headcount reduction in 2025 and office closures in 2033. The Company may incur
other charges or cash expenditures not currently contemplated due to unanticipated events that may occur, including in connection with the implementation of
the 2024 Restructuring Plan.

The following table summarizes the activities related to the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Year Ended December 31, 2024
Employee Headcount

Reduction Office Space Consolidation Total

Liability as of December 31, 2023 $ —  $ —  $ — 
Charges (credits) 39  61  100 
Payments (34) (10) $ (44)
Non-cash items 4  (12) $ (8)
Liability as of December 31, 2024 $ 9  $ 39  $ 48 

As of December  31, 2024, the liability for restructuring charges is included in "Other accrued liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the
consolidated balance sheet, and the corresponding expense is included in "Restructuring charges" on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss).

93



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The Company does not allocate restructuring charges between its operating segments. If charges related to the Restructuring Plans were allocated to
operating segments, for the year ended December  31, 2024, $13  million and $64  million of the aforementioned charge would have been allocated to the
Company's Towers and Fiber segments, respectively, with the remaining $32 million allocated to Other. Similarly, for the year ended December 31, 2023,
$44  million and $18  million of the aforementioned charge would have been allocated to the Company's Towers and Fiber segment, respectively, with the
remaining $23 million allocated to Other.

17. Subsequent Events

Common Stock Dividend

On February 26, 2025, the Company's board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $1.565 per common share. The quarterly dividend will be
payable on March 31, 2025, to common stockholders of record as of March 14, 2025.

Strategic Fiber Transaction

On March 13, 2025, the Company signed the Strategic Fiber Agreement to sell its Fiber Business, with Zayo acquiring the fiber solutions business and
EQT acquiring the small cell business. Under the Strategic Fiber Agreement, the Company will receive $8.5 billion in aggregate, subject to certain closing
adjustments. The Fiber Business did not meet the criteria for assets held for sale as of December 31, 2024, and therefore remains presented as a component of
continuing operations. In subsequent periods, the Fiber Business will be presented as a discontinued operation, and its net assets will be classified as held for
sale and comparable prior periods will be recast to reflect this change. Upon classification as held for sale in the first quarter of 2025, the Company expects to
recognize a loss of between $700 million and $800 million, inclusive of estimated transaction fees. This Strategic Fiber transaction is expected to close in the
first half of 2026, subject to certain closing conditions and regulatory approvals.
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Crown Castle Management Biographies  
 
Daniel K. Schlanger – Director and Interim President and Chief Executive Officer 
Daniel K. Schlanger was appointed interim President and Chief Executive Officer of Crown Castle 
in March 2025. He joined Crown Castle in April 2016 and most recently served as Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer—responsible for planning, implementing and managing 
Crown Castle’s corporate finance operations. Before joining Crown Castle, Dan served as Senior 
Vice President of Global Products at Exterran Corporation, where he was responsible for global 
product strategy development and implementation. From 2009 to 2015, Dan held various 
leadership roles with Exterran Holdings, Inc. and Exterran GP LLC. Before those roles, he was 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Exterran GP LLC and also served as a director 
of Exterran GP LLC’s board of directors from October 2006 through November 2015. Earlier in 
his career, he worked as an investment banker with Merrill Lynch & Co. where he focused on 
mergers and acquisitions and capital markets transactions in the energy sector. Dan holds a BS in 
economics from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. 
 
Edward B. Adams, Jr. – Director and Executive Vice President and General Counsel 
Teddy Adams was appointed Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Crown Castle in 
February 2023, and he is responsible for Crown Castle’s legal, tax and policy team. Prior to this 
role, Teddy served as the Senior Vice President of Legal. Since joining in 2016, he has focused on 
improving time and cost of building communications infrastructure by leading teams that interact 
with utilities and governmental entities as well as managing teams that resolve legal disputes. In 
those roles, Teddy had responsibility for Crown Castle’s government affairs and litigation teams 
and the groups providing legal support for real estate, utility, zoning and permitting issues. Prior 
to Crown Castle, he was a partner at the Norton Rose Fulbright law firm. Teddy holds a BA in 
Economics and Sociology from Rice University and a JD from Stanford Law. 
 
Sunit S. Patel – Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   
Mr. Patel served on the Crown Castle Board of Directors from January 2024 to March 2025. He 
previously served as Chief Financial Officer of Ibotta Inc., a North American cashback rewards 
and mobile technology platform. Mr. Patel has more than 25 years of executive leadership, 
including 15 years as a public telecommunications company CFO. In 2000, Mr. Patel co-founded 
Looking Glass Networks Inc., a facilities-based provider of metropolitan telecommunication 
transport services and served as its CFO until 2003. From 2003 to 2018, Mr. Patel served as EVP 
and CFO of CenturyLink, now Lumen, a role he held for over 14 years at Level 3 prior to its 2017 
merger with CenturyLink. From 2018 to 2020, Mr. Patel served as EVP, Merger and Integration 
at T-Mobile, where he led T-Mobile's strategic planning efforts to integrate its business with Sprint 
following the companies' $26.5 billion merger. Mr. Patel holds a BS degree in Chemical 
Engineering and Economics from Rice University and is a Chartered Financial Analyst. 
 
Christopher D. Levendos – Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer ‒ Fiber 
Chris Levendos was appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer-Fiber, 
effective January 2024. Prior to this, Mr. Levendos served as Executive Vice President and Chief 
Operating Officer (overseeing both segments) from November 2023 to January 2024, Interim 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer – Towers from October 2023 to November 
2023, and Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer-Fiber from December 2020 to 



November 2023, responsible for the management of Crown Castle’s small cell and fiber 
operations. Prior to this, he served as Vice President of Network Engineering and Operations. Mr. 
Levendos is a leading force in driving innovation in network deployment with more than 30 years 
of experience operating and leading large fiber network organizations, previously serving at 
Frontier, Google and Verizon. Beginning his career at Verizon as a field technician, Mr. Levendos 
progressed through a series of operational and engineering roles over 26 years concluding as the 
Region President for Verizon’s New York City Operations. He holds a BA from SUNY-
Plattsburgh, a MS degree from New York University and a MS degree from Stevens Institute of 
Technology. Mr. Levendos serves on the boards for the Regional Planning Association (RPA), the 
Association for a Better New York (ABNY), INCOMPAS and is a member of the President’s 
Leadership Council at Stevens Institute of Technology. 
 
Donald J. Reid – Secretary 
Donald Reid is Crown Castle’s Associate General Counsel and Corporate Secretary. He has been 
with Crown Castle since February 2000. Prior to joining Crown Castle, Donald was an associate 
at Haynes and Boone, LLP. Donald obtained his JD from Georgetown University Law Center and 
his BS in Accounting from Boston College. 
 
Scott Zahorchak – Vice President ‒ Tax  
Scott Zahorchak is an experienced tax professional currently serving as Vice President of Tax at 
Crown Castle since April 2019. Previously, Scott held the position of Vice President of Taxes at 
Arconic from November 2016 to March 2019, and served as Director of International Tax at Alcoa 
from 2004 to October 2016. Early in their career, Scott worked at Ernst & Young LLP as a Senior 
Manager from September 1996 to December 2004. Scott holds a JD degree from Case Western 
Reserve University School of Law and BBA in Accounting from Kent State University. 
 
Mike Manczka – Vice President ‒ Operational Finance and Accounting 
Mike Manczka is Crown Castle’s Vice President – Operational Finance and Accounting. He has 
been with Crown Castle since November 2003. Previously, Mike was a senior audit manager at 
KPMG US. He obtained his BS in Economics from Allegheny College. 
 
Robert S. Collins – Vice President and Corporate Controller 
Robert Collins is Crown Castle’s Vice President and Corporate Controller. He has been with 
Crown Castle since December 2016. Previously, Robert was Vice President and Controller of 
Alcoa, Inc. from February 2005 to December 2016.Robert also worked at PWC as a Director from 
March 2000 to January 2005 and Senior Manager from July 1991 to February 2000.. Robert 
obtained his Master of Science in Accounting and Finance and Bachelor of Commerce in General 
Business Administration and Management from the University of Virginia. 
 
Kristoffer Hinson – Vice President ‒ Corporate Finance and Treasurer 
Kristoffer Hinson currently serves as Vice President of Corporate Finance and Treasurer at Crown 
Castle, overseeing Investor Relations, Strategic Planning, and Treasury functions since June 2023. 
Prior to this role, Kristoffer held various positions at ExxonMobil from August 2010 to July 2023, 
including Director of Investor Relations, where responsibility included leading the Investor 
Relations team for quarterly earnings calls and investor communications. Additional roles at 
ExxonMobil encompassed Managing Director of ExxonMobil Czech Republic, EAME Credit 



Manager, and various treasury and financial analysis positions. Earlier professional experience 
included roles at Ford Motor Company as a Securitization Analyst and Production Analyst. 
Kristoffer holds an MBA from Harvard Business School and a BA in Economics from Harvard 
University. 
 
Inge Pasman – Assistant Secretary 
Inge Pasman is Crown Castle’s Assistant Corporate Secretary and Senior Attorney. She has been 
with Crown Castle since 2016. Inge obtained her JD from University of Houston Law Center and 
her BS in English Language and Literature from Texas A&M University. 
 
Sophie Truong – Assistant Secretary        
Sophie Truong is Crown Castle’s Assistant Corporate Secretary. She has been with Crown Castle 
as an attorney since November 2024. Prior to joining Crown Castle, Sophie was a corporate 
specialist at King & Spalding and Global Corporate Governance Manager at Getty Images. She 
obtained her JD from the University of Houston Law Center and BS in Psychology from the 
University of Houston.  
 
Deborah Kelly - Tax Officer 
Deborah Kelly is an experienced tax professional currently serving as Crown Castle’s Tax Officer 
and Director Transactional Tax. She began with Crown Castle in September 2008 where she has 
served in various roles within income and transaction tax. Prior to joining Crown Castle, Deborah 
was with PWC where she focused on accounting for income tax. Deborah received her Master of 
Science in Taxation from Golden Gate University and Bachelor of Science in Business 
Administration Accounting from West Virginia University. 
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Small Cells HoldCo Inc. Biographies

Marni Walden – Director
Marni Walden is a seasoned executive with extensive leadership experience in the 
telecommunications industry, including nearly two decades at Verizon Communications. As 
Executive Vice President and President of Global Media and New Business at Verizon, she led 
initiatives spanning wireless, media, telematics, and emerging technologies. Her strategic direction 
was instrumental in Verizon’s expansion into digital content and advertising, including the 
integration of AOL and Yahoo. Known for driving innovation and business transformation, Ms. 
Walden brings a forward-thinking approach to technology and operations. She currently serves on 
several corporate boards, including Draftkings, Tranformco, and Persado, contributing deep 
expertise in digital transformation and strategic growth. Marni has been an advisor to EQT since 
2025.

Gerard Ainsztein – Director
Gerard Ainsztein is a senior executive with over 20 years of experience leading financial,
operational, and strategic growth initiatives across the telecom, real estate, and financial services 
sectors. He served as Senior Vice President at American Tower Corporation, where he had full 
P&L responsibility for a $2.5 billion business unit, delivering consistent EBITDA growth through 
both organic and acquisition strategies. Mr. Ainsztein has advised private equity firms on billion- 
dollar telecommunications investments and is recognized for his ability to scale businesses, 
streamline operations, and drive innovation. He remains active in community leadership and 
currently sits on multiple nonprofit boards focused on education and youth empowerment. Gerard 
has been an advisor to EQT since 2025.

Timothy G. Biltz – Director
Timothy G. Biltz is an accomplished telecommunications executive with over three decades of 
leadership experience spanning infrastructure, wireless, and broadband services. Most recently, he 
served as Chief Executive Officer of Lumos Networks, where he led the company’s transformation 
into a leading fiber-based network provider. Prior to that, Mr. Biltz held senior roles at companies 
including Electric Lightwave, McLeodUSA, and Vanguard Cellular Systems, where he drove 
strategic growth, operational efficiencies, and successful M&A activities. With a proven track 
record of delivering shareholder value, he currently serves on several corporate boards including 
Ntelos, Revol Wireless and Yap, and brings deep expertise in network deployment, digital 
infrastructure, and organizational strategy. Timothy has been an advisor to EQT since 2021.



 

 
 

EXHIBIT E 
 

EQT Financial Statement 

 

 
 



#02

Financial statements

	 51	 Board of directors’ report
	 54	 Consolidated financial statements with notes
	 89	 Parent company financial statements with notes
	 97	 Proposal for the distribution of net income
	 98	 Managing risks
	 105	 Signatures of the board of directors and the CEO
	 106	 Auditor’s report

#01 This is EQT #03 Sustainability notes

 

#04 Corporate governance #05 Additional information#02 Financial statements



50

#01 This is EQT #03 Sustainability notes #04 Corporate governance #05 Additional information

 

#02 Financial statements

Contents

	 #02 
	 51	 Board of directors’ report
	 54	 Financial statements
	 54	 Consolidated income statement 
	 54	� Consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income
	 55	 Consolidated balance sheet
	 56	 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	 57	 Consolidated statement of cash flows

	 58	 Notes to the financial statements �  Note
	 58	 General information �  1
	 58	 Accounting policies �  2
	 61	 Use of judgements and estimates �  3
	 62	 Operating segments �  4
	 64	 Revenue �  5
	 64	 Other operating expenses �  6
	 65	� Employees, senior executives  

and board of directors �  7
	 70	 Audit fees and expenses �  8
	 70	 Financial income and expenses �  9
	 71	 Income taxes �  10
	 72	 Intangible assets �  11
	 73	 Property, plant and equipment �  12
	 73	 Accounts receivable and other current  
		  assets�  13
	 73	� Equity�  14
	 75	 Interest bearing liabilities �  15
	 75	� Other liabilities �  16
	 75	 Accrued expenses and prepaid income�  17

	 75	� Financial instruments and financial risks � 18
	 79	� Leases �  19
	 80	� Cash flow specifications �  20
	 80	 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities �  21
	 80	� Events after the reporting period �  22
	 81	� Related parties �  23
	 81	 Subsidiaries �  24
	 85	� Earnings per share �  25
	 86	 Changes in accounting policy 
		  regarding carried interest �  26

	 89	 Parent company financial statements
	 89	� Parent company income statement
	 90	� Parent company balance sheet
	 91	� Parent company statement of changes in 

equity
	 92	� Parent company statement of cash flows

	 93 	 Parent company notes	 Note
	 93	� Accounting policies �  1
	 94	� Revenue�  2
	 94	� Other operating income �  3
	 94	� Other operating expenses �   4
	 94	� Employees and personnel expenses �   5
 	 94	� Audit fees and expenses �   6
	 94	� Operating leases �  7
	 94	 Profit/loss from participations in  
		  subsidiaries �   8

	 95	� Interest income and similar profit/loss  
items �   9

	 95	 Interest expense and similar profit/loss  
		  items �  10
	 95	� Income taxes�  11
	 95	� Property, plant and equipment �  12
	 95	 Participations in subsidiaries �  13
	 96	�� Other securities held as non-current  

asset �  14
	 96	 Financial instruments and financial risks �   15
	 97	 Other long-term receivables �  16
	 97	� Prepaid expenses and accrued income �  17
	 97	� Revolving credit facility �  18
	 97	� Number of shares and quota value �  19
	 97	� Interest bearing liabilities �  20
	 97	� Accrued expenses and prepaid income �  21
	 97	� Pledged assets and contingent liabilities �  22
	 97	� Related parties  �  23
	 97	� Events after the reporting period �  24

	 97	 Proposal for the distribution of net income 
	 98	 Managing risks 
	 105 	 Signatures of the Board of directors  
		  and the CEO 
	 106	 Auditor’s report



The Board of directors and the CEO of EQT AB (publ) 
(reg. no. 556849-4180) with its registered office in 
Stockholm, Sweden submit the annual report and 
consolidated financial statements for the 2024 financial 
year.

REVENUES AND NET INCOME
As of 1 January 2024, EQT has, in accordance with IAS 8, 
changed accounting principles relating to IFRS Account-
ing Standards reported carried interest, see Note 26. 
The principles for Adjusted Revenue is unchanged 
compared to prior periods, whereby carried interest is 
only recognized after applying a valuation buffer 
(30-50%) on the unrealized part of the underlying fund 
valuations, see Note 4. 

Total revenue for the period increased to EUR 
2,652.6m (EUR 2,122.4m). Carried interest and invest-
ment income amounted to EUR 548.7m (156.3m). 
Adjusted total revenue amounted to EUR 2,354.8m 
(EUR 2,130.8m). In addition to the revenue adjustments 
(see Note 4), Adjusted total revenue has been adjusted 
with an item affecting comparability (see Note 4) 
relating to the revaluation of certain Multifamily invest-
ments made with the support of EQT’s balance sheet, 
see section “Significant events during the year”. 

Impact on adjusted revenues from foreign exchange 
rate differences (using fixed foreign exchange rates), 
amounted to negative EUR 1.0m. 

Total operating expenses during the year amounted 
to EUR 1,328.6m (EUR 1,391.4m). 

EBITDA increased to EUR 1,324.0m (EUR 731.0m) 
corresponding to a margin of 49.9% (34.4%). Adjusted 
EBITDA amounted to EUR 1,358.7m (EUR 1,226.4m) 
corresponding to a margin of 57.7% (57.6%). 

Impact on adjusted EBITDA from foreign exchange 
rate differences (using fixed foreign exchange rates), 
amounted to negative EUR 4.0m.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 
EUR 71.2m (EUR 54.1m), primarily related to facility 
lease agreements and placement agent fees. Amortiza-
tion of acquisition related intangible assets amounted to 
EUR 364.8m (EUR 364.1m) and relates to amortization of 
identified surplus values in performed acquisitions. 

Net financial income and expenses amounted to 
EUR 11.2m (EUR -35.5m). In addition to the change in 
fair value of contingent considerations (earn-out) 
relating to Multifamily (see section “Significant events 
during the year”) that is treated as an Item affecting 
comparability of EUR 15.7m this is primarily comprised 
of interest expenses of EUR -42.2m (EUR -42.2m) relat-
ing to the sustainability-linked bonds issued by EQT AB 
in April 2022 and May 2021, interest income as well as 
currency translation differences. 

Income taxes amounted to EUR -122.9m (EUR 
-100.2m). The income tax expense included EUR 1.2m 
(EUR -m) of estimated Global Minimum Tax which was 
attributable to the EQT AB Group’s earnings in Singa-
pore, see section “Significant events during the year”.

Net income for the period from continuing opera-
tions increased to EUR 776.3m (EUR 177.2m). Adjustment 
items affecting net income from continuing operations, 

including tax effects, amounted to EUR 338.8m 
(EUR 842.2m). Adjusted net income for the period from 
continuing operations amounted to EUR 1,115.1m 
(EUR 1,019.4m). 

Earnings per share for continuing operations before 
and after dilution amounted to EUR 0.656 (EUR 0.149) 
and EUR 0.656 (EUR 0.149), respectively. Adjusted 
earnings per share for continuing operations before 
and after dilution amounted to EUR 0.942 (EUR 0.860) 
and EUR 0.942 (EUR 0.859), respectively. 

Adjustment items affecting EBITDA in 2024 (see 
Note 4) amounted to EUR 34.7m and relates to:

	— Revenue adjustments, whereby carried interest is 
only recognized after applying a valuation buffer 
(30-50%) on the unrealized part of the underlying 
fund valuations.

	— Non-cash adjustments, which relates to the part of 
the acquisition considerations subject to lock-up as 
well as the non-cash portion of equity incentive 
program cost. The part of the considerations subject 
to lock-up is treated as a personnel expense from an 
accounting perspective and recorded in the income 
statement over the lock-up period.

	— Items affecting comparability, which in 2024 includes 
an adjustment of the associated cost and the 
revaluation of certain investments relating to US 
Multifamily (see section “Significant events during the 
year”) as well as integration costs relating to 
previously performed acquisitions.

 Adjustment items affecting EBITDA in 2023 (see 
Note 4) amounted to EUR 495.4m and relates to:

	—  Revenue adjustments, whereby carried interest is 
only recognized after applying a valuation buffer 
(30-50%) on the unrealized part of the underlying 
fund valuations.

	— Non-cash adjustments which relates to the part of 
the acquisition considerations subject to lock-up as 
well as the non-cash portion of equity incentive 
program cost. The part of the considerations subject 
to lock-up is treated as a personnel expense from an 
accounting perspective and recorded in the income 
statement over the lock-up period. 

	— Items affecting comparability in 2023 include 
integration costs as a result of performed acquisi-
tions. 

CASH FLOW AND FINANCIAL POSITION
Goodwill and Other intangible assets amounted to EUR 
5,163.8m (EUR 5,280.3m). The decrease of EUR 116.5m is 
mainly driven by amortization and exchange rate 
differences. 

Property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 
251.8m (EUR 171.5m). 

Current assets amounted to EUR 5,953.5m (EUR 
5,042.0m). The increase is mainly driven by an increase 
in Financial investments including carried interest which 
increased by EUR 1,263.4m to EUR 4,302.3m (EUR 
3,038.9m) primarily driven by increased investments 
from EQT AB Group into EQT funds, strategic invest-
ments to support new initiatives and fair value increase 
relating to carried interest, see Note 18. 
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Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 
amounted to EUR 1,024.0m (EUR 1,114.0m). Net debt 
amounted to EUR 976.0m (EUR 886.0m in net debt).

Equity increased to EUR 8,096.0m (EUR 7,415.8m). 
The increase is mainly explained by current period net 
income. 

Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 2,515.8m 
(EUR 2,472.9m).  

Current liabilities amounted to EUR 869.3m 
(EUR 731.8m).

EXPECTATIONS FOR 2025  
In 2025, EQT will continue fundraising for its flagship 
funds within certain strategies, including EQT Infra-
structure VI and BPEA IX. EQT will also continue fund-
raising for newly launched strategies, such as EQT 
Healthcare Growth and EQT Transition Infrastructure. 

EQT continues to build its private wealth platform by 
introducing new strategies, engaging with distributors 
and strengthening EQT’s brand. During 2025, EQT 
expects to launch three additional evergreen vehicles, 
and thereby have five evergreen vehicles available for 
Private Wealth. 

In 2025, EQT will continue to make thematic invest-
ments, and drive performance across the EQT funds’ 
portfolio companies, while maintaining a rigorous focus 
on exits. 

PERSONNEL 
The number of full-time equivalent employees (FTE), at 
year-end 2024, amounted to 1,886 (1,777). New hires in 
2024 were made to strengthen the capital raising 
platform as well as the investment teams to enable 
scalable future growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR
Significant events and transactions

Accounting standards
As of 1 January 2024, EQT accounts for the entire invest-
ment, including carried interest, as a financial instru-
ment in accordance with IFRS 9 at fair value in the 
balance sheet. The fair value changes will continue to 
be presented as Carried interest and investment income 
in the consolidated income statement.

The impact of this change on historical periods is 
presented in Note 26.

In addition, EQT will (unchanged compared to prior 
periods) continue to report Adjusted Revenue whereby 
carried interest is only recognized after applying a 
valuation buffer (30-50%) on the unrealized part of the 
underlying fund valuations.

As a result, EQT will provide a highly transparent 
carried interest reporting including:

	— The short-term impact of fund valuation changes 
(Reported Revenue according to IFRS Accounting 
Standards)

	— The amount of carried interest expected to be 
converted to cash in a mid term perspective 
(Adjusted Revenue). See further in Note 4

	— The actual cash flows relating to carried interest 
(realized (cash) carried interest)

EQT Exeter 
EQT Exeter, which will operate under the EQT Real 
Estate brand going forward, will continue to focus 
primarily on industrial (logistics) real estate. The US 
Multifamily fund initiative has been discontinued, and 
the associated costs such as redundancies and the 
revaluations of certain investments made with the 
support of EQT’s balance sheet - totaling approximately 
EUR 80m net of tax - are reported in the period as an 
item affecting comparability (see Note 4). EQT Real 

Estate has also decided not to pursue further invest-
ments in the office and life sciences property sector for 
the time being.

Tax
During 2024 the Swedish Tax Agency issued draft 
decisions to EQT proposing to levy social security 
charges on carried interest distributions made to 
certain current and former EQT employees for certain 
historical periods and EQT funds. EQT and the relevant 
individuals have filed taxes in accordance with existing 
case law and any decision levying social security 
charges in this regard will be appealed and tried in 
court. This matter relates to historical periods and is not 
expected to have a material impact for EQT AB Group. 
For further information see section “Events after the 
reporting period”. 

Throughout 2024, the Global Minimum Tax (GMT) 
legislation and related OECD guidance have been 
subject to continuous development. Estimated tax 
expenses during the period associated with the GMT 
rules amounted to EUR 1.2m. In relative terms, this level 
of top-up tax is representative of the estimated impact 
of the GMT rules in the short to medium term, subject to 
further developments of the rules. 

EQT applies the exception to recognizing and 
disclosing information about deferred tax assets and 
liabilities related to Global Minimum Tax, as provided in 
the amendments to IAS 12 issued in May 2023.

Fundraising
During the period, EQT X closed at EUR 22bn in total 
commitments, of which EUR 21.7bn are fee-generating 
assets under management, hitting the hard cap. EQT’s 
Private Capital strategies across the world have com-
pleted fundraises in 2024 that combine to more than 
EUR 30bn in total commitments. 

EQT Infrastructure VI had fee-generating commit-
ments of EUR 18.lbn. The fund is expected to reach its 

target size upon its final close in the first quarter of 
2025.

Balance sheet and liquidity
As previously communicated, EQT expects to execute 
share buyback programs twice a year to offset the 
dilution impact from EQT’s Incentive Programs. EQT 
repurchased 4.2m shares during the year.

On 10 July 2024, EQT extended its existing EUR 1.5 
billion sustainability-linked revolving credit facility 
(RCF) for 5 years, with two 1-year extension options. 
The RCF was originally signed on 21 December 2020 
and increased to EUR 1.5 billion on 25 April 2022.

On 10 July 2024, S&P Global Ratings assigned EQT a 
credit rating of ‘A-’ with a stable outlook, reflecting 
EQT’s operational strength and robust financial posi-
tion. The rating complements the existing rating from 
Fitch (A-/ Stable).

INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 
EQT 2019 Share program
The last grant of the EQT Share program (established in 
2019) was done in March 2023. Each annual grant 
consisted of amounts to be converted to class C shares 
in EQT AB. All class C shares allotted are subject to a 
three-year holding period, with no vesting conditions, 
after which the class C shares are converted into 
ordinary shares. The class C shares carry the same 
economic rights as ordinary shares in the company and 
carry one-tenth (0.1) vote each. During 2019, a share 
issue of 8,663,490 class C shares was carried out and 
subsequently repurchased for the purpose of delivering 
class C shares within the scope of the share program. 
Participants were allotted a total of 1,595,067 class C 
shares during 2020-2023: 365,406 class C shares in 
2020 (2019 grant), 348,106 class C shares in 2021 (2020 
grant), 385,499 class C shares in 2022 (2021 grant), and 
496,056 class C shares in 2023 (2022 grant). 
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EQT 2023 Share program
The EQT Share Program (established in 2023) consists 
of ordinary shares in EQT AB. The Program is divided 
into five separate annual grants, each subject to a 
one-year performance period and a three-year holding 
period. Depending on the achievement of certain 
performance targets during the performance year, an 
amount may be awarded which after the performance 
period is settled in the total number of outstanding 
shares in EQT AB that corresponds to the amount 
awarded. With certain limited exceptions, no vesting 
conditions apply during the three-year holding period. 
Based on the number of shares as of 31 December 2022, 
the maximum dilution for the EQT Share Program is one 
percent in total. EQT intends, over time, to repurchase 
shares to offset the dilution related to the EQT Share 
Program. Performance in relation to targets for 
Adjusted Revenue growth, Adjusted EBITDA margin and 
a sustainability assessment has resulted in a gross 
share grant level of EUR 44.0m, of which EUR 21.2m was 
cash cost. In relation to the 2023 grant, 631,547 ordinary 
shares were allotted to the participants in the beginning 
of 2024.

EQT 2023 Option program
The EQT Option Program (established in 2023) consists 
of options which upon exercise entitle the option holders 
to acquire ordinary shares in EQT AB. The Program is 
divided into five separate annual grants, each subject 
to a one-year performance period and a three-year 
holding period. Depending on the achievement of 
certain performance targets during the performance 
year, an amount may be awarded which after the 
performance period is settled in the number of options 
that corresponds to the amount awarded. With certain 
limited exceptions, no vesting conditions apply during 
the three-year holding period. The option exercise 

period commences after the holding period. Based on 
the number of shares as of 31 December 2022, the 
maximum dilution for the EQT Option Program is four 
percent in total. EQT intends, over time, to repurchase 
shares to offset the dilution related to the EQT Option 
Program. Total grant level for EQT Option program 
recognized in 2024 was EUR 59.7m of which none was 
cash cost. In relation to the 2023 grant, 4,430,306 
employee stock options were allotted to the participants 
in the beginning of 2024.

RELATED PARTIES
No significant related party transactions have occurred 
during the period.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
In January 2025 the Swedish Tax Agency issued deci-
sions to EQT levying social security charges on carried 
interest distributions to individuals. The decisions, which 
are in line with the draft decisions previously issued, 
have been appealed by EQT and will be tried in court. 
This matter relates to historical periods and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the EQT AB 
Group.

In February 2025, Per Franzén was appointed as 
new CEO and Managing Partner of EQT, effective as of 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 May 2025. 
Christian Sinding will remain as CEO and Managing 
Partner during the transition period and thereafter 
become an Institutional Partner. Christian will Chair the 
EQT Council and continue to lead the Global Investment 
Forum and remain a member of several EQT fund 
Investment Committees. 

PARENT COMPANY
The parent company’s profit before tax amounted to 
SEK 5,053.6m (SEK 5,211.3m). The decrease is mainly 
explained by a timing effect of dividends from subsidi-
aries as well as currency translation differences.

THE SHARE 
EQT AB’s ordinary shares are listed on Nasdaq 
Stockholm in the Large Cap segment. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2024, there were 1,181,330,760 outstanding shares in 
EQT AB and EQT AB held 60,676,207 ordinary shares in 
treasury. Including shares held in treasury by EQT AB, 
there were 1,241,125,412 ordinary shares and 881,555 
non-listed class C shares. Ordinary shares carry 1 vote 
per share and class C shares carry 0.1 vote per share. 
The quota value of the shares is SEK 0.1. See Note 14 for 
further information. 

In addition to what is disclosed in Note 14 there are 
no restrictions on the transferability of shares due to 
statutory provisions, articles of association or, as far as 
EQT AB is aware, in shareholders agreements.

For information regarding changes in EQT’s share 
capital and lock ups entered into, please refer to the 
heading “Events after the reporting period” and 
“Restrictions on transferability above”.

SUSTAINABILITY 
In accordance with Chapter 6, Section 11 of the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act, EQT has elected to prepare the 
statutory sustainability report separately from the 
Board of directors’ report. The scope of the statutory 
sustainability report is given on page 111.

GUIDELINES FOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION 
(REMUNERATION POLICY)
The guidelines for executive remuneration approved by
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 2024 are presented
in Note 7. During 2024, there were no deviations from
the guidelines.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
EQT prepares its Corporate Governance Report as a 
separate document from the statutory annual report. 
Please see page 172.

PROPOSAL FOR THE DISTRIBUTION  
OF NET INCOME
The Board of directors proposes a dividend for 2024 of 
SEK 4.30 per share, to be paid out in two equal install-
ments, SEK 2.15 with record date 30 May 2025, and SEK 
2.15 with record date 1 December 2025. Should the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting decide in favor of the 
proposal, payment of the dividend is expected to be 
made on 4 June 2025 and on 4 December 2025, respec-
tively.

Holders of ordinary shares and Class C shares are 
equally entitled to dividend. The dividend will be based on 
the number of shares outstanding as of each record date. 

Standing at the disposal (in SEK) of the annual 
shareholders’ meeting, in accordance with the balance 
sheet of EQT AB:

Share premium reserve 58,703,698,468
Profit brought forward 142,596,937
Net income 5,033,944,911
Total 63,880,240,316

The board proposes that, following approval of the 
balance sheet of EQT AB for the financial year 2024, the 
annual shareholders’ meeting should distribute the 
earnings as follows:

Dividend to shareholders:
SEK 4.30 per share 5,079,722,2681)

Retained earnings 58,800,518,048
Total 63,880,240,316

1) �Based on the number of outstanding shares at 31 December 2024. The amount 
of the dividend may change up until each record date.

It is the Board’s opinion that the proposed dividend is 
justifiable taking into consideration the demands that 
the nature, scope and risks of EQT’s operations place on 
the size of EQT AB’s and EQT AB Group’s equity, and 
EQT AB’s and EQT AB Group’s consolidation needs, 
liquidity and financial position in general.
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Consolidated income statement
1 January — 31 December 

EUR m Note 2024 2023 restated
Management fees 5 2,104.0 1,966.1
Carried interest and investment income 5, 18 548.7 156.3
Total revenue 2,652.6 2,122.4

Personnel expenses 7 –843.8 –705.3
Acquisition related personnel expenses 7 –228.0 –436.4
Other operating expenses 6, 8 –256.8 –249.7
Total operating expenses –1,328.6 –1,391.4
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 1,324.0 731.0

Depreciation and amortization 5, 11, 12 –71.2 –54.1
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets –364.8 –364.1
Operating profit (EBIT) 888.0 312.8

Net financial income and expenses 9 11.2 –35.5
whereof change in fair value of contingent consideration 15.7 —

Profit before income tax (EBT) 899.2 277.4

Income taxes 10 –122.9 –100.2
Net income for the period from continuing operations 776.3 177.2

Net income for the period from discontinued operations – –9.3
Net income 776.3 167.9

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent company 776.3 167.9
Non-controlling interests — —

776.3 167.9

EARNINGS PER SHARE, EUR 25
before dilution 0.656 0.142

of which continued operations 0.656 0.149
after dilution 0.656 0.142

of which continued operations 0.656 0.149

AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES
before dilution 1,183,153,914 1,185,754,323
after dilution 1,184,166,399 1,186,434,306

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
1 January — 31 December

EUR m 2024 2023 restated
Net income 776.3 167.9

Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences net of tax 309.1 –229.7
Other comprehensive income for the period  309.1  –229.7
Total comprehensive income for the period 1,085.4 –61.8

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent company 1,085.4 –61.8
Non-controlling interests — —

1,085.4 –61.8
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EUR m Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11 2,222.0 2,132.6
Other intangible assets 11 2,941.7 3,147.7
Property, plant and equipment 12 251.8 171.5
Other financial assets 18 10.1 16.7
Other non-current assets 5 29.3 17.8

Deferred tax assets 10 72.7 92.1
Total non-current assets 5,527.6 5,578.4

Current assets
Current tax assets 20.2 30.5
Accounts receivable and other current assets 13, 18 337.9 343.7
Financial investments incl carried interest 18 4,302.3 3,038.9
Acquisition related prepaid personnel expenses 135.2 344.7
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 133.9 170.2
Cash and cash equivalents 1,024.0 1,114.0
Total current assets 5,953.5 5,042.0
Total assets 11,481.1 10,620.4

EUR m Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 restated

Equity and liabilities
Equity 14
Share capital 11.8 11.8
Other paid in capital 5,593.2 5,593.2
Reserves –140.8 –450.0
Retained earnings including net income 2,631.6 2,260.5
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company 8,096.0 7,415.8
Non-controlling interest – –
Total equity 8,096.0 7,415.8

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 15, 19 2,020.5 2,020.8
Lease liabilities 15, 19 161.3 91.2
Deferred tax liabilities 10 334.1 360.8
Total non-current liabilities 2,515.8 2,472.9

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15, 19 41.2 34.3
Current tax liabilities 57.8 50.6
Accounts payable 18 7.7 12.2
Other liabilities 16 125.6 114.2
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 5, 17 637.0 520.5
Total current liabilities 869.3 731.8
Total liabilities 3,385.2 3,204.6
Total equity and liabilities 11,481.1 10,620.4
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Attributable to owners of the parent company

EUR m
Share 

 capital

Other  
paid in  
capital

Translation 
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Total  
equity

Non- 
controlling  

interest
Total 

equity

Opening balance at 1.1.2024 11.8 5,593.2 –450.0 2,260.5 7,415.8 — 7,415.8

Total comprehensive income for the period
Net income 776.3 776.3 — 776.3
Other comprehensive income for the period 309.1 309.1 — 309.1
Total comprehensive income for the period — — 309.1 776.3 1,085.4 — 1,085.4

Transactions with owners 
of the parent company
Dividends –373.4 –373.4 — –373.4
Cancelling of C shares –0.0 0.0 — — —
Bonus issue 0.0 –0.0 — — —
Equity incentive programs 86.1 86.1 — 86.1
Repurchase of own shares  
and/or participations –117.9 –117.9 — –117.9
Total transactions with owners of  
the parent company — — — –405.2 –405.2 — –405.2
Closing balance at 31.12.2024 11.8 5,593.2 –140.8 2,631.6 8,096.0 — 8,096.0

Attributable to owners of the parent company

EUR m
Share 

 capital

Other  
paid in  
capital

Translation 
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Total  
equity

Non- 
controlling  

interest
Total 

equity

Opening balance at 1.1.2023 11.2 5,593.2 –220.4 1,014.7 6,398.7 — 6,398.7

Restatement 1,374.2 1,374.2 1,374.2

Restated opening balance at 1.1.2023 11.2 5,593.2 –220.4 2,388.9 7,772.9 — 7,772.9

Total comprehensive income for the period
Net income 167.9 167.9 — 167.9
Other comprehensive income for the period –229.7 –229.7 — –229.7
Total comprehensive income for the period — — –229.7 167.9 –61.8 — –61.8

Transactions with owners  
of the parent company
Dividends –298.5 –298.5 — –298.5
Share issue 0.5 — 0.5 — 0.5
Cancelling of C shares –0.0 0.0 — — —
Bonus issue 0.0 –0.0 — — —
Equity incentive programs 40.6 40.6 — 40.6
Repurchase of own shares  
and/or participations –38.0 –38.0 — –38.0
Total transactions with owners of  
the parent company 0.5 – — –295.8 –295.3 — –295.3
Restated closing balance at 31.12.2023 11.8 5,593.2 –450.0 2,260.5 7,415.8 — 7,415.8
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Consolidated statement of cash flows

EUR m Note 2024 2023 restated
Cash flows operating activities 20

Operating profit (EBIT), continuing operations 888.0 312.8

Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 436.0 418.2
Changes in fair value –548.7 –156.3
Foreign currency translation differences 22.1 –15.0
Other non-cash adjustments 321.2 479.5

Investments in financial investments incl carried interest 18 –865.0 –208.3
Proceeds from disposals of financial investments incl carried interest 18 275.6 283.3
Increase (–) /decrease (+) in accounts receivable and other receivables –30.4 –121.5
Increase (+) /decrease (–) in accounts payable and other payables 95.5 17.6
Income taxes paid –130.3 –105.3
Net cash from operating activities 463.9 905.0

Cash flows investing activities
Investment in intangible assets — –0.5
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment –17.5 –23.1
Interest received 44.5 24.3
Final earn-out divestment Credit — 11.2
Investment in non-current assets –28.7 –11.0
Net cash from (+) / used in (–) investing activities –1.7 0.9

EUR m Note 2024 2023 restated
Cash flows financing activities
Dividends paid –372.7 –298.4
Payment of lease liabilities –38.6 –31.6
Interest paid –44.7 –47.7
Share issues — 0.5
Purchase of own shares and/or participations –117.9 –38.0
Net cash from (+) / used in (–) financing activities –573.9 –415.2
Net increase (+) / decrease (–) in cash and cash equivalents -111.7 490.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,114.0 644.9
Foreign currency translation differences 21.6 –21.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,024.0 1,114.0
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Note 1 General information

EQT AB (publ), reg. no. 556849-4180, is a company 
domiciled in Stockholm, Sweden with its ordinary 
shares listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. The visiting address 
is Regeringsgatan 25, 111 53 Stockholm, Sweden. The 
registered postal address is Box 16409, 103 27 Stock-
holm, Sweden. 

The consolidated financial statements of the finan-
cial year ended as of 31 December 2024 comprise EQT 
AB (“the Company”) and its direct and indirect subsid-
iaries, together referred to as the ”EQT AB Group”.

Note 2 Accounting policies

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Compliance with legislation and standards
The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Stan-
dards published by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board (IASB) as adopted by the EU as of  
31 December 2024. Additional disclosure requirements 
in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) have 
been applied in accordance with RFR 1 Complementary 
Accounting rules for groups issued by the Swedish 
Corporate Reporting Board. 

EQT AB’s consolidated financial statements were 
authorized for issue by the Board of directors and the 

CEO on 12 March 2025. The consolidated financial 
statements are subject to approval by the annual 
shareholders’ meeting on 27 May 2025.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The accounting policies applied in these consolidated 
financial statements are the same as those applied in 
the annual report 2023, except for the change in 
accounting policy regarding carried interest as 
described in Note 26. 

Changes in IFRS Accounting Standards that were 
effective from 2024 have had no material effect on the 
EQT AB Group’s financial statements.

Throughout 2024, the Global Minimum Tax (GMT) 
legislation and related OECD guidance have been 
subject to continuous development. Estimated tax 
expenses during the period associated with the GMT 
rules amounted to EUR 1.2m. In relative terms, this level 
of top-up tax is representative of the estimated impact 
of the GMT rules in the short to medium term, subject to 
developments of the rules. The EQT AB Group applies 
the exception to recognize and disclose information 
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to 
Global Minimum Tax, as provided in the amendments to 
IAS 12 issued in May 2023.

Basis of measurement
Assets and liabilities are measured at historical cost, 
with the exception of financial investments which are 
measured at fair value.

Use of judgments and estimates in  
the financial statements
Preparation of financial statements requires the use of 
judgment and accounting estimates that affect the 
application of the EQT AB Group’s accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Revisions of estimates are recognized 
prospectively. 

The judgments, made by the management when 
applying IFRS Accounting Standards, which may have 
significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates that may contribute to significant adjustments 
in the financial statements of the following financial 
year are described in Note 3 "Use of judgments and 
estimates".

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
IFRS 18 "Presentation and Disclosures in Financial 
Statements" will replace IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial 
Statements" and applies for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2027. EQT does currently 
not plan to apply the standard early. The main effects 
of IFRS 18 concern the structure of the income state-
ment, the disclosure of management-defined perfor-
mance measures (MPMs), and increased guidance on 
aggregation and disaggregation in the primary finan-
cial statements and the notes.

EQT's preliminary view is that the application of 
IFRS 18 will not lead to any significant changes in the 
group's financial statements. It is expected that the 
more noticeable items in the income statement will 
remain within the operating category and that the 
subtotals within the operating category may also 
remain. This is based on EQT being expected to have 
investing in financial investments including carried 
interest as a specified main business activity. On a more 
detailed level, some amounts may move from the 
current net financial items into the operating category 
and remaining net financial items will be split into an 
investing and a financing category. EQT will continue to 
analyse the above aspects and the other potential 
effects of IFRS 18. 

Other new or revised standards and interpretations 
issued by the IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Com-
mittee but not yet effective, are expected to have an 
immaterial impact on the EQT AB Group’s financial 
statements in the future periods of initial application.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION AND BUSINESS 
COMBINATIONS
Subsidiaries and control
— Control
Subsidiaries are entities controlled directly or indirectly 
by EQT AB. The EQT AB Group controls an entity when it  
has power over the entity and is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. 

From an IFRS 10 perspective EQT AB Group is 
considered an investment entity.

In accordance with IFRS 10 an investment entity is 
an entity whose business purpose is to invest funds 
solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment 
income or both and evaluate the performance of its 
investments on a fair value basis. As an investment 
entity EQT AB Group is exempt from consolidating 
subsidiaries that are investments and measures them at 
fair value through profit or loss instead. Subsidiaries 
that serve in a supporting function such as investment 
services continue to be consolidated in accordance with 
IFRS 10 and those that are not providing investment 
services will be recognized at fair value instead of being 
consolidated.

— Unconsolidated structured entities
According to IFRS 10 "Consolidation", an investor that 
has control over only specified and ring-fenced assets 
and liabilities within an entity, should, for consolidation 
purposes, treat portions of the entity as a deemed 
separate entity (silo). The specified assets of one silo 

Notes
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are not available to meet obligations of other parts of 
the entity, including in the event of insolvency. Each 
silo’s assets are the only source of payment for specified 
obligations of the silo. Silos that are not directly or 
indirectly controlled by EQT AB are not considered to be 
subsidiaries and are accordingly not consolidated. Such 
silos of structured entities are normally accounted for 
as financial investments measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. See Note 3 for further information of 
significant judgments used.

— Funds
Each EQT fund, being composed of one or more Limited 
Partnerships (or the equivalent) is managed by a 
general partner and/or a manager (jointly “Fund 
Manager”). The Fund Manager is normally a direct or 
indirect subsidiary of EQT AB. The authority and powers 
of the Fund Manager are defined in the Limited Part-
nership Agreement (or similar).

Determining whether or not a Fund Manager should 
consolidate its managed funds is based on judgments 
of whether the Fund Manager is acting as a principal or 
an agent to the fund for accounting purposes. The 
assessment of the EQT AB Group’s expected level of 
return is based on the funds’ performance, i.e. the 
variable returns. Should a fund generate variable 
return EQT AB Group would be entitled to between two 
and seven percent of the variable return, which is not 
considered to meet the control criterion in IFRS 10 on 
link between power and return. Instead, EQT AB Group 
is considered to be an agent in relation to the fund 
investors, for accounting purposes and, accordingly the 
funds are not consolidated.

REVENUE
The EQT AB Group’s revenue is generated from fund 
management services, carried interest and investment 
income. 

The parties of agreements of fund management 
services comprise the EQT AB Group and the fund. 

For fund management services there is only one 
single performance obligation for each fund and its 
investors. The performance obligation comprises 
identifying and evaluating investment and divestment 
opportunities, providing support on structuring, fund 
management and monitoring and reporting on an 
ongoing basis over the life of each fund. The different 
activities are considered interrelated and part of the 
same obligation to perform fund management services. 

The following describes the different types of 
revenues.

Management fees
The performance obligation of the EQT AB Group is to 
manage and support the funds, through the Fund 
Managers, on an ongoing basis.

To manage and support on an ongoing basis rep-
resents a series of distinct services that increments on 
an ongoing basis and together is treated as one single 
performance obligation. Management fees are recog-
nized over time over the life of each fund. 

The management fee is based on agreements over 
the life of each fund, generally with the term of 10–12 
years occasionally subject to one or more 12 months’ 
extension periods. 

The fee charged is normally based on commitments 
until the termination of the commitment period and 
thereafter based on the total cost of investments not yet 
realized or written off. If any investments remain after 
the term date management fees are charged on the 
total acquisition cost of such investments but at a lower 
rate for each six-month period until the agreed exten-
sion period expires. 

Typically the fees during the commitment and 
divestment period are payable half-yearly in advance 
and adjusted in the following half-year period, should 

any triggering events have occurred. Examples of 
triggering events include launch of a successor fund, 
commencement of the divestment period/end of com-
mitment period and multiple closings in funds in fund-
raising.	

Carried interest and investment income 
Carried interest and investment income consists pri-
marily of changes in fair value of the EQT AB Group’s 
underlying fund investments. Changes in fair value are 
recognized in the income statement. For further infor-
mation on accounting policies for financial instruments, 
see Note 2 “Financial instruments” as well as Note 5 
"Revenue".

Cost of obtaining a contract
The EQT AB Group, on a selective basis, makes use of 
placement agents or other local representatives/agents 
in certain jurisdictions, where its own personnel is not 
authorized to market the funds. The fee is capitalized as 
a non-current asset representing cost of obtaining 
contract. The cost of obtaining the contracts is expected 
to be recovered over the fund commitment period. The 
benefit of the cost is primarily considered to be attribut-
able to the period when the fund investments are 
carried out. Therefore, the useful life of the asset is the 
commitment period which is expected to be between 
three to six years. The asset is amortized on a straight-
line basis.

FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
Financial income comprises primarily translation gains. 
Financial income also comprises interest on bank 
balances. Financial expense comprises translation 
losses and interest on interest-bearing liabilities and 
finance lease liabilities. Other financial income and 
expenses are insignificant.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The EQT AB Group’s financial assets consist of financial 
investments, including carried interest, accounts receiv-
able and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. Financial liabilities comprise accounts 
payable, short and long-term interest-bearing liabilities 
and other financial liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of on-demand 
deposits with credit institutions. 

Recognition and initial measurement
Accounts receivable are initially recognized when 
issued. All other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially recognized when the EQT AB Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

Financial assets (other than accounts receivable) 
and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value plus, for assets or liabilities not subsequently 
measured at fair value through the income statement, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their 
acquisition or issue. Accounts receivable are initially 
measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement of finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities 
— Financial assets
A financial asset is initially classified into one of three 
measurement categories. The classification depends on 
how the asset is managed (business model) and the 
characteristics of the asset’s contractual cash flows. 
The measurement categories for financial assets are as 
follows:

	— Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
	— Fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI)

	— Amortized cost (AC)

Note 2 cont.
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Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both 
of the following conditions are met:

	— The financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to realize the cash flows from the 
financial assets by holding the financial assets and 
collecting its contractual cash flows over the life of 
the assets and

	— The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include 
accounts receivable, other long-term as well as short-
term receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Financial assets are measured at FVOCI if both of the 
following conditions are met:

	— The financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to realize the cash flows from the 
financial assets both by collecting the contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and

	— The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The EQT AB Group does currently not have any financial 
assets measured at FVOCI.

A financial asset shall be measured at FVPL unless it 
is measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI.

Financial assets measured at FVPL currently include 
Financial investments incl carried interest.

— Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are either measured at amortized 
cost or at FVPL. All of the EQT AB Group’s financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets
A loss allowance is recognized to reflect the expected 
credit losses on financial assets not recognized at FVPL. 
For accounts receivable and contract assets, the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to the 
expected losses under the entire lifetime of the accounts 
receivable and the contract assets. For other receiv-
ables and bank balances the loss allowance is mea-
sured at an amount equal to the 12 month expected 
credit losses, as long as there has been no significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The 12 month expected credit losses are the portion 
of the expected credit losses that result from default 
events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date or a shorter period if the expected life 
of the instrument is less than 12 months. If there is a 
significant increase in credit risk, a loss reserve is 
instead recognized to reflect the expected credit losses 
under the entire lifetime of the asset.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of 
all cash shortfalls, i.e. the difference between the cash 
flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the EQT AB Group expects to 
receive. Expected credit losses are discounted using the 
effective interest rate of the asset.

The loss allowance is deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets in the balance sheet.

Impairment of financial assets measured at amor-
tized cost are reversed if the expected losses decrease.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that 
require the issuer to make specified payments to reim-
burse the holder for a loss that it incurs because a spec-
ified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in 
accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured 
at fair value and subsequently at the higher of i) the 
amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, the 
cumulative amount of income recognized in accordance 
with the principles of IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers", and ii) the amount of the expected 
credit loss allowance determined in accordance with 
IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments".

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received on sale of 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the mea-
surement date in the principal market or, in its absence, 
the most advantageous market to which EQT AB Group 
has access at that date.

When appropriate, the EQT AB Group measures the 
fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an 
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded 
as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, the 
EQT AB Group uses valuation techniques that maximize 
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the 
use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 
technique incorporates all of the factors that market 
participants would take into account in pricing a trans-
action.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
As from the acquisition date, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is allocated to each cash-gener-
ating unit (CGU) or group of cash-generating units of 

the EQT AB Group expected to benefit from the syner-
gies of the combination. Goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment test is 
undertaken annually in the fourth quarter or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate potential impairment loss, see below. Expenditures 
for internally generated goodwill are recognized in the 
income statement as expenses when incurred.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets constitutes acquired customer 
contracts, investor relationships, licenses and trade-
marks and are accounted for at cost less accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

IMPAIRMENT
At each reporting date, the EQT AB Group reviews its 
assets to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. 

Impairment of Property, plant and equipment, right-of- 
use assets and Intangible assets
Impairment tests are performed as soon as any indica-
tions of impairment losses arise for individual assets or 
cash-generating units. 

Goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated at 
least annually, irrespective of any indication of impair-
ment or not.

If an asset does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows and its fair value less cost of disposal 
cannot be used, the assets are grouped together into 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows after tax are discounted to their present value 
using an after tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 

Note 2 cont.
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risks specific to the asset or cash-generating unit. An 
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of 
an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recover-
able amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the 
income statement. Any impairment loss to be recog-
nized for a cash-generating unit is allocated primarily 
to goodwill and secondly pro rata to other assets of the 
cash-generating unit.

EQUITY
Purchase of treasury shares 
Acquisitions of treasury shares are recognized as a 
reduction of equity. Proceeds from the sale of treasury 
shares are recognized as an increase in equity. Any 
transaction costs are recognized directly in equity.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are estimated and are 
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the 
EQT AB Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans comprise the pension-plans 
in which the EQT AB Group’s obligation is limited to the 
fees the EQT AB Group undertakes to pay. In that case, 
the size of the employee’s pension depends on the fees 
paid by the EQT AB Group to the plan or to an insurance 
company and the return on capital invested. Conse-
quently, it is the employee who carries the actuarial risk 
(the compensation will be lower than expected) and the 
investment risk (that the invested assets will be insuffi-
cient to provide the expected benefits). Obligations for 

contributions to defined contribution plans are 
expensed as the related service is provided.

Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans are plans for post-employment 
benefits other than defined contribution plans, where 
the employer is obligated to pay future pensions to the 
retiree on a certain benefit level. 

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are expensed at the earliest of: 

	— When the EQT AB Group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits and 

	— When the EQT AB Group recognizes costs for a 
restructuring program including the terminations.

Benefits expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognized as current liabilities. 
Benefits not expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognized at present value as 
long-term liabilities.

Share-based payments  
The share incentive program with separate annual 
grants during five years is recognized as an equity-
settled share-based payment. In each tranche, partici-
pants may earn a bonus during an initial performance 
year, for the sole purpose of investing in shares in EQT 
AB following said performance year. The shares cannot 
be sold during the following three-year period. No 
vesting conditions apply during this period. The expense 
is for each tranche recognized over the initial perfor-
mance year, with a corresponding amount recognized 
directly in equity. Expense for social security charges is 
recognized in an equivalent manner, with a 
corresponding entry as a liability.

During 2023, in addition to the share program, an 
employee stock option plan was implemented with an 
annual grant for the years 2023–2027, the options are 

granted free of charge, where the first performance 
year was 2023 with a subsequent three-year holding 
period.

Like the share program, it is classified as an equity 
settled plan and an expense is recognised for the 
performance period of one year except for new hires 
and future leaders employed during the year, who have 
a service requirement also during the holding period. 

Note 2 cont.

Note 3 Use of judgments and estimates

The management of the EQT AB Group makes esti-
mates and assumptions concerning the future as well as 
exercises judgment in applying the accounting princi-
ples when preparing financial statements. Estimates 
and judgments are continually evaluated and the 
assessments are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circum-
stances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
sources of estimation uncertainty in the assessments 
given below refer to those that entail a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities within the following financial year, 
together with significant judgments in the application of 
the EQT AB Group’s accounting policies.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS INCLUDING CARRIED 
INTEREST (MEASUREMENT ESTIMATES)
Carried interest and investment income consist primar-
ily of changes in fair value of the EQT AB Group’s fund 
investments. Determining the fair value for the invest-
ments require subjective assessment with varying 
degrees of judgement regarding e.g. liquidity, pricing 
assumptions, the current economic and competitive 
environment and the risks affecting the specific finan-

cial asset. EQT AB Group's measurement of fair value of 
the fund investments is based on the net asset value, i.e 
as if all underlying investments were realized at the 
current fair value as of such date, which consists of 
each fund's estimation of fair value of the fund's under-
lying investments. These estimations of fair value are 
based on each fund's judgment about the assumptions 
to reflect what market participants would use in pricing 
the asset. The valuation techniques applied by the funds 
for valuing the financial investments are applied consis-
tently, and only change if deemed necessary to reflect a 
representative fair value.

The carrying amount of financial investments, 
including carried interest at 31 December 2024 was EUR 
4,302.3 (EUR 3,038.9m), see Note 18.

CARRIED INTEREST ( JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES)
EQT accounts for the entire investment in Special 
Limited Partners (SLP) including carried interest, as a 
financial instrument in accordance with IFRS 9 at fair 
value through profit or loss. The investment in SLP is a 
contract which gives the right to receive cash without a 
requirement for other performance than making the 
investment, and therefore meets the definition of a 
financial instrument. The fair value changes are pre-
sented as Carried interest and investment income in the 
consolidated income statement.

UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES 
( JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLI-
CIES)
According to IFRS 10 "Consolidation", an investor that 
has control over only specified and ring-fenced assets 
and liabilities within a structured entity, should, for 
consolidation purposes, treat portions of the entity as a 
deemed separate entity, a so called “silo”. The silo 
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concept means that the EQT AB Group only recognizes 
the assets of the silo, and any liabilities belonging to 
these assets, that are controlled by EQT. The specified 
assets of one silo is not available to meet obligations of 
other parts of the structured entity. Each silo’s assets 
are the only source of payment for specified obligations 
of the silo. 

Silos that are not directly or indirectly controlled by 
EQT AB are not considered to be subsidiaries and are 
accordingly not consolidated. 

EQT AB is an indirect investor in each EQT fund, 
typically through structured entities, one structured  
entity for each EQT fund. These indirectly owned enti-
ties have different investors with different economic 
rights and responsibilities attributable to silos embed-
ded in these structured entities. The assessment of 
control is made at the level of each identified individual 
silo.

The activities of the structured entities and their 
silos are directed through partnership agreements and 
not through voting rights. Silos with activities predeter-
mined at the outset of the investee through agreements 
are not considered relevant activities that require 
subsequent direction by the investor and are accord-
ingly not consolidated .  

Structured entities through Dutch B.V.́ s are legal 
entities that include a silo for EQT as the General Part-
ner (GP). The GP silos comprise relevant activities 
requiring direction by EQT. The silos comprising GP are 
consolidated. EQT’s investments in B.V. silos comprise 
minority investments recognized as financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.   

SCSp:s and SICAR SCA:s, domiciled in Luxembourg, 
are not legal entities and do not include the General 
Partner. There is one silo for each investor’s invest-
ments. In substance each investor directly controls its 
own silo investment. EQT accounts for its contractual 
rights as investment in the underlying fund.  

Note 4 Operating segments

The CEO of EQT AB Group has been identified as the 
chief operating decision maker. EQT AB Group is 
divided into operating segments based on how the CEO 
reviews and evaluates the operation. The operating 
segments correspond to the internal reporting used to 
assess performance and to allocate resources.

EQT’s operations are divided into two business 
segments: Private Capital and Real Assets. The opera-
tions of both business segments consist of providing 
investment management services in the private invest-
ment markets. The investment management services 
comprise i.a. structuring and investment advice, as well 
as reporting and administrative services. 

The business segment Private Capital consists of the 
strategies EQT Ventures, EQT Life Sciences, EQT Health-
care Growth, EQT Growth, EQT Private Equity, EQT 
Private Capital Asia and EQT Future. The business 
segment Real Assets consists of the strategies EQT 
Value-Add Infrastructure, EQT Active Core Infrastruc-
ture, EQT Transition Infrastructure and EQT Real Estate. 

The CEO assesses the operating segments based on 
the line items presented below, primarily on Revenue 
and Gross segment results. Segment Revenue/ Adjusted 
Revenue have been adjusted whereby carried interest is 
only recognized after applying a valuation buffer 
(30-50%) on the unrealized part of the underlying fund 
valuations. Accordingly, Total Revenue according to 
IFRS Accounting Standards reflects the carried interest 
without the application of a valuation buffer and rep-
resents the short term impact of fund valuation 
changes. 

Total Segment Revenue/Adjusted Revenue rep-
resents the amount of carried interest expected to be 
converted to cash in a mid term perspective (a more 

prudent revenue recognition model). The difference 
between Total Revenue (according to IFRS Accounting 
Standards) and Adjusted Revenue/Total Segment 
Revenue is the application of valuation buffer (30-50%) 
on the unrealized part of the underlying fund valua-
tions.

Expenses directly incurred by each respective 
business segment are included in Gross segment result, 
whereas items reported under Central have not been 
allocated to any business segment. Central consists of 
EQT AB Group Management, Client Relations and 
Capital Raising, Fund Operations, EQT Digital and other 
specialist teams such as HR and Group Finance. 

Adjustment items consists of revenue adjustments 
(see above) as well as non-cash adjustments and items 
affecting comparability. 

Non-cash adjustments in 2023 relates to an adjust-
ment of the part of the acquisition considerations 
subject to lock-up, amortization of identified surplus 
values in relation to performed acquisition and the 
non-cash portion of the equity incentive program cost. 
The part of the considerations subject to lock-up is 
treated as a personnel expense from an accounting 
perspective and recorded in the income statement over 
the lock-up period. 

Non-cash adjustments in 2024 relates to an adjust-
ment of the part of the acquisition considerations 
subject to lock-up, amortization of identified surplus 
values in relation to performed acquisitions as well as 
the non-cash portion of equity incentive program cost. 
The part of the considerations subject to lock-up is 
treated as a personnel expense from an accounting 
perspective and recorded in the income statement over 
the lock-up period.

Items affecting comparability in 2023 relates to 
integration costs as a result of performed acquisitions.

Items affecting comparability in 2024 relates to an 
adjustment of the associated cost, the change in fair 
value of contingent considerations (earn-out) and the 
revaluation of certain investments relating to US Multi-
family totaling approximately EUR 80m net of tax (see 
section "Significant events during the year") as well as 
integration costs as a result of performed acquisitions.

GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS 
Total revenues attributed to a geographic region are 
generally based on the country of domicile of each 
managed EQT Fund. 

2024 
Management fee

2023 
Management fee

Sweden - -
Luxembourg 1,417.3 1,242.0
Cayman Islands* 282.9 293.8
Other countries 403.8 430.3

2,104.0 1,966.1

*	 Relates to BPEA and is expected to decrease over time.

2024 
Carried interest 
and investment 

income

2023 
Carried interest 
and investment 

income
Sweden - -
Luxembourg 589.8 161.2
Other countries -41.1 -4.9

548.7 156.3

Currently there are six funds that represent 68% (58%) of 
total revenue. Total revenue from these six funds 
amounts to EUR 1,805.9m (EUR 1,231.7m) whereof EUR 
1,212.1m (EUR 686.5m) relates to the segment Private 
Capital and EUR 593.8m (EUR 545.3m) relates to the 
segment Real Assets.

EQT’s non-current assets presented below comprise of 
Goodwill, Other intangible assets, Property, plant and 
equipment including right-of-use assets and Other 

Note 3 cont.
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January–December 2024  
EUR m

Private 
Capital

Real 
Assets Central

Total  
adjusted

Revenue 
adjustment

Non-
cash 

adjust-
ments

Items  
affecting 
compar

ability
IFRS 

reported 

Total revenue 1,361.4 951.9 41.5 2,354.8 411.5 –113.7 2,652.6
Personnel expenses –747.5 -93.3 -3,0 –843.8
Acquisition related personnel expenses – -228.0 –228.0
Other operating expenses –248.6 -8,2 –256.8
Total operating expenses –313.3 –251.3 –431.5 –996.1 – -321.3 -11.2 –1,328.6
Gross segment result1) / EBITDA2) 1,048.2 700.6 –390.0 1,358.7 411.5 -321.3 –124.9 1,324.0

Margin, % 77.0% 73.6% 57.7% 49.9%
Depreciation and amortization –71.2 –71.2
Amortization of acquisition related  
intangible assets – -364.8 –364.8
EBIT 1,287.5 411.5 -686.1 –124.9 888.0

Net financial income and expense –4.5 15.7 11.2

whereof change in fair value of contingent 
consideration – 15.7 15.7

Income taxes –167.8 21.6 23.4 –122.9
Net income for the period from continuing 
operations 1,115.1 411.5 -664.6 –85.8 776.3

Net income for the period from discontinued 
operations – –
Net income 1,115.1 411.5 -664.6 –85.8 776.3

1)	 Gross segment result relate to the segments Private Capital and Real Assets.  
2)	EBITDA relates to Central, Total adjusted and IFRS reported.

January–December 2023  
EUR m

Private 
Capital

Real 
Assets Central

Total  
adjusted

Revenue 
adjustment

Non-
cash 

adjust-
ments

Items  
affecting 
compar

ability
IFRS 

reported3) 

Total revenue 1,255.9 836.7 38.2 2,130.8 -8,5 2,122.4
Personnel expenses –658.8 -43.9 -2.6 –705.3
Acquisition related personnel expenses – -436.4 –436.4
Other operating expenses –245.6 -4.0 –249.7
Total operating expenses –296.9 –226.3 –381.2 –904.4 – -480.3 -6.6 –1,391.4
Gross segment result1) / EBITDA2) 958.9 610.4 –342.9 1,226.4 –8.5 -480.3 –6.6 731.0

Margin, % 76.4% 73.0% 57.6% 34.4%
Depreciation and amortization –54.1 –54.1
Amortization of acquisition related intangible 
assets – -364.1 –364.1
EBIT 1,172.3 –8.5 -844.4 –6.6 312.8

Net financial income and expense –35.5 –35.5

whereof change in fair value of contingent 
consideration – –

Income taxes –117.4 17.3 –100.2
Net income for the period from continuing 
operations 1,019.4 –8.5 -827.1 –6.6 177.2

Net income for the period from discontinued 
operations – -9.3 –9.3
Net income 1,019.4 –8.5 -827.1 –15.9 167.9

1)	 Gross segment result relate to the segments Private Capital and Real Assets.  
2)	EBITDA relates to Central, Total adjusted and IFRS reported.
3)	Restated.

Note 4 cont.

non-current assets. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 the 
non-current assets was held by the following countries.

2024 2023
Sweden 21.7 28.1
Hong Kong 2,070.7 2,063.1
Singapore 1,310.0 1,423.9
USA 1,602.9 1,488.8
Other countries 439.5 465.8

5,444.8 5,469.6
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Note 5 Revenue

MANAGEMENT FEES
The EQT AB Group earns management fees for fund 
management services, typically based on agreements 
over the life of each fund, generally with a term of 10–12 
years. Management fee is a recurring revenue and the 
fees are predominately based on the committed capital 
during the commitment period and the cost of invested 
capital during the divestment period.

The management fee is payable half-yearly in 
advance and adjusted in the following half-year period 
should any triggering events occur. Examples of trig-
gering events include launch of a successor fund, 
commencement of the divestment period/end of com-
mitment period and multiple closings in funds in fund-
raising.

For further information of the EQT AB Group’s 
management fee, see Note 2 “Management fees”.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Contract assets are reported within Other prepaid 
expenses and accrued income. Contract liabilities are 
reported within Accrued expenses and prepaid income, 
see Note 17.

Deferred income and accrued income are reported 
as contract assets and contract liabilities, respectively. 
The EQT AB Group presents contract assets and liabili-
ties relating to management fee. The contract asset and 
liability regarding management fee arise from timing 
differences between the time of generating the revenues 
and payment. The timing difference is mainly related to  
the beginning of the life of a fund, before the final close 
of a fund, or after the end of the commitment period of 
the fund.

Specifications of changes in contract assets and contract liabilities related to management fee

2024 2023

EUR m
Contract 

assets
Contract 
liabilities

Contract 
assets

Contract 
liabilities

Opening balance 126.6 –67.2 41.0 –23.6
Transfers from contract assets recognized at the beginning of the 
period to receivables –126.6 –41.0
Revenue recognized that was included in the contract liability balance 
at the beginning of the period 67.2 23.6
Revenue recognized during the period not yet invoiced/not yet  
chargeable 87.9 126.6
Payment in advance during the period for performance obligations not 
yet performed –104.8 –67.2
Closing balance 87.9 –104.8 126.6 –67.2

LONG-TERM CONTRACTS
Management fee is normally calculated on the underly-
ing EQT funds’ committed capital during the commit-
ment period, between 3–6 years, depending on fund 
duration. After the commitment period has ended, the 
investment cost is used as basis for calculating man-
agement fee. During this period, management fee is 
based on the respective fund’s remaining invested 
capital measured at cost. 

Cost of obtaining a contract

EUR m 2024 2023
Opening balance 17.8 15.2
Additions 28.7 11.0
Amortization –17.2 –8.3
Closing balance 29.3 17.8

CARRIED INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income consists primarily of changes in fair 
value of the EQT AB Group’s underlying fund invest-
ments. Carried interest is a share of return on invest-
ments that the EQT AB Group receives through its 
holdings in the Special Limited Partners based on the 
returns of the relevant fund and the development of the 
fund’s underlying investments. The EQT AB Group is 
entitled to an agreed share of accumulated returns 
exceeding agreed thresholds (“hurdles”) over the life of 
each individual fund. Changes in fair value are recog-
nized in the income statement. Capital gains on realized 
investments are normally distributed within 3–5 days of 
an exit. Sensitivity analysis with regards to changes in 
fair value of financial investments, including carried 
interest is presented in Note 18.

Note 6 Other operating expenses

EUR m 2024 2023
External services and consultants1) 103.5 107.1
IT expenses and Office expenses 55.4 53.2
Administrative expenses1) 97.8 89.4
Total other operating expenses 256.8 249.7

1)	� Summary of items affecting comparability  
In 2024 items affecting comparability of EUR 8.2m (External services and 
consultants) relate to integration costs as a result of performed acquisitions.  
In 2023 items affecting comparability of EUR 3.3m (External services and 
consultants) and EUR 0.5m (Administrative expenses) relate to integration costs 
as a result of performed acquisitions. 
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Note 7 Employees, senior executives  
and board of directors 

GUIDELINES FOR REMUNERATION TO THE CEO 
AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES DURING 2024
At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on 27 May 
2024, it was resolved to adopt the following guidelines 
for remuneration and other terms of employment for 
the CEO and other senior executives.

Guidelines for executive remuneration
The CEO and other members of the Executive Commit-
tee (executive management) fall within the provisions of 
these guidelines. To the extent a Board member con-
ducts work for EQT, in addition to the board work, 
consulting fees and other compensation for such work 
may be paid. The guidelines are forward-looking, i.e. 
they are applicable to remuneration agreed, and 
amendments to remuneration already agreed, after 
adoption of the guidelines by the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting 2024. These guidelines do not apply to any 
remuneration separately decided or approved by the 
shareholders’ meeting.

EQT has a clear remuneration philosophy (including 
for variable cash) applicable across the whole group 
which also governs the remuneration to the Executive 
Committee and links compensation to the EQT AB 
Group’s business strategy, sustainability, long-term 
interests and long-term value growth for its sharehold-
ers.

Most important is to incentivize fund performance 
and ensure aligned interest with our limited partners in 
the EQT funds, EQT AB’s shareholders as well as EQT’s 
long term approach. EQT is a performance driven 
organization focused on long-term value creation in 
line with our culture. Team performance and individual 
performance are important – therefore we reward 

both. Performance is key to our success and we award 
higher performance with higher compensation.

To be able to achieve the business goals, EQT needs 
to be able to attract and retain world class talent 
suitable for each role. To achieve this, EQT applies 
market competitive total compensation. 

EQT compensates locally based on geography and 
in line with local practice and regulations, taking into 
account, to the extent possible, the overall purpose of 
these guidelines.

The principles in these guidelines enable EQT AB to 
offer the Executive Committee a competitive total 
remuneration.

For more information regarding the EQT AB Group’s 
business strategy, please see EQT AB’s webpage, 
www.eqtgroup.com.

Share-related incentive programs
The EQT Share Program and the EQT Option Program 
are implemented in the EQT AB Group. The programs 
were resolved by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
2023 and are therefore excluded from these guidelines. 
The EQT Option Program includes members of the 
Executive Committee in EQT AB. The performance 
criteria used to assess the outcome of the EQT Option 
Program are tied to the individual’s current role scope 
and contribution to EQT’s performance through value 
creation and future proofing, the share price develop-
ment, adding value to the wider EQT Platform as well as 
impact on delivering on EQT’s sustainability ambitions. 
The participants will receive employee stock options 
free of charge, with an exercise period occurring during 
a one-month period. Each employee stock option 
entitles the participant to acquire one ordinary share in 
EQT AB at a price corresponding to the price per ordi-
nary share as of the date of grant, subject to a net strike 
mechanism, cap on the gain per employee stock option 
and customary recalculation mechanisms. For the EQT 

Share Program, the performance targets are tied to the 
EQT AB Group’s financial targets, EQT’s general com-
petitiveness, the individual meeting or exceeding EQT’s 
highly set expectations on adding value to the EQT 
Platform as well as impact on delivering on EQT’s 
sustainability ambitions. The program includes Partners 
and senior employees, members of the Executive 
Committee are generally not participants of the EQT 
Share Program. The participants invest a variable 
amount (financed by EQT) in ordinary shares after a 
performance year, whereupon an approximately 
three-year holding period follows. The Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting 2019 also resolved on an EQT Share 
Program, under which no new investments in EQT AB 
shares are made, with holding periods until 2026. For 
more information regarding the EQT Share program 
and EQT Option Program, including the criteria which 
the outcome depends on, please see EQT AB’s remu-
neration report, available on eqtgroup.com/sharehold-
ers/.

Type of remuneration, etc.
The remuneration shall be on market terms and may 
consist of the following components: fixed remuneration, 
variable cash remuneration, pension benefits and other 
benefits. The shareholders’ meeting may – irrespective of 
these guidelines – resolve on, among other things, 
share-related or share price-related remuneration.

Fixed remuneration
The fixed remuneration, i.e. base salary, should be 
competitive and reflect responsibility and performance.

Variable remuneration 
The satisfaction of criteria for awarding variable cash 
remuneration, within the EQT Bonus program, shall be 
measured over a period of one year. The variable cash 

remuneration may amount to no more than 200 percent 
of the annual base salary. 

The EQT Bonus program consists of a performance 
assessment of the business as well as an individual 
performance assessment. Important business perfor-
mance factors determining the size of the bonus is the 
success of the underlying business measured by busi-
ness performance in the funds (investments and exits as 
well as portfolio and fund performance), business 
profitability, fundraising, sustainability as well as orga-
nizational development. The individual performance is 
assessed versus agreed targets as well as meeting, 
exceeding or not meeting high set individual perfor-
mance expectations for the individual in the current role. 

To which extent the criteria for awarding variable 
cash remuneration has been satisfied shall be evalu-
ated/determined when the measurement period has 
ended. The remuneration committee shall be responsi-
ble for the evaluation so far as it concerns variable 
remuneration to the CEO. For variable cash remunera-
tion to other members of the Executive Committee, the 
CEO shall be responsible for the evaluation. For financial 
objectives, the evaluation shall be based on the latest 
financial information made public by EQT AB.

The Executive Committee partly consists of owners 
of EQT AB. Owners that owned above 1.5 percent of the 
shares of EQT AB at IPO or at relevant acquisition may 
not be comprised by the EQT Bonus program, i.e. vari-
able cash remuneration, nor any of the relevant 
share-related incentive programs. Therefore, total 
remuneration for part of the Executive Committee 
consists of base salary, pension benefits and other 
benefits.

www.eqtgroup.com
www.eqtgroup.com/shareholders/
www.eqtgroup.com/shareholders/
www.eqtgroup.com/shareholders/
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Pension
All members of the Executive Committee shall be 
covered by defined contribution pension plans, for 
which pension premiums shall be based on the mem-
bers’ base salary and paid by the company during the 
period of employment. For current members of the 
Executive Committee pension contributions shall be 
based on base salary and follow contribution levels in 
accordance with local market practice, except for the 
application of a cap. For Sweden, this means that it 
shall be comparable to the old BTP-plan with a contri-
bution cap for base salary exceeding 40 Income base 
amounts. The pension premiums shall amount to no 
more than 25 percent of the annual base salary.

Other benefits
Other benefits, such as insurances (health, life, travel), 
sports contributions or occupational health services, 
should be payable to the extent this is considered to be 
in line with market conditions in the market concerned. 
Premiums and other costs relating to such benefits may 
amount to no more than 25 percent of the annual base 
salary. Executive Committee members who relocate for 
the purposes of the position or who work in other multi-
ple countries may also receive such remuneration and 
benefits as are reasonable to reflect the special circum-
stances associated with such arrangements, taking into 
account the overall purpose of these guidelines and 
alignment with the general policies and practices within 
EQT AB Group applicable to cross border work. 

Recommendation to invest in EQT AB shares
The Board recommends each Executive Committee 
member (who do not already have such holding) to 
acquire, over a three-year period, EQT AB shares or 
similar instruments corresponding to at least one year’s 
base salary, before taxes and excluding other remuner-
ation. 

Termination of employment and terms for severance 
pay for the CEO 
A twelve month notice period will apply if notice is given 
by the CEO or EQT AB. The CEO’s employment terms 
include a non-competition clause. If used, this would 
entitle the employee to an additional compensation 
corresponding to a maximum of twelve months’ salary, 
however, reduced by any remuneration paid by a new 
employer.  

Termination of employment and terms for severance 
pay for senior executives
In the event of notice being given by the EQT AB Group, 
a notice period of nine months applies, while in the 
event of notice being given by the senior executive a 
period of notice of six months applies. The senior 
executives’ employment terms also include a non-com-
petition clause. If used, this entitles the employee to an 
additional compensation corresponding to a maximum 
of nine months’ salary, however, reduced by any remu-
neration paid by a new employer. Base salary during 
the notice period and severance pay may not together 
exceed an amount corresponding to the base salary for 
eighteen months. When termination is made by the 
executive, the notice period may not exceed six months, 
without any right to severance pay. 

Salary and employment conditions for employees taken 
into account during preparations of these guidelines
In the preparation of the Board’s proposal for these 
remuneration guidelines, salary and employment 
conditions for employees of the EQT AB Group have 
been taken into account by including information on the 
employees’ total income, the components of the remu-
neration and increase and growth rate over time, in the 
remuneration committee’s and the Board’s basis of 
decision when evaluating whether the guidelines and 
the limitations set out herein are reasonable. 

The decision-making process to determine, review  
and implement the guidelines
The Board has established a remuneration committee. 
The committee’s tasks include preparing the Board’s 
decision to propose guidelines for executive remunera-
tion. The Board shall prepare a proposal for new guide-
lines at least every fourth year and submit it to the 
shareholders’ meeting. The guidelines shall be in force 
until new guidelines are adopted by the shareholders’ 
meeting. The remuneration committee shall also moni-
tor and evaluate programs for variable remuneration 
for the Executive Committee, the application of the 
guidelines for executive remuneration as well as the 
current remuneration structures and compensation 
levels in the EQT AB Group. The current members of the 
remuneration committee are independent of EQT AB 
and its Executive Committee. The CEO and other mem-
bers of the Executive Committee do not participate in 
the Board’s processing of and resolutions regarding 
remuneration-related matters in so far as they are 
affected by such matters. 

Deviation from the guidelines	
The Board may temporarily resolve to deviate from the 
guidelines, in whole or in part, if in a specific case there 
may be special cause for the deviation and a deviation 
should be necessary to serve the EQT AB Group’s 
business strategy, sustainability, long-term interests 
and long-term value growth for its shareholders, or to 
ensure the EQT AB Group’s financial viability. As set out 
above, the remuneration committee’s tasks include 
preparing the Board’s resolutions in remuneration-re-
lated matters. This includes any resolutions to deviate 
from the guidelines. 

Salary and remunerations to employees

EUR m 2024 2023
Salaries, bonuses and remunerations 933.6 1,021.8
Pension expenses, defined contribution 
plans 22.4 19.5

Social security expenses 59.2 53.6
1,015.2 1,094.9

Other personnel related expenses 56,6 46,8
Personnel expenses1) 1,071.8 1,141.7

1)	� Whereof EUR 228.0m (EUR 436.4m) relates to personnel expenses as a result of 
performed acquisitions.

Note 7 cont.
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Average number of employees

2024
whereof  

women 
whereof  

men 2023
whereof  

women 
whereof  

men
USA 424 38% 62% 388 38% 62%
Sweden 379 48% 52% 360 46% 54%
UK 242 50% 50% 208 52% 48%
Luxembourg 146 48% 52% 144 50% 50%
China, Hong Kong 109 55% 45% 108 54% 46%
Germany 98 40% 60% 102 41% 59%
Singapore 81 46% 54% 72 43% 57%
The Netherlands 45 45% 55% 45 37% 63%
Japan 38 33% 67% 41 34% 66%
Australia 36 31% 69% 37 27% 73%
France 31 35% 65% 29 37% 63%
Spain 30 37% 63% 30 34% 66%
Switzerland 29 38% 62% 26 44% 56%
China, Shanghai 26 47% 53% 28 48% 52%
India 26 25% 75% 21 24% 76%
South Korea 22 41% 59% 21 39% 61%
Denmark 21 62% 38% 21 64% 36%
Italy 18 44% 56% 18 47% 53%
Norway 8 36% 64% 10 39% 61%
Finland 6 32% 68% 7 27% 73%
Poland 5 19% 81% 4 25% 75%
Ireland 3 29% 71% 3 33% 67%
Austria 2 34% 66% 1 30% 70%
Mexico 1 0% 100% 2 0% 100%
Belgium 1 0% 100% 1 0% 100%
Brazil — — — 1 0% 100%
Total 1,827 44% 56% 1,727 44% 56%

Board and senior executives split by gender

Proportion of women 2024 2023
Board (parent company) 43% 29%
Senior executives 33% 33%

The EQT AB Group’s executive committee consisted of 
twelve persons in 2024. In 2024, Masoud Homayoun 
joined the executive committee and Ward Fitzgerald 
stepped down from his role as the Global Head of EQT 
Exeter. Anna Wahlström stepped down from the execu-
tive committee at year-end 2024. The senior executives 
are employed by different companies in the EQT AB 
Group.

REMUNERATION TO THE MEMBERS OF  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board fees, including chairperson fees, are resolved by 
the annual shareholders’ meeting. At the annual share-
holders’ meeting held on 27 May 2024, it was resolved 
that EUR 304,500 shall be paid to the chairperson of the 
Board and EUR 138,500 to each of the other board 
members who are not employed by the company. In 
addition, EUR 40,000 will be paid to the chairpersons of 
the audit committee, remuneration committee and 
sustainability committee, respectively, and remunera-
tion to each of the other members of the relevant 
committees should be EUR 20,000 each. The board 
members are not entitled to any benefits following 
termination of their assignments as board members. 
The meeting further resolved that the compensation to 
the Board shall be paid in shares in EQT AB. 

Note 7 cont.

Salaries and other remunerations and pension 
expenses for the board of directors and senior 
executives 

EUR m 2024 2023
Salaries, bonuses and remunerations 10.9 12.6
(whereof bonuses) 3.9 5.6
Equity incentive programs 13.5 10.3
Pension expenses 0.7 0.5

25.0 23.4
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Salaries and other remunerations to senior executives and board of directors

2024  
EUR m

Base salary, 
board fee Bonus 

Pension 
expenses

Other  
benefits

Equity 
incentive  

programs1) Total
Chairperson of the board (Conni Jonsson)
Remuneration from parent company 0.3 — — — — 0.3
Remuneration from subsidiaries 0.1 — 0.0 — — 0.1
Board member (Marcus Wallenberg)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Margo Cook)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Johan Forssell)
Remuneration from parent company 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Diony Lebot)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Richa Goswami) 
Remuneration from parent company 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Gordon Orr)2)

Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Brooks Entwistle)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
CEO (Christian Sinding)
Remuneration from parent company — — — — — —
Remuneration from subsidiaries 0.6 — 0.0 0.0 — 0.7
Other senior executives
(11 persons)
Remuneration from parent company 0.9 1.2 0.2 0.0 4.1 6.3
Remuneration from subsidiaries 3.8 2.8 0.5 0.0 9.9 17.0
Total 6.9 3.9 0.7 0.0 14.0 25.5
Remuneration from parent company 2.4 1.2 0.2 0.0 4.1 7.8
Remuneration from subsidiaries 4.6 2.8 0.5 0,0 9.9 17.7

1)	� The renumeration relates to amounts awarded in relation to the EQT Share Program and the EQT Option Program. Awarded amounts for 2024 will be settled using 
options implying that the full value of the renumeration is a non-cash cost for the Group.

2)	�Gordon Orr has during 2024 provided consultancy services to EQT in addition to his assignment as board member. Remuneration for such consultancy services are 
included in the column “Base salary, board fee”. For further information, see Note 23.

2023  
EUR m

Base salary, 
board fee Bonus 

Pension 
expenses

Other  
benefits

Equity  
incentive  

programs1) Total
Chairperson of the board (Conni Jonsson)
Remuneration from parent company 0.3 — — — — 0.3
Remuneration from subsidiaries 0.1 — 0.0 0.0 — 0.1
Board member (Marcus Wallenberg)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Margo Cook)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 – – – – 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Johan Forssell)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Diony Lebot)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Nicola Kimm) 
Remuneration from parent company 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Gordon Orr)2)

Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
Board member (Brooks Entwistle)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries — — — — — —
CEO (Christian Sinding)
Remuneration from parent company 0.2 — — — — 0.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries 0.4 — 0.0 0.0 — 0.4
Other senior executives
(11 persons)
Remuneration from parent company 0.7 0.9 0.2 0.0 2.8 4.6
Remuneration from subsidiaries 4.1 4.7 0.2 0.1 7.6 16.6
Total 6.9 5.6 0.5 0.1 10.3 23.4
Remuneration from parent company 2.4 0.9 0.2 0.0 2.8 6.2
Remuneration from subsidiaries 4.5 4.7 0.3 0.1 7.6 17.2

1)	� The renumeration relates to amounts awarded in relation to the EQT Share Program and the EQT Option Program. Awarded amounts for 2023 will be settled using 
options implying that the full value of the renumeration is a non-cash cost for the Group.

2)	�Gordon Orr has during 2023 provided consultancy services to EQT in addition to his assignment as board member. Remuneration for such consultancy services are 
included in the column “Base salary, board fee”. For further information, see Note 23.

Note 7 cont.
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REMUNERATIONS TO SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND 
OTHER EMPLOYEES  
EQT Board and its remuneration committee resolves on 
remuneration in the form of equity-based incentive 
programs. The remuneration committee further 
resolves on the remuneration for the Executive Commit-
tee. EQT AB Group has an internal Compensation 
Committee that establishes and approves remuneration 
in the form of levels of salary, bonus, pension and other 
benefits for employees in EQT. The total remuneration 
may consist of base salary, bonus, equity-based incen-
tive programs, pension and other benefits. The bonus is 
related to annual achievement on both group wide and 
individual targets. Target achievement of bonus is 
determined in the beginning of the subsequent year. 
Most employees are part of the EQT Bonus program.

Variable remuneration for CEO and senior executives
CEO Christian Sinding has not been part of the EQT 
Bonus program. Most executive committee members 
are entitled to variable remuneration through the EQT 
Bonus program.

EQT INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 
EQT 2019 Share program
The last grant of the EQT Share Program (established in 
2019) was done in March of 2023. Each annual grant 
consisted of amounts to be converted to class C shares 
in EQT AB. All class C shares allotted are subject to a 
three-year holding period, with no vesting conditions, 
after which the class C shares are converted into 
ordinary shares. The class C shares carry the same 
economic rights as ordinary shares in the company and 
carry one-tenth (0.1) vote each.

the three-year holding period. The option exercise 
period commences after the holding period. As part of 
the timeline adjustment during 2024 as described 
above, the timeline for the EQT Option program was 
also refined to fit into the overall process. For grants 
related to the 2024 performance year and beyond, 
allocations will take place around February and the 
calculation of the number of options to be granted will 
occur after the publication of EQT AB's year-end report. 
Further, the exercise period for options in the EQT 
Option program will begin the day after EQT AB's 
year-end report is published and will end the day 
before the closed period ahead of EQT AB’s Q1 
announcement in the year of exercise. Based on the 
number of shares as of 31 December 2022, the maxi-
mum dilution for the EQT Option Program is four per-
cent in total. EQT intends, over time, to repurchase 
shares to offset the dilution related to the EQT Option 
Program1).

EQT share program summary (indicative)2)

Performance 
period

Grant 
year

Shares 
granted2)

Dilution impact from 
shares granted 

2023 2024 631,547 0.05%

Performance 
period Grant year

Shares to be 
granted 2) 3)

Dilution impact 
from shares to be 

granted 
2024 2025 855,014 0.07%

Note 7 cont.

EQT 2023 Share program
The EQT Share Program (established in 2023) consists 
of ordinary shares in EQT AB. The Program is divided 
into five separate annual grants, each subject to a 
one-year performance period and a three-year holding 
period. Depending on the achievement of certain 
performance targets during the performance year, an 
amount may be awarded which after the performance 
period is settled in the total number of outstanding 
shares in EQT AB that corresponds to the amount 
awarded. With certain limited exceptions, no vesting 
conditions apply during the three-year holding period. 
In 2024, EQT adjusted the timeline for its performance 
and compensation review processes to better align with 
the year-end schedule. As part of this adjustment, the 
timeline for the EQT Share program was also refined to 
fit into the overall process. For grants related to the 
2024 performance year and beyond, allocations will 
take place around February and the calculation of the 
number of shares to be granted will occur after the 
publication of EQT AB's year-end report. Based on the 
number of shares as of 31 December 2022, the maxi-
mum dilution for the EQT Share Program is one percent 
in total. EQT intends, over time, to repurchase shares to 
offset the dilution related to the EQT Share Program1).

EQT 2023 Option program
The EQT Option Program (established in 2023) consists 
of options which upon exercise entitle the option holders 
to acquire ordinary shares in EQT AB. The Program is 
divided into five separate annual grants, each subject 
to a one-year performance period and a three-year 
holding period. Depending on the achievement of 
certain performance targets during the performance 
year, an amount may be awarded which after the 
performance period is settled in the number of options 
that corresponds to the amount awarded. With certain 
limited exceptions, no vesting conditions apply during 

 
EQT option program summary2)

Performance 
period

Grant 
year

Options  
granted2)

Current 
dilution - 

options

Max  
dilution  

- options 
2023 2024 4,430,306 0.01% 0.28%

Performance 
period

Grant 
year

Options   
to be  

granted2)4)

Current 
dilution - 

options

Max  
dilution  

- options 
2024 2025 9,849,757 n.a. 0.62%

PERFORMANCE TARGETS AND COST
EQT 2023 Share Program
Performance in relation to targets for Adjusted Revenue 
growth, Adjusted EBITDA margin and a sustainability 
assessment has resulted in a gross share grant level of 
EUR 44.0m (EUR 34.1m), of which EUR 21.2m (EUR 16.7m) 
was cash cost.

EQT 2023 Option Program
The granting of options is based on participants’ indi-
vidual fulfillment of targets in the performance frame-
work including (i) Building and developing cross-plat-
form collaboration, (ii) Responsible and appropriate 
cost management, (iii) Growth from a business line 
focused management to firm wide leadership, (iv) 
Tangible contribution to the sustainability goals of the 
company, (v) Developing new business areas for EQT. 
Total grant level recognized in 2024 was EUR 59.7m 
(EUR 24.7m)  of which none was cash cost.

Non-cash cost
The total non-cash cost for the incentive programs 2024 
amounts to EUR 93.3m (EUR 43.9m) whereof EUR 82.4m 
(EUR 42.1m) relates to granted amounts as of 2024 and 
EUR 10.9m (EUR 1.8m) relates to additional non-cash 
cost such as social charges for which cash payment is 
contingent on a gain and only due at exercise. 
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Dilution
For performance year 2023, 4,430,306 options with a 
strike price of SEK 295 were granted within the EQT 
option program. The option program will only be 
dilutive in case the EQT AB share price at exercise is 
above the share price at grant. The exercise price is 
capped at 4x the share price at grant. Any gain above 
the share price at grant and up to the cap will be settled 
in shares (net strike mechanism). As such, dilution in 
relation to options granted is capped at 75% of the 
number of options granted, or 0.28%. Assuming a share 
price corresponding to end 2024 of SEK 306, current 
dilution would be 0.01%. 

For performance year 2024, assuming a share price 
corresponding to year end 2024 of SEK 306, 855,014 
shares3) and 9,849,757 options4) would be granted, 
respectively, in 2025. As a result, the dilution impact 
from the Share Program would be 0.07%. Max dilution 
in relation to the Option Program 2024 is capped at 75% 
of the number of options granted, or 0.62%.

1)	� During 2024 EQT completed a repurchases of 4.2m shares.
2)	�Dilution metrics calculated based on share count as of 31 December 2022  

(1,186,127,535). 
3)	�I Indicative figures assuming a share price corresponding to end 2024 of SEK 

306. To be granted in February 2025. 
4)	�Indicative figures assuming a share price of SEK 306 (end 2024) and a 

corresponding option value of SEK 70. To be granted in February 2025.

Other benefits 
EQT AB Group offers all employees a variety of 
non-monetary benefits, such as occupational health 
service, health insurance, life insurance, employee 
fitness programs and sports contributions. 

Certain investments by senior executives
Certain members of the board of EQT AB and senior 
executives of EQT AB Group, including the CEO of EQT 
AB, have invested in various carried interest and 
employee co-investment schemes related to the EQT 
funds. The returns (in the form of investment income 
and capital appreciation) are fully dependent on the 
performance of the relevant fund and the fund’s under-
lying investments.

Pension terms 
The EQT AB Group has defined contribution plans that 
generally follows a specific table for level of contribu-
tions based on age and/or income level. Wherever 
possible, the contributions are only made on base 
salary up to locally set caps. Payments to these plans 
are made on a continuous basis according to the rules 
of each plan. The expenses for defined contribution 
plans in 2024 amounted to EUR 22.4m (EUR 19.5m). 

The chairperson of the board, Conni Jonsson, has a 
defined benefit pension plan which has been secured 
through a trust. The defined benefit plan consists partly 
of a guaranteed amount corresponding to the accumu-
lated amount of historical contributions and partly of a 
variable amount corresponding to the fair value of the 
trust’s net assets in excess of the guaranteed amount. If 
the fair value of the trust’s net assets is lower than the 
guaranteed amount EQT AB Group is obliged to con-
tribute the difference. As of 31 December 2024, EQT AB 
Group’s part of the fair value of the trust’s net assets, 

converted to euro, amounted to EUR 1.5m (EUR 2.3m) 
and the guaranteed amount amounted to EUR 0.4m 
(EUR 0.6m). From January 2018, there have been no 
further contributions to the trust.

Note 7 cont.

Note 8 Audit fees and expenses

EUR m 2024 2023
KPMG
Audit services 2.4 2.2
Tax consultancy 0.1 0.1
Other services 0.1 –
Other auditors
Audit services – –

Audit services refer to the legally required examination 
of the annual report and the book-keeping, the board 
of director’s and the CEO’s management and any other 
audit examinations or agreed-upon procedures deter-
mined by contract. This includes other work assign-
ments which rest upon the Company’s auditor to con-
duct, and advising or other support justified by 
observations in the course of the audit. 

Note 9 Financial income and expenses

EUR m 2024 2023
Interest income 63.5 37.5
Translation gains 72.5 13.4
Change in fair value of contingent con-
sideration 15.7 –
Other financial income 0.1 0.1
Financial income 151.9 51.1

Interest expenses –60.5 –57.1
Translation losses –73.3 –23.9
Other financial expenses –7.0 –5.5
Financial expenses –140.7 –86.5
Net financial income and expenses 11.2 –35.5

All interest income and expenses from financial assets 
and financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.
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Note 10 Income taxes

EQT AB Group has operations in different jurisdictions. 
Each jurisdiction has its own tax legislation and regula-
tions. Constant changes of the income tax rules and the 
interpretation of the legislation create exposures regard-
ing income taxes. The complexity of rules related to 
income taxes in different jurisdictions and the accounting 
for these require management’s involvement in judg-
ments and estimates. These estimates might differ from 
the actual outcome.

EQT AB Group has documented guidelines, processes 
and controls for managing both income taxes and other 
taxes. Through these processes the Group ensures that 
tax risks are identified and mitigated through tax risk 
identification processes. 

Taxes recognized in the income statement

EUR m 2024 2023
Current tax expense (–)/tax income (+)
Current tax expense / income for the year –138.2 –115.4
Tax attributable to prior years –0.3 –0.1

–138.5 –115.5
Deferred tax expense (–)/tax income (+)
Deferred tax related to temporary 
differences 20.5 15.3
Deferred tax related to prior years -4.8 -

15.6 15.3
Total reported income tax –122.9 –100.2

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

EUR m 2024
2023 

restated
Profit before income tax 899.2 277.4
Tax at parent company’s statutory  
rate 20.6% (20.6%) –185.2 –57.1
Effect of: 
Foreign tax rates1) –48.5 –42.7
Non-deductible expenses –74.2 –105.5
Non-taxable income2) 197.0 89.2
Change in non-recognized tax losses -6.4 16.7
Tax attributable to prior years –5.1 –0.1
Global minimum tax -1,2 –
Other 0.7 –0.7
Reported effective tax –122.9 –100.2

1)	� The effect of foreign tax rates is comprised of EUR -17.2m (EUR -14.7m) relating 
to tax rates applied in subsidiary jurisdictions deviating from the parent 
company statutory tax rate and EUR -31.3m (EUR -28.0m ) relating to tax rates 
applied in purchase price accounting.

2)	�Non-taxable income includes income that is not subject to taxation and income/
entities not recognized for tax purposes under the normal corporate income tax 
regime of the relevant jurisdiction, e.g. dividends and capital gains subject to 
local participation exemption regimes.

3)	The income tax expense included EUR 1.2m (EUR -m) of estimated Global 		
	 minimum tax which was attributable to the EQT AB Group’s earnings in 		
	 Singapore.

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities  
Change in deferred tax in temporary differences

2024 2023

EUR m
Deferred tax 

asset
Deferred tax 

liability
Deferred tax 

asset
Deferred tax 

liability
Property, plant and equipment 0.7 1.4 2.2 0.0
Intangible assets 26.8 332.7 60.2 360.8
Other 22.3 – 7.8 0.0
Tax loss carry-forward 23.0 – 22.0 –

72.7 334.1 92.1 360.8

The change in deferred tax in the balance sheet 
amounts to EUR 7.2m (EUR 26.5m). The change in  
deferred tax not recorded in the income statement 
predominantly relates to FX effects and other items 
recognized in equity.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets 
Accumulated tax losses and interest expense carry 
forwards for which no deferred taxes have been 
recognized amount to EUR 266.1m (EUR 201.8m). 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized as 
there is insufficient certainty regarding the availability 
of future taxable profits against which these tax losses 
and interest expense carry forwards can be utilized. 

The EUR 266.1m comprises unrecognized tax losses of 
EUR 172.8m (EUR 151.0m) mainly related to Luxembourg 
and the US and the unrecognized interest expense carry 
forwards of EUR 93.3m (EUR 50.8m) mainly related to 
Sweden and the US. The expiry dates of the tax losses 
and net interest expense carry forwards are within the 
following intervals: 

Temporary differences expiring 2024 2023
Within 10 years  47.6  1.8 
More than 10 years  87.9  92.0 
Indefinite  130.6  108.0 
Total  266.1  201.8 
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Note 11 Intangible assets

Other intangible assets

EUR m

Investor 
relation-

ships Trademark
Customer  
contracts

Other intan-
gible assets

Total Other-
intangible 

assets Goodwill

Accumulated cost
Opening balance 1.1.2024 1,472.3 191.6 2,044.7 101.9 3,810.5 2,132.6
Additions – – – - – –
Translation difference 80.9 11.1 111.0 -3.5 199.6 89.4
Closing balance 31.12.2024 1,553.2 202.7 2,155.8 98.4 4,010.1 2,222.0

Accumulated amortization and impairment

Opening balance 1.1.2024 -167.4 -42.6 –352.0 -100.9 –663.0 –
Amortization -100.3 -24.5 –240.0 - -364.8 –
Translation difference -12.6 -3.4 -27.3 2.6 –40.7 –
Closing balance 31.12.2024 -280.3 -70.4 –619.3 -98.4 –1,068.5 –
Carrying amount 31.12.2024 1,272.9 132.3 1,536.4 0.0 2,941.7 2,222.0

Accumulated cost
Opening balance 1.1.2023 1,523.0 198.6 2,114.3 101.4 3,937.3 2,172.2
Additions – – – 0.5 0.5 42.6
Translation difference -50.7 -7.0 -69.6 0.0 -127.2 -82.2
Closing balance 31.12.2023 1,472.3 191.6 2,044.7 101.9 3,810.5 2,132.6

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Opening balance 1.1.2023 -71.7 -19.3 –121.2 -100.4 –312.6 –
Amortization -100.1 -24.5 –239.5 -0.0 -364,2 –
Translation difference 4.4 1.2 8.7 -0.4 13.9 –
Closing balance 31.12.2023 -167.4 -42.6 –352.0 -100.9 –662.9 –
Carrying amount 31.12.2023 1,304.8 149.0 1,692.7 1.1 3,147.7 2,132.6

The Group’s intangible assets arise primarily from 
acquired businesses. These acquired intangible assets 
consist largely of goodwill but also trademark, customer 
contracts and investor relationship. For information on 
amortization, see the accounting policies in Note 2.

Goodwill
Goodwill is mainly attributable to performed acquisi-
tions, but also a small portion relating to the acquisition 
of EQT Partners AB, including subsidiaries, in 2007. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the lowest level 
within the EQT AB Group where goodwill is monitored 
for internal management purposes, which is the Real 

Asset segment EUR 1,043.0m (EUR 987.6m) and Private 
Capital segment EUR 1,179.1m (EUR 1,145.0m) respec-
tively. 

Amortization principles
The amortization is made, applying the straight-line 
method, over the estimated useful life, unless the useful 
life is indefinite. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently if there are indications of 
any potential impairment from events or changes in 
circumstances. Intangible assets with definite useful 
lives are amortized from the point in time they are 
available for the intended use. 

Estimated useful life:

Investor relationships 15 years
Trademark 5-8 years
Customer contracts Remaining term of contracts, 

between 3–7 years
Other 3-5 years

Amortization methods and useful lives are reviewed at 
each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment test of units containing goodwill
The recoverable amount was based on its value in use. 
The value in use was determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows generated from the continu-
ing use of the operation’s net operating assets. The 
following discount rates and long-term growth rates 
were used:

Private Capital 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Discount rate post-tax, % 9.9 9.9
Discount rate pre-tax, % 11.2 11.2
Annual cash flow growth beyond 
year 5, % 2.0 2.0

Real Assets 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Discount rate post-tax, % 8.8 8.8
Discount rate pre-tax, % 10.0 9.9
Annual cash flow growth beyond 
year 5, % 2.0 2.0

The discount rate used in the impairment test is the 
post-tax WACC, assuming no debt financing (i.e. equal 
to the cost of equity). The cost of equity has been 
calculated according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model 
(CAPM) and is based on the risk-free interest rate with 
addition of the market risk premium multiplied with the 
assumed beta value (based on beta values of similar 
quoted companies) and a size premium. 

Cash flows were projected for a period of five 
years, assuming constant annual growth rate thereaf-
ter. The cash flow forecasts are based on the budget for 
the following year and the long term forecast for years 
two to five. The operating profit forecast was mainly 
based on expected outcome of future fundraisings and 
increase in personnel expenses. Terminal growth rate, 
assumed from year six and onwards, is applied to an 
assumed stable cash flow in year five. 

The impairment test resulted in a value in use higher 
than the carrying amount with significant headroom. 
Management believes that any reasonably possible 
change in any of the key assumptions would not cause 
the recoverable amounts to be lower than the carrying 
values.
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Note 12 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

EUR m Equipment
Leasehold 

improvement
Acquisition cost
Opening balance 1.1.2024 18.3 74.8
Additions 8.0 9.5
Disposals –6.6 –0.6
Reclassification 5.4 1.0
Translation difference 0.3 1.6
Closing balance 31.12.2024 25.4 86.3

Depreciation
Opening balance 1.1.2024 –12.3 –28.2
Depreciation –3.7 –10.0
Disposals 6.4 0.5
Reclassification -5.4 -1.0
Translation difference -0.2 -0.6
Closing balance 31.12.2024 –15.2 –39.2
Carrying amount 10.1 47.1

Acquisition cost
Opening balance 1.1.2023 16.3 57.8
Additions 3.3 19.8
Disposals –0.8 –2.6
Translation difference –0.5 –0.3
Closing balance 31.12.2023 18.3 74.8

Depreciation
Opening balance 1.1.2023 –10.1 –20.3
Depreciation –3.0 –9.0
Disposals 0.5 0.8
Translation difference 0.3 0.3
Closing balance 31.12.2023 –12.3 –28.2
Carrying amount 6.0 46.6

Right-of-use assets

EUR m Office premises
Opening balance 1.1.2024 118.9
Depreciation –40.1
Other changes, net 115.8
Closing balance 31.12.2024 194.5

Opening balance 1.1.2023 126.8
Depreciation –33.7
Other changes, net 25.8
Closing balance 31.12.2023 118.9

Total Property, plant and equipment

EUR m 2024 2023
Equipment 10.1 6.0
Leasehold improvement 47.1 46.6
Office premises 194.5 118.9
Carrying amount 251.8 171.5

Depreciation principles
Depreciation is made over the asset’s estimated useful 
life using the straight-line method. Leased assets are 
also depreciated over the asset’s useful life or, if shorter, 
the term of the lease considering any extension or 
termination options, that are judged to be reasonably 
certain to be used, see Note 2 “Leases”.

The estimated useful life: 
Equipment� 3–5 years
Leasehold improvements� 3–10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

Note 13 Accounts receivable and other 
current assets

EUR m 2024 2023
Expenses to be recharged 37.1 71.5
Drawdown receivable 66.9 67.8
Other receivables on fund 162.6 104.3
Other receivables 71.4 100.1
Total other current assets 337.9 343.7

Note 14 Equity

Shares

2024 2023
Ordinary shares
Issued per 1 January 1,183,593,930 1,185,028,524
Converted C shares 348,106 365,406
Allocation of treasury shares 661,169 -
New share issue - 59,306,376
Buy-back –4,154,000 –61,106,376
Issued per 31 December – paid 1,180,449,205 1,183,593,930

Total numbers of C shares out-
standing 881,555 1,229,661
Total number of outstanding  
shares 1,181,330,760 1,184,823,591

All ordinary shares carry one vote and class C shares 
carry 0.1 vote. The class C shares carry the same eco-
nomic rights as ordinary shares.

As of 31 December 2024, EQT held 60,676,207 
(61,106,376) ordinary shares in treasury, which are not 
entitled to dividends or votes at shareholders’ meetings. 
Excluding shares held in treasury by EQT, there are 
1,181,330,760 outstanding shares in EQT. 

During the year EQT completed a repurchase of 
4.154.000 shares, corresponding to a value of EUR 
117.9m. The objective is to, over time, offset the dilution 
impact from EQT’s Incentive Programs. Total amount 
paid for shares held in treasury amounts to EUR 155.9m.

During 2024 (based on performance 2023), and in 
line with the EQT incentive programs, 661,169 of the 
shares held by EQT has been allocated to participants 
in the programs and is hence outstanding as of 31 
December 2024. 

During 2024, EQT cancelled 3,923,000 shares held 
by EQT.

Since 24 September 2019, EQT’s ordinary shares are 
listed on Nasdaq Stockholm Large Cap. 

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION TO THE OWNERS  
OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The Board of directors proposes a dividend to the 
shareholders of SEK 4.30 per share for the fiscal year 
2024. The dividend is proposed to be paid out in two 
equal installments, SEK 2.15 with record date 30 May 
2025, and SEK 2.15 with record date 1 December 2025. 
Should the Annual Shareholders' Meeting decide in 
favor of the proposal, payment of the dividend is 
expected to be made on 4 June 2025 and on 4 Decem-
ber 2025, respectively.

The Board of directors of EQT AB has adopted a 
dividend policy which aims to generate a steadily 
increasing annual dividend per share.

EQUITY MANAGEMENT
The EQT AB Group maintains a financial position that 
supports the confidence of investors, creditors and the 
market, and provides a basis for continued develop-
ment of business operations, and that the long-term 
returns generated to the shareholders are satisfactory. 
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RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY
At the time of the listing of EQT AB in 2019, and in 
relation to various subsequent acquisitions (including 
Exeter, Life Science Partners and BPEA), certain current 
and former employees have agreed, with certain 
exceptions, to not, without the prior written consent 
from EQT AB, sell or transfer their respective share 
holdings in EQT AB during a certain period of time 
(lock-up undertaking).

In addition to the restriction on selling or transfer-
ring the shareholding, the acquisition related lock-up 
undertakings also generally include vesting conditions 
under a “leaver put option clause” or a share forfeiture 
mechanism.

The shares within the previous EQT share program 
(adopted by the shareholders 2019) constitute non-listed 
class C shares, with rights to receive dividends and with 
0.1 vote, that will be held for three years before being 
converted into ordinary shares that can be traded.

The ordinary shares allocated to participants within 
the current EQT Share Program (adopted by the share-
holders 2023) are subject to a holding period of three 
years following each relevant time of allocation. During 
such holding period, the shares can not be transferred 
or disposed.

Other than the above there are no restrictions on 
the transferability of the EQT AB shares due to statutory 
provisions, the articles of association or, as far as the 
Company is aware, any agreement.

An overview of the expiry of various lock-up undertakings can be found below.

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
#number of shares released (in millions) Feb Sep Feb Sep Feb Sep Feb Sep Feb Sep
IPO 98 100 87 63 63
Exeter 14
LSP 2 2 4
BPEA 29 29 29 29 29
Total 2 143 – 129 – 120 – 93 – 93
% of number of shares 0.2% 11.5% – 10.4% – 9.7% – 7.5% – 7.5%

Note 14 cont.
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Note 15 Interest bearing liabilities

For more information regarding the EQT AB Group’s 
exposure to interest risks and foreign currency risks, in 
respect of interest-bearing liabilities, see Note 18.

EUR m 2024 2023
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities1) 161.3 91.2
Bond loan2) 2,020.5 2,020.8

2,181.7 2,112.1
Current liabilities
Short-term loans – –
Loans from credit institutions – –
Current portion of lease liabilities1) 41.2 34.3

41.2 34.3

1)	 Lease liabilities, for further information, see Note 19.
2)	Bond loan, for further information, see Note 18.

Note 16 Other liabilities

EUR m 2024 2023
Other current liabilities
Drawdown 9.6 6.4
Other 116.1 107.8

125.6 114.2

Note 17 Accrued expenses and prepaid 
income

EUR m 2024 2023
Accrued personnel expenses 313.8 263.5
Accrued consultancy fees 19.7 25.7
Other accrued expenses 192.1 157.1
Prepaid income 111.5 74.1

637.0 520.5

Note 18 Financial instruments and financial 
risks 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The EQT AB Group conducts a risk management frame-
work to mitigate and control EQT AB Group’s financial 
risks in a cost-efficient manner. The financial risk 
management is covered in the EQT AB Group Finance 
Policy. The policy is reviewed yearly, and any new 
version must be approved by EQT AB Group’s Board of 
directors who has the ultimate responsibility for the 
establishment and control mechanisms of the Group’s 
risk management. The EQT AB Group is exposed to the 
following financial risks:

	— Credit risk
	— Liquidity risk
	— Market risks (interest rate risk, currency risk, fair 
value risk of holdings in EQT funds)

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk arises from the potential financial loss in the 
event a counterparty to EQT AB Group is unable to fulfil 
its obligations towards the EQT AB Group. This relates 
primarily to receivables and contract assets, cash held at 
bank accounts, any derivative instruments outstanding 

with a positive fair value and any financial guarantees. 
The credit risk exposures are regularly reviewed to assess 
exposures and concentrations of risks in accordance with 
procedures set out in EQT AB Group’s Treasury Guide-
lines. 

The book value of financial assets excluding Finan-
cial investments (incl carried interest) represents the 
EQT AB Group’s maximum exposure to credit risks from 
recognised financial assets. At 31 December 2024 
financial assets amounted to EUR 5,780.1m (EUR 
4,657.1m). Financial guarantees can hypothetically also 
give rise to some credit risk. The financial guarantees 
are described below under the heading Financial 
guarantees. Financial investments (incl carried interest) 
give rise to fair value risk, not credit risk.

Receivables and contract assets
The Group’s exposure to credit risk from receivables 
and contract assets is defined by the characteristics of 
the individual counterparties, primarily consisting of 
EQT funds. Credit risks are reviewed on a regular basis 
and there are no significant credit risks identified as of 
the balance sheet date, nor have there been any during 
the reporting period.

The Group regularly reviews expected credit losses 
for receivables and contract assets, primarily based on 
historical losses. The Group has historically not suffered 
any material losses from receivables and contract 
assets and there are no receivables post due at the 
balance sheet date (none). The expected credit loss at 
the balance sheet date is therefore considered insignifi-
cant (insignificant).

Cash and cash equivalents
The financial credit risk exposure mainly arises from 
cash deposits held on bank accounts. EQT AB Group’s 
Treasury Guidelines stipulates which banks that are 
approved for cash deposits and relationships are 

closely monitored by the Group’s Treasury department. 
The minimum official credit rating for a counterparty, in 
terms of deposits, is BBB (S&P, or S&P equivalent). As of 
31 December 2024, the Group held cash and cash 
equivalents of EUR 1,024.0m (EUR 1,114.0m).

Expected credit losses are assessed on a regular 
basis primarily based on external credit ratings for the 
counterparties and information about historical losses. 
The EQT AB Group has historically not suffered any 
losses from cash and cash equivalents. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2024, the expected credit losses are considered 
insignificant and reflects the short maturities of the 
deposits and the credit quality of counterparties 
reflected in the external credit ratings (insignificant).

Distribution of cash and cash equivalents by credit 
rating of counterparties:

Credit rating 31.12.2024
A+ 82%
A– 18%
BBB 0%
Total 100%

Credit rating 31.12.2023
A+ 81%
A– 18%
BBB 1%
Total 100%

Financial guarantees
The EQT AB Group has guaranteed to cover certain 
carried interest claw-back obligations related to the 
funds EQT VIII, EQT IX, EQT X, EQT Growth, EQT Future, 
EQT Infrastructure IV, EQT Infrastructure V, EQT Infra-
structure VI, EQT Healthcare Growth and BPEA IX. 
Under the limited partnership agreement of each 
applicable fund vehicle, an assessment will be made at 
termination of the fund to determine if there has been 
an overpayment of carried interest to the Special 
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Limited Partner (being the recipient of carried interest). 
Any overpayment of carried interest will in the first 
instance be satisfied by a return of amounts which are 
placed into escrow to cover a claw-back scenario. In 
the unlikely event that amounts held in escrow would be 
insufficient to cover the claw-back liability, then the 
guarantee may be called upon to cover the balance. At 
31 December 2024, no carried interest had been gener-
ated, nor paid, from EQT X, EQT Growth, EQT Future, 
EQT Infrastructure IV, EQT Infrastructure V, EQT Infra-
structure VI, EQT Healthcare Growth or BPEA IX (none). 
EQT VIII has generated and paid EUR 122.4m in carried 
interest (EUR 104.1m) and EQT IX has generated and 
paid EUR 13.1m in carried interest (EUR 0.0m). As of 31 
December 2024, it is estimated that EQT AB Group does 
not have any exposure related to these guarantees 
(none).

For the benefit of a working capital facility for a 
number of carry schemes, the EQT AB Group has issued 
a guarantee of EUR 50.0m (EUR 50.0m) to the financial 
institution providing this facility. According to the terms 
of this guarantee, the EQT AB Group will pay to the 
financial institution the relative amount due under the 
facility agreement if a carry scheme is in default on 
debt repayment, i.e. the maximum exposure to credit 
risk, at 31 December 2024 amounts to EUR 50.0m (EUR 
50.0m).

In order to facilitate certain individuals’ financing, 
through loans from a financial institution, of investments 
in carry schemes related to funds raised since 2015, the 
EQT AB Group has issued guarantees to the relevant 
financial institution. According to the terms of these 
guarantees, the EQT AB Group will pay to the lender 
any amounts due under the loan agreements due to the 
individuals being in default on debt repayment. In 
addition, the individuals have entered into agreements 
with the EQT AB Group, by which they have agreed to 
reimburse the EQT AB Group for any amount that the 

EQT AB Group has paid to the lender under the guaran-
tee. The total amount covered by the guarantees, i.e. 
the maximum exposure to credit risk, at 31 December 
2024 amounts to EUR 29.6m (EUR 28.9m).

The amounts related to financial guarantees has not 
had any significant effect on the EQT AB Group’s finan-
cial position at 31 December 2024 and has not affected 
the EQT AB Group’s profit or loss for 2024.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The EQT AB Group’s liquidity risk relates to its ability to 
meet obligations associated with liabilities and commit-
ments that are settled by cash payments. The EQT AB 
Group manages its liquidity risk by ensuring sufficient 
liquidity to meet its obligations when due under both 
normal as well as stressed conditions. The Group 
performs cash forecasting, updated at least on a 
monthly basis. On 10 July 2024, EQT extended its exist-
ing EUR 1.5 billion sustainability-linked revolving credit 
facility (RCF) for 5 years, with two 1-year extension 
options. The RCF was originally signed on 21 December 
2020 and increased to EUR 1.5 billion on 25 April 2022. 
The RCF is not limited to a specific currency, it can be 
utilized in both EUR and USD, by both EQT AB and EQT 
Treasury AB. As of 31 December 2024 the RCF was 
undrawn. On 14 May 2021, EQT AB issued a EUR 500m 
sustainability-linked bond with a maturity of 10 years. 
The annual coupon rate is 0.875 percent. On 6 April 
2022, EQT AB issued a EUR 750m sustainability-linked 
bond with a maturity of 6 years and a coupon rate of 
2.375 percent, and also a EUR 750m sustainabili-
ty-linked bond with a maturity of 10 years and a coupon 
rate of 2.875 percent. The bonds further increased the 
EQT AB Group’s financial flexibility and are used for 
corporate purposes, supporting the EQT AB Group’s 
growth initiatives and long-term strategy. Both the RCF 
and the bonds are linked to sustainability-related 
objectives, meaning that the interest rates of the bonds 

and the RCF are increased if the targets are not 
achieved, and the interest rate of the RCF is lowered if 
the targets are met. It underscores EQT’s approach to 
sustainability as an integral part of the EQT AB Group’s 
business model and the EQT funds’ portfolio companies. 
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2024 
amounted to EUR 1,024.0m (EUR 1,114.0m). 

Distribution of remaining contractual cash flows of 
the EQT AB Group’s financial liabilities:

Carrying 
amount Expected maturity

EUR m 31.12.2024 Total 2025 2026
After 
2026

Interest-bearing 
liabilities 2,020.5 2,242.8 43.8 43.8 2,155.3
Accounts payable 7.7 7.7 7.7 — —
Other liabilities 71.4 71.4 71.4 — —
Accrued expenses 209.4 209.4 209.4 — —
Leasing liabilities 202.5 236.0 35.6 29.1 171.3
Remaining 
commitments 446.5
Total 2,511.4 3,213.6 367.8 72.9 2,326.6

Carrying 
amount Expected maturity

EUR m 31.12.2023 Total 2024 2025
After 
2025

Interest-bearing 
liabilities 2,020.8 2,286.1 43.8 43.8 2,198.5
Accounts payable 12.2 12.2 12.2 — —
Other liabilities 72.9 72.9 72.9 — —
Accrued expenses 179.3 179.3 179.3 — —
Leasing liabilities 125.5 130.4 31.3 28.4 70.7
Remaining 
commitments 527.9
Total 2,410.6 3,208.8 339.5 72.2 2,269.2

Translation into EUR of amounts denominated in foreign 
currency has been done using the exchange rate at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Accounts payables have a maturity of less than one 
year. Other payables include drawdown notices issued 
by the Special Limited Partners in the funds, normally 
with payment terms of 10 days. 

At 31 December 2024, the EQT AB Group had 
remaining commitments to invest in multiple EQT funds 
and fund related vehicles of a total amount of EUR 
446.5m (EUR 527.9m). The commitments are called over 
time, normally between one to five years following the 
commitment.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The EQT AB Group’s interest rate risk, related to fluctua-
tions in market interest rates with potential impact on 
the EQT AB Group’s net financial income, is limited as 
the Group’s only long-term interest-bearing debt as of 
31 December 2024 are the sustainability-linked bonds 
with 6- and 10-year fixed coupon rates, subject to 
sustainability-related objectives. Should the EQT AB 
Group be exposed to interest rate risk, the EQT AB 
Group Finance Policy allows for use of derivatives to 
manage the risk.

As of 31 December 2024 the EQT AB Group’s interest 
rate risk mainly relates to interest rates received/paid 
on cash deposits, which normally do not exceed the 
National bank rate for the relevant currency. Changes 
in cash deposits interest rates will affect the Group’s 
interest income. lf all interest rates on cash deposits 
would increase by 25 basis points, the EQT AB Group’s 
annual interest income would increase by EUR 2.6m 
(EUR 2.8m), assuming the same level of cash deposits 
as of the balance sheet date.

EQT AB Group is not exposed to significant cash 
flow risk due to changes of market interest rates in its 
lease liabilities, even if cashflows are subject to index 
adjustments for certain contracts. 

Note 18 cont.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group’s foreign currency risk relates to potential 
changes in exchange rates with impact on the Group’s 
income statement and/or the value of its assets and 
liabilities.

The Group’s income is primarily denominated in EUR 
and/or USD and its expenses are primarily denomi-
nated in EUR, GBP, SEK and USD. Expenses are also 
denominated in AUD, BRL, CHF, CNY, CZK, DKK, HKD, 
INR, JPY, KRW, NOK, PLN and SGD. In most subsidiaries, 
the income and expenses are denominated in the same 
currency as the functional currency of the entity and 
does therefore not create any currency effects in the 
Group’s income statement. The Group’s presentation 
currency is EUR. Income and expenses denominated in 
EUR are therefore not directly affected by changes in 
exchange rates. However, when income and expenses 
arise in entities with a functional currency other than 
EUR, the Group’s operating profits will be affected by 
changes in exchange rates in the period between initial 
recognition of revenue or expense and settlement. 

The exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily 
related to the parent company, EQT AB, and the subsidi-
ary EQT Partners AB, both with the functional currency 
SEK. The currency risk arises as the majority of the 
income in these entities is denominated in EUR and the 
expenses are in SEK. In 2024, EUR 436.9m (EUR 349.8m) 
of income in these two entities (99 percent of total 
income) were denominated in EUR.

In 2024, currency effects of EUR 3.0m (EUR –0.8m) 
were recognized in the Group’s operating profit.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the 
balance sheet date is primarily related to receivables, 
cash balances and liabilities held in currencies other 
than the functional currency of the entity. This exposure 
primarily arises in the parent company, EQT AB and in 
the subsidiaries, EQT Partners AB and BPEA EQT Hold-
ings AB, due to receivables, cash balances and liabilities 

in EUR and USD. A strengthening/weakening of the EUR 
and USD by 5 percent against SEK at 31 December 2024 
would affect the value of those assets, liabilities and the 
Group’s income statement by approximately EUR 
+/–113.3m (holding all other factors constant) (EUR+/–
112.7m). The sensitivity presented reflect the balances at 
the balance sheet date.

The Group is also exposed to currency risk when 
translating the balance sheets and income statements 
of the parent company and the subsidiaries with a func-
tional currency other than EUR into the presentation 
currency of the Group. The balance sheets are trans-
lated using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date 
and the income statements are translated using the 
average exchange rate for the period. The translation 
effect is recognized in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity for the Group. The translation 
effect recognized in other comprehensive income in 
2024 was EUR 309.1m (EUR –229.7m).

Generally, the exposure to foreign currency risk is 
not hedged. However, EQT AB Group’s Finance Policy 
allows forward contracts to be used to buy future needs 
of foreign currencies in advance. 

No speculative trading with currencies is allowed 
according to the EQT AB Group Finance Policy.

FAIR VALUE RISK
The EQT AB Group is exposed to fair value risk in the 
form of changes in the Net Asset Value (NAV) for finan-
cial investments held by the EQT AB Group classified at 
fair value through profit or loss. The risk of changes in 
NAV is a natural consequence of the EQT AB Group’s 
business and the risk is not hedged in any way. The 
effect of changes in the NAV on the EQT AB Group’s 
profit or loss is presented below under the heading 
“Sensitivity analysis of fair values”.

Classification of financial assets and liabilities in measurement categories
Distribution of carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement categories stipulated 
by IFRS 9.

31.12.2024, EUR m
Fair value through 

profit or loss
Financial assets at  

amortized cost
Financial liabilities at  

amortized cost Total
Financial assets
Other financial assets 0.0 10.1 10.1
Accounts receivable 0.0 0.0
Financial investments incl carried interest 4,302.3 0.0 4,302.3
Other current assets 337.9 337.9
Accrued income 105.8 105.8
Cash and cash equivalents 1,024.0 1,024.0
Total financial assets 4,302.3 1,477.8 — 5,780.1

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,020.5 2,020.5
Accounts payable 7.7 7.7
Other liabilities 71.4 71.4
Accrued expenses 209.4 209.4
Total financial liabilities — — 2,308.9 2,308.9

31.12.2023, EUR m

Fair value through 
profit or loss 

restated
Financial assets at  

amortized cost restated
Financial liabilities at  

amortized cost Total restated
Financial assets
Other financial assets 0.0 16.7 16.7
Accounts receivable 0.0 0.0
Financial investments incl carried interest 3,038.9 0.0 3,038.9
Other current assets 343.7 343.7
Accrued income 143.8 143.8
Cash and cash equivalents 1,114.0 1,114.0
Total financial assets 3,038.9 1,618.2 — 4,657.1

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,020.8 2,020.8
Accounts payable 12.2 12.2
Other liabilities 72.9 72.9
Accrued expenses 179.3 179.3
Total financial liabilities — — 2,285.1 2,285.1

Note 18 cont.
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EQT AB has issued sustainability-linked bonds (classified 
as an interest-bearing liability in the balance sheet) with 
fixed coupon rates linked to sustainability-related objec-
tives. Fair value as of 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 
1,906.5m (carrying amount: EUR 2,000.0m). For EQT AB 
Group’s other financial assets and liabilities (accounts 
receivables, other current assets, accrued income, cash, 
deposits, accounts payables, other liabilities and accrued 
expenses) the carrying amounts are considered reason-
able approximations of their fair values. This also holds 
for other long-term assets and interest-bearing liabilities 
since these carry variable interest and therefore the fair 
value is not significantly affected by changes in the 
market interest rates.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value is the price that would be received if an asset 
was sold, or paid if a liability was transferred in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The EQT AB Group measures fair 
values using the following fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements:

	— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

	— Inputs – other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 – that are observable for assets or liabilities, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, 
derived from prices) (level 2)

	— Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on 
observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (level 3)

EQT AB Group measures investments, including 
carried interest, at fair value in the balance sheet. 
Carried interest is a part of a financial instrument that 
the EQT AB Group acquires in an arm's length transac-
tion through its holdings in the Special Limited Partners 

(SLP). The return on carried interest is fully dependent 
on the performance of the relevant fund and is either 
payable at the end of the life of the fund or paid as 
installments at the time of realization within each fund, 
or a combination thereof.

LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUES (FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
INCLUDING CARRIED INTEREST)
The table below shows a reconciliation of level 3 fair 
values for financial investments including carried 
interest.

EUR m 2024
2023 

restated
Opening balance 3,038.9 2,957.6

whereof carried interest 2,308.2 2,289.2
Net change in fair value 548.7 156.3

whereof carried interest 587.1 134.0
Investments 865.0 208.3
Reclassifications 99.0 -
Realization -275.6 -283.3

whereof realized (cash) carried interest -59.1 -114.7
Translation differences 26.3 0.0
Closing balance 4,302.3 1) 3,038.9

whereof carried interest 2,862.5 2,308.2

1) whereof EUR 735m relates to strategic investments to support new initiatives.

FAIR VALUE FOR FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
Financial investments disclosed as level 3 financial 
instruments primarily consist of investments in EQT 
funds. The fair value of EQT AB Group’s financial invest-
ments in EQT funds are based on the net asset value 
after taking all assets and deducting all liabilities and 
provisions. The valuation processes and techniques 
described below, therefore, relate to the most signifi-
cant processes and techniques for valuing the underly-
ing holdings of the funds. 

In valuing the underlying investments, the funds 
apply the International Private Equity and Venture 

Capital Valuation Guidelines (IPEV Guidelines) when 
determining the fair values for the holdings in the funds. 
Determining the fair value requires subjective assess-
ment with varying degrees of judgment regarding what 
market participants would use in estimating the value of 
an asset, including valuation methodology, pricing 
assumptions, the current economic and competitive 
environment, and the risks affecting the specific asset.

For certain investments, primarily within real estate, 
the funds make use of external valuation agents. Valua-
tion agents within real estate operate under the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation – 
Global Standards, which incorporate the International 
Valuation Standards as published by the International 
Valuation Standards Council (IVSC).  

The valuation methods applied by the funds are 
applied consistently from period-to-period, and only 
changed if deemed necessary to reflect a representa-
tive fair value.

EQT AB Group applies control processes to ensure 
that the fair value of the financial assets reported in the 
consolidated financial statements are in accordance 
with applicable accounting standards and determined 
on a reasonable basis. This includes ensuring that the 
underlying valuations are consistent with the IPEV 
Guidelines, where relevant, and ensuring that the 
valuations are supported by underlying documentation.

The following valuation techniques are applied by 
the funds to determine fair values of investments in line 
with IFRS 13.

Carried interest 
From a valuation perspective carried interest is valued 
as a separate component of the investment in the SLP. 
The value of the financial investments related to carried 
interest is based on a calculation of the accrued alloca-
tion of carried interest to EQT AB Group for each fund 
pursuant to the fund agreements as if all underlying 

investments were realized at the current fair value as of 
such date, i.e., the net asset value of the fund. In order 
to further validate the value EQT AB Group also takes 
into consideration additional historical information such 
as fund performance and deployment to date as well as 
forward looking information such as the expected 
future deployment of the fund including but not limited 
to the expected future pattern of drawdowns, the 
expected holding period of investments and lifetime of 
the fund. As some of the inputs in the model are not 
based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3.

Valuation of quoted investments
Investments quoted on an active market are measured 
at the latest available quoted price for the individual 
asset on the measurement date.

Valuation of unquoted investments
Unquoted investments are primarily valued with a 
multiples (market) approach or discounted cash flow 
(income) approach.

Under the multiples approach, the funds determine 
the fair value of investments with revenues, sustainable 
profits, and/or positive cash flows by applying earnings 
multiples. These multiples are derived from publicly 
traded peer companies and comparable transactions.

Under the discounted cash flow (DCF) approach, 
expected cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a rate that reflects both the time value of 
money, and the risks associated with the specific instru-
ment. The discount rate is determined based on current 
market conditions and the expected return on the 
investment.

Unobservable inputs to valuation techniques
When measuring fair value, the funds use non-observ-
able market inputs in its valuation techniques. Signifi-

Note 18 cont.
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Note 19 Leases

AS A LESSEE
The EQT AB Group’s leases mainly consist of office 
premises. The carrying amount of the right-of-use 
assets for the year can be found in Note 12. The lease 
liabilities are presented in the balance sheet and a 
maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is presented in 
Note 18. 

Amounts recognized in the income statement 

EUR m 2024 2023
Interest on lease liabilities 6.9 3.5
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 40.1 33.7

47.0 37.2

EQT AB Group recognizes short-term leases and low 
value leases directly in the income statement. The 
leasing amounts for short-term leases and low value 
leases that have been expensed during 2024 and 2023 
are not significant.

Amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows

EUR m 2024 2023
Total cash outflow for leases 39.5 35.1

Right-of-use asset in the balance sheet 

EUR m 2024 2023
Additions in the right-of-use asset1) 112.3 35.1

1)	 Additions in the right-of-use asset consists of both renewals of lease contracts 
and lease contracts added through acquisitions.

cant unobservable inputs include earnings multiples, 
discount rates, capitalization rates, and the physical 
and geographic location of assets.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF FAIR VALUES
From an EQT AB Group perspective, financial invest-
ments, including carried interest, are measured at fair 
value normally by applying their relative share of the 
net asset values. A reasonable possible change of +/- 10 
percent in the net asset value would affect the fair value 
of the investments including carried interest at 31 
December 2024 with approximately EUR +600.0m or 
EUR -800.0m respectively whereof carried interest 
represents EUR +500.0m or EUR -700.0m respectively. 
The effects of any changes in fair value, excluding 
investments and realizations, would be recognized in 
the income statement.

Although the EQT AB Group believes that its esti-
mates of fair values are appropriate, the use of differ-
ent methodologies and different unobservable inputs 
could lead to different measurements of fair value. No 
other changes in unobservable input factors would 
result in any material changes in fair value. 

Office premises leases
EQT AB Group leases office premises for its office 
space. The leases of office space typically run for a 
period of 3–10 years. Some leases of office premises 
contain extension options exercisable by the EQT AB 
Group up to 6 months before the end of the contract 
period. Where practicable, the EQT AB Group seeks to 
include extension options in the leases to provide 
operational flexibility. The extension options held are 
exercisable only by the EQT AB Group and not by the 
lessors. The EQT AB Group assesses at lease com-
mencement whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the extension options. This assessment is based on all 
relevant facts and circumstances that exist at the 
commencement date. EQT AB Group reassesses 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options 
if there is a significant event or significant change in 
circumstances within its control.

Some leases provide for additional rent payments 
that are based on changes in local price indices. Some 
also require the EQT AB Group to make payments that 
relate to the property taxes levied on the lessor and is 
generally determined annually. 

Note 18 cont.
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Note 20 Cash flow specifications

Transactions that do not involve payments	

EUR m 2024 2023
Acquisition of assets through lease 112.3 30.4

Reconciliation of debts arising from financing activities

EUR m Lease liabilities Short-term loan
Interest-bearing 

liabilities1)

Total debt arising 
from financing 

activities
Opening balance 1.1.2024 125.5 — 2,020.8 2,146.4
Cash flows incl interest –39.5 — –43.8 –83.3
Non-cash changes:

Accrued interest 6.9 — 32.5 39.4
Other 109.6²) — 10.9 120.5

Closing balance 31.12.2024 202.6 — 2,020.5 2,223.0

EUR m Lease liabilities Short-term loan
Interest-bearing 

liabilities1)

Total debt arising 
from financing 

activities
Opening balance 1.1.2023 131.5 — 2,017.4 2,148.9
Cash flows incl interest –35.1 — –43.8 –78.9
Non-cash changes

Accrued interest 3.5 — 32.5 36.0
Other 25.6²) — 14.7 40.3

Closing balance 31.12.2023 125.5 — 2,020.8 2,146.4

1)	 Interest-bearing liabilities, for further information, see Note 18.
2)	Other mainly relates to acquisition of assets through lease.

Other non-cash adjustments
Other non-cash adjustments relate to the part of the 
acquisition considerations subject to lock-up EUR 
228.0m (EUR 436.4m) as well as the non-cash portion of 
equity incentive program cost EUR 93.3m (EUR 43.9m).

Unutilized credit facilities

EUR m 2024 2023
Unutilized credit facilities 1,500.0 1,500.0

On 10 July 2024, EQT extended its existing EUR 1.5 billion
sustainability-linked revolving credit facility (RCF) for 5 
years, with two 1-year extension options. The RCF was 
originally signed on 21 December 2020 and increased to 
EUR 1.5 billion on 25 April 2022. 

Note 21 Pledged assets and contingent 
liabilities

EQT AB Group has no pledged assets or contingent 
liabilities as of 31 December 2024 (none).

Note 22 Events after the reporting period

In January 2025 the Swedish Tax Agency issued deci-
sions to EQT levying social security charges on carried 
interest distributions to individuals. The decisions, which 
are in line with the draft decisions previously issued, 
have been appealed by EQT and will be tried in court. 
This matter relates to historical periods and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the EQT AB 
Group.

In February 2025, Per Franzén was appointed as 
new CEO and Managing Partner of EQT, effective as of 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 May 2025. 
Christian Sinding will remain as CEO and Managing 
Partner during the transition period and thereafter 
become an Institutional Partner. Christian will Chair the 
EQT Council and continue to lead the Global Investment 
Forum and remain a member of several EQT fund 
Investment Committees.
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Note 23 Related parties

Expenses for salaries, other remuneration and pensions 
for the EQT AB Group’s senior executive management 
and the Board of directors in EQT AB are presented in 
Note 7. Apart from what is stated in Note 7 there are 

certain transactions that have occurred between the 
EQT AB Group and its related parties and these are 
specified in the table below.

Transactions with related parties

EURm
Sales of goods,  

services and assets
 Purchases of  

goods and services
Receivables as 

per 31 Dec
Liabilities as  

per 31 Dec
Related parties

Board members and senior executives 2024 0.9 0.6 – –
Board members and senior executives 2023 0.9 0.0 – –

Description of transactions
In April 2019, the Company entered into a consultancy 
agreement with the Company’s board member Gordon 
Orr. In accordance with this consultancy agreement, 
Gordon Orr shall – in parallel to his assignment as a 
member of the Board of directors – provide consultancy 
services as an EQT Advisor to support EQT’s administra-
tion of the EQT Network. Gordon Orr is entitled to an 
annual fixed retainer of EUR 35,000 for the provision of 
these consultancy services. The consultancy agreement 
was initially entered into for a fixed period until 30 June 
2020 but is automatically prolonged on a yearly basis in 
accordance with the terms of the agreement. Both EQT 
AB and the consultant may terminate the consultancy 
agreement with one month’s notice.

In 2024, EQT AB Group has been invoiced by two 
companies that are indirectly controlled by a board 
member for hotel and conference services, these 
transactions amounted in total to EUR 0.5m (EUR 0.0m).

Apart from above, EQT AB Group has invoiced a 
company controlled by a board member for adminis-

trative services during 2024 and 2023. The total amount 
of these transactions amounted to EUR 0.1m (EUR 0.1m).  

During 2024, EQT AB Group has paid EUR 767,571 
(EUR 764,606), amount converted from SEK, in pension 
to the chairperson of the board, Conni Jonsson. How-
ever, EQT AB Group has historically made contributions 
to a pension trust so in conjunction with the payment 
from EQT AB Group to Conni Jonsson, EQT AB Group 
have also invoiced the corresponding amount to the 
pension trust. Thus, the payments of the pension were 
cost neutral for EQT AB Group during 2024 and 2023.

There have been no other significant transactions 
between EQT AB Group and its related parties during 
the period.

Note 24 Subsidiaries

Group companies

Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
EQT Partners AB Sweden 556233-7229 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Spain, S.L.U. Spain B01597822 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 77321227 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Denmark ApS Denmark 41073381 100% 100%
  EQT Partners AG Switzerland CHE-113.618.871 100% 100%
  EQT Partners AS Norway 940532981 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Australia Pty Ltd Australia 638432318 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Australia II Pty Ltd Australia 638488623 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Japan K.K. Japan 0104-01-158103 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Korea Co., Ltd. South Korea 110111-8167854 100% 100%
  EQT Partners GmbH Germany HRB 127746 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Belgium B.V. Belgium 0843.203.083 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Inc. USA 4401345 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Oy Finland 1098042-8 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Asia Limited Hong Kong 10199637 100% 100%
    EQT Partners Shanghai Limited China 310000400514790 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Poland sp. z o.o. Poland 0001068859 100% 0%
  EQT Partners Limited UK 6590781 100% 100%
    EQT Partners UK Advisors LLP UK OC338685 0% 100%
    EQT Partners UK Advisors II LLP UK OC397306 0% 100%
  EQT Partners S.R.L. Italy 10552820960 100% 100%
  EQT Partners SAS France 85392898400014 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore 200004783Z 100% 100%
    EQT Partners India Private Limited India U74140MH2009PTC216794 100% 100%
      EQT Partners India Private Limited, Bengaluru Branch India - - -
  EQT Partners Capital Limited Hong Kong 2629750 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 645312 100% 100%
    EQT Partners Beijing Limited China 91110105MA01N0FP32 100% 100%
    EQT Partners Hong Kong Limited Beijing Rep Office China 911100006804526911 0% 100%
    BPEA Shanghai Limited China 91310000MA1FYJ229F 100% 100%
    EQT Partners Hong Kong Shanghai Rep Office China 91310000752480166Q 100% 100%
    PT BPEA Private Advisors Indonesia AHU-AH.01.03-0376884 100% 100%
EQT Exeter Advisors Sweden AB Sweden 559296-3507 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 83321047 100% 100%
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Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
  EQT Exeter Advisors Spain S.L. Spain B88285325 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors France SAS France 819960634 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Australia Pty Ltd Australia 659318975 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Japan K.K. Japan 0104-01-089160 100% 67%
    JLML 11 GK Japan 0104-03-021462 0% 100%
  EQT Exeter Korea Limited South Korea 465-81-00642 88% 75%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Germany GmbH Germany HRB 101640 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Belgium B.V. Belgium 0781.995.192 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Asia Pacific Advisors Pte. Limited Singapore 202100784Z 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter China Ventures Limited Hong Kong 71631486 100% 100%
  �  EQT Exeter Management Advisors (Shanghai) Co., Ltd China 91310000 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Austria GmbH Austria FN551349H 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Italy S.r.l. Italy 11641590960 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors Poland Sp. z o.o. Poland 0000587835 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Advisors UK Limited UK 13306870 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Ireland Limited Ireland 653468 100% 100%
  EQT Partners Czechia spol. s r.o. Czech Republic 11889756 100% 100%
  Exeter UK Advisor, LLP UK OC396135 0% 100%
  Exeter Europe (UK), Ltd UK 09284690 100% 100%
EQT Services (UK) Limited UK 07936651 100% 100%
EQT Corporate Services Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 74993097 100% 100%
EQT Treasury AB Sweden 559227-5647 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings AB Sweden 559244-1462 100% 100%
    EQT Lightspeed S.à r.l. Luxembourg B246446 100% 100%
    EEAKLV Limited South Korea 110114-0295277 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter China Investments 1 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 202217730H 100% 100%
   �   EQT Exeter Supply Chain (Changzhou) Company Limited China 91320411MABQC28C0W 0% 100%
  EQT Holdings III AB Sweden 559289-1864 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings S.à r.l. Luxembourg B244018 100% 100%
    EQT Growth (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B249692 100% 100%
    EQT Growth Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B252708 - -
    ENIF Holdings (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B284847 100% 0%
    EQT Infrastructure V (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B243962 100% 100%
    EQT Infrastructure V Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B247380 - -
    EQT IX (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B238938 100% 100%
      EQT IX GP LLC USA 3167396 100% 100%
    EQT IX Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B243133 - -
    EQT Future (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B252846 100% 100%
    EQT Future Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B255163 - -

Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
    EQT X (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B255058 100% 100%
    EQT X Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B256955 - -
    BPEA Private Equity GP IX S.à r.l. Luxembourg B286136 100% 0%
    EQT FC Sicar SCA 1) Luxembourg B279712 - -
    EQT Ventures III (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B258957 100% 100%
    EQT Ventures III Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B259004 - -
  �  EQT Active Core Infrastructure (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B260249 100% 100%
    EQT Active Core Infrastructure Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B259827 - -
    EQT Infrastructure VI (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B265893 100% 100%
    EQT Infrastructure VI Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B271546 - -
    BPEA EQT Mid-Market Growth GP, S.à r.l. Luxembourg B272128 100% 100%
    Bpea EQT Mid-Market Growth Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B281085 - -
    ENXF Holdings (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B277211 100% 100%
    EQT LSP 8 (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B288189 100% 0%
    EQT Life Sciences 8-Dementia (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B291005 100% 0%
    EQT Real Estate Europe Living II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B290845 100% 0%
    EQT Future II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B291854 100% 0%
    EQT Growth II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B291856 100% 0%
    EQT Ventures IV (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B291852 100% 0%
    EQT XI (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B291942 100% 0%
    EQT Healthcare Growth (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B268189 100% 100%
    EQT Healthcare Growth Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B281254 - -
    EQT Transition Infrastructure (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B275352 100% 100%
    EQT Transition Infrastructure Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B290860 - -
    Exeter Europe GP, LLC USA 5610896 100% 100%
      Exeter Europe, LP USA 5610898 100% 100%
        Exeter Europe Value Venture III GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B216344 100% 100%
    �    Exeter Europe Value Venture III Feeder GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B220583 100% 100%
        Exeter Europe Industrial Core GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B238532 100% 100%
    �    Exeter Europe Logistics Value Fund IV GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B249708 100% 100%
        EPIP MF GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B223215 100% 100%
        EPIP MF II GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B237012 100% 100%
        EPIP II GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B245662 100% 100%
        EGIP GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B195412 100% 100%
        EGIP II GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B191498 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter China Logistics Fund GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B256221 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter ELC II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B266601 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter ELC II Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B271440 - -
  �  EQT Exeter Asia Pacific Logistics Value Fund II GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B277597 100% 100%
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Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
  �  EQT Exeter Europe Logistics Value Fund V GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg B289408 100% 0%
  EQT Life Sciences Group B.V. Netherlands 863653698 100% 100%
    LSP Health Economics Fund Management B.V. Netherlands 858137501 100% 100%
    LSP V Management B.V. Netherlands 854065155 100% 100%
    LSP HEF 2 Management B.V. Netherlands 858137501 100% 100%
    LSP 6 Management B.V. Netherlands 858491783 100% 100%
    LSP Dementia Fund Management B.V. Netherlands 862010469 100% 100%
    LSP 7 Management B.V. Netherlands 862751007 100% 100%
    EQT Health Economics 3 Management B.V. Netherlands 865324281 100% 100%
    LSP Advisory B.V. Netherlands 819117481 100% 100%
  EQT Procurement S.à r.l. Luxembourg B201525 100% 100%
EQT Exeter Holdings US, Inc. USA 5402675 100% 100%
  Exeter Property Group, LLC USA 4207665 100% 100%
    Exeter Big Box AM Platform, LLC USA 5854337 100% 100%
      Exeter Big Box Asset Manager, LLC USA 5854341 100% 100%
    Exeter FeeCo I, LLC USA 6912131 100% 100%
      EQT Exeterfeeco Mexico S. de R. L. de C. V. Mexico 2018078689 100% 100%
    Exeter FeeCo II, LLC USA 6912346 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter US GP Solutions, LLC USA 7399251 100% 100%
  Exeter Property Group Advisors, LLC USA 4214673 100% 100%
    Exeter Big Box Property Manager, LLC USA 5854344 100% 100%
  Exeter US Advisor, LLC USA 5610899 100% 100%
    EQT Exeter Brazil Platform, LLC USA 3065333 100% 100%
      EQT Exeter Brazil Ventures, LLC USA 7961465 100% 100%
        EQT Exeter Brasil Investimentos Ltda. Brazil 3523622040-2 100% 100%
    Exeter China Ventures, LLC USA 7713778 100% 100%
  EQTE Brokerage LLC USA 6939462 100% 100%
BPEA EQT Holdings AB Sweden 559374-8691 100% 100%
  BPEA GP III Limited Cayman Islands 137871 100% 100%
  BPEA Hong Kong Growth Fund GP Limited Hong Kong 3074863 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP IV Limited Cayman Islands 192622 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited Cayman Islands 244752 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP VI Limited Cayman Islands 288217 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP VII Limited Cayman Islands 332034 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP VII S.à r.l. Luxembourg B222407 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP VIII Limited Cayman Islands 373499 100% 100%
  BPEA Private Equity GP VIII S.à r.l. Luxembourg B254359 100% 100%
  BPEA General Partner Limited Cayman Islands 355832 100% 100%
  BPEA TFO Partnership GP Limited Cayman Islands 317126 100% 100%

Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
  BPEA Asia Real Estate GP Limited Cayman Islands 268444 100% 100%
  BPEA Asia Real Estate GP II Limited Cayman Islands 325315 100% 100%
  BPEA Real Estate GP II S.à r.l. Luxembourg B222040 100% 100%
BAKPDC3 Pte. Ltd. Singapore 201708595C 100% 100%
EQT Fund Management S.à r.l. Luxembourg B167972 100% 100%
  EQT Fund Management S.à r.l. German Branch Germany - - -
EQT Infrastructure II (GP) Limited UK SC416498 100% 100%
EQT Mid Market (GP) Limited UK SC436969 100% 100%
EQT VII Co-Investment (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B217579 100% 100%
EQT Co-Investment (GP) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B209598 100% 100%
EQT VII International Holdings B.V. Netherlands 69473129 100% 100%
  EQT VII Luxembourg (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B214397 100% 100%
  EQT VII Netherlands (General Partner) B.V. Netherlands 68608195 100% 100%
EQT Real Estate Limited UK SC504628 100% 100%
EQT Ventures (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B196578 100% 100%
EQT Mid Market US (General Partner) Limited UK SC500973 100% 100%
EQT Mid Market Asia III (General Partner) Limited UK SC521109 100% 100%
EQT Mid Market Europe (General Partner) Limited UK SC521108 100% 100%
EQT Infrastructure III (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B207225 100% 100%
EQT VIII (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B215816 100% 100%
EQT Management S.à r.l. Luxembourg B145067 100% 100%
  EQT Luxembourg Management S.à r.l. Luxembourg B217192 100% 100%
  EQT RA Management S.à r.l. Luxembourg B240358 100% 100%
  EQT Infrastructure II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B244690 100% 100%
    EI II GP C.V. Netherlands 78485266 100% 100%
  EQT Mid Market (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B244691 100% 100%
    EMM GP C.V. Netherlands 78485622 100% 100%
  EQT Public Value (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B225269 100% 100%
  EQT Mid Market US (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B243106 100% 100%
    EMMUS GP C.V. Netherlands 78484804 100% 100%
 � EQT Mid Market Asia III (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B243105 100% 100%
    EMMASIA III GP C.V. Netherlands 78484316 100% 100%
 � EQT Mid Market Europe (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B243128 100% 100%
    EMMEU GP C.V. Netherlands 78484030 100% 100%
  EQT Infrastructure IV (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B225708 100% 100%
  EQT Ventures II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B232970 100% 100%
  EQT Real Estate II (General Partner) S.à r.l. Luxembourg B225704 100% 100%
    EQT Services (General Partner) Limited UK 07936703 100% 100%
  EQT Exeter Services Luxembourg S.à r.l. Luxembourg B229258 100% 100%
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Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
    TSG Luxembourg S.à r.l. Luxembourg B283381 100% 0%
EQT Management SG Pte. Ltd. Singapore 2021226838H 100% 100%
EQT Holdings B.V. Netherlands 54467861 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings II B.V. 1) Netherlands 55502903 - -
    EQT Infrastructure II GP B.V. Netherlands 54468701 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings III B.V. 1) Netherlands 56497490 - -
    EQT Mid Market Immigration GP B.V. Netherlands 71283730 100% 100%
    EQT Mid Market GP B.V. Netherlands 55314295 100% 100%
  EQT Public Value Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B225503 - -
  EQT Holdings VII B.V. 1) Netherlands 63039818 - -
    EQT VII (General Partner) LP UK SL019045 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings Real Estate B.V. 1) Netherlands 63243687 - -
    EQT Real Estate I (General Partner) LP UK SL020800 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings Ventures B.V. 1) Netherlands 63191334 - -
    EQT Ventures (GP) SCS Luxembourg B196905 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings MMUS B.V. 1) Netherlands 63039729 - -
    EQT Mid Market US GP B.V. Netherlands 62863223 100% 100%
  EQT Mid Market Asia III Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B227416 - -
    EQT Mid Market Asia III GP B.V. Netherlands 64683869 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings MM Europe B.V. 1) Netherlands 65104153 - -
    EQT Mid Market Europe GP B.V. Netherlands 64683796 100% 100%
  EQT Holdings Infrastructure III B.V. 1) Netherlands 66262844 - -
    EQT Infrastructure III (GP) SCS Luxembourg B207350 100% 100%
  EQT VIII Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B215898 - -
    EQT VIII (GP) SCS Luxembourg B215860 100% 100%
  EQT Infrastructure IV Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B228288 - -
    EQT Infrastructure IV (GP) SCS Luxembourg B225827 100% 100%
  EQT Ventures II Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B234431 - -
    EQT Ventures II (GP) SCS Luxembourg B233027 100% 100%
  EQT Real Estate II Holding SCSp 1) Luxembourg B227912 - -
    EQT Real Estate II (GP) SCS Luxembourg B226491 100% 100%
EQT Investment Verwaltungs-GmbH Germany HRB 194327 100% 100%
  EQT Active Core Infrastructure GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 114883 97% 97%
  EQT Active Core Infrastructure Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 117622 98% 98%
  EQT Equity Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 103524 97% 97%
  EQT Equity Kiwi Investments GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 110788 97% 97%
  EQT Future GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 114368 97% 97%
  EQT Growth GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 114254 97% 97%
  EQT Healthcare Growth GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 117587 98% 98%

Name Registered office Corporate reg. no
Percentage held

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
  EQT Infrastructure III Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 106439 97% 97%
  EQT Infrastructure IV GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 109499 97% 97%
  EQT Infrastructure IV Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 111708 97% 97%
  EQT Infrastructure V GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 112378 97% 97%
  EQT Infrastructure VI GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 116470 98% 98%
  EQT Infrastructure VI Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 117225 98% 98%
  EQT Infrastructure VI Soteria Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 117789 98% 98%
  EQT Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 98727 97% 97%
  EQT Leverage Employee GP GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 117586 98% 98%
  EQT Mid Market Asia III GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 106294 97% 97%
  EQT Mid Market Europe GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 105565 97% 97%
  EQT Mid Market Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 96874 97% 97%
  EQT Mid Market US GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 103658 97% 97%
  EQT Public Value GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 109578 97% 97%
  EQT Transition Infrastructure GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 119979 98% 0%
  EQT Ventures II GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 110584 97% 97%
  EQT Ventures Investment GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 104817 97% 97%
  EQT VIII GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 107356 97% 97%
  EQT VIII Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 110252 97% 97%
  EQT IX GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 111687 97% 97%
  EQT IX Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 113956 97% 97%
  EQT X GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 115219 98% 98%
  EQT X Side Car GmbH & Co. KG Germany HRA 116468 98% 98%
EQT HC Holdings I B.V. Netherlands 58187898 100% 100%
EQT HC Holdings II B.V. Netherlands 58188177 100% 100%
White Mill Two AG Switzerland CHE-195.379.514 100% 100%

1)	� The EQT AB Group controls only specified and ring-fenced assets and liabilities within the entity (a silo), see Note 2 and Note 3 regarding unconsolidated structured 
entities.

Note 24 cont
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Note 25 Earnings per share

EUR 2024
2023 

restated
Earnings per share, before dilution 0.656 0.142
– of which continued operations 0.656 0.149
Earnings per share, after dilution 0.656 0.142
– of which continued operations 0.656 0.149

The calculation of earnings per share has been based 
on the net income attributable to the shareholders and 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
The amounts used in the numerator and denominator 
are presented below together with some additional 
information. 

Net income attributable to ordinary shareholders and 
outstanding class C shares, basic and diluted

EUR m 2024
2023 

restated
Net income attributable to shareholders, 
basic 776.3 167.9
Net income attributable to shareholders, 
diluted 776.3 167.9

Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted

Number of shares 2024 2023
Weighted average number of 
shares, basic 1,183,153,914 1,185,754,323
Number of dilutive shares 1,012,485 679,983
Weighted average number of 
shares, diluted 1,184,166,399 1,186,434,306

INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED 
ENTITIES
Silos not controlled and accordingly not consolidated by 
the EQT AB Group consist of investments in EQT funds, 
including carried interest, facilitated through structured 
entities. The EQT AB Group has economic interests 
relating to transactions with unconsolidated silos of 
structured entities with reference to the Group’s finan-
cial investments including carried interest.

The EQT AB Group’s investments including carried 
interests are recognized in the balance sheet as "Finan-
cial investments incl carried interest", measured at fair 
value and changes in fair value are recognized as 
"Carried interest and investment income" in the income 
statement. Disclosures of the investments are presented 
in Note 18. 

The EQT AB Group’s maximum risk exposure relat-
ing to silos are represented by the amount recognized 
in the balance sheet as "Financial investments incl 
carried interest". In addition, EQT AB Group is exposed 
to the risk of claw-backs on carried interest as 
described in Note 18.

INVESTMENT ENTITY
From an IFRS 10 perspective EQT AB Group is consid-
ered an investment entity.

In accordance with IFRS 10 an investment entity is 
an entity whose business purpose is to invest funds 
solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment 
income or both and evaluate the performance of its 
investments on a fair value basis. As an investment 
entity EQT AB is exempt from consolidating subsidiaries 
that are investments and measures them at fair value 
through profit or loss instead. Subsidiaries that serve in 
a supporting function such as investment services 

continue to be consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10 
and those that are not providing investment services 
will be recognized at fair value instead of being consoli-
dated. 

Note 24 cont
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Consolidated income statement, restated

EUR m
Previously  

reported 2023 Restatement
2023  

restated
Management fee 1,966.1 1,966.1
‌​​Carried interest and investment income 118.4 38.0 156.3
Total revenue 2,084.4 38.0 2,122.4

‌​​Personnel expenses​‌ –705.3 –705,3
Acquisition related personnel expenses –436.4 –436.4
Other operating expenses –249.7 –249.7
Total operating expenses –1,391.4 — –1,391.4
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 693.1 38.0 731.0

Depreciation and amortization –54.1 –54.1
Amortization of acquisition related intangible assets‌​​ –364.1 –364.1
Operating profit (EBIT) 274.9 38.0 312.8

Net financial income and expenses –35.5 –35.5
Profit before income tax (EBT) 239.4 38.0 277.4

Income taxes –100.2 –100.2
Net income for the period from continuing operations 139.2 38.0 177.2
Net income for the period from discontinued operations –9.3 –9.3
Net income 129.9 38.0 167.9

Earnings per share, EUR
before dilution 0.110 0.142
- of which continued operations 0.117 0.149
after dilution 0.109 0.142
- of which continued operations 0.117 0.149

The single effect on the IFRS consolidated income statement of the restatement, due to the change in accounting 
policy regarding carried interest, is that the Carried interest and investment income line increased with the below 
amounts due to the positive change in fair value attributable to the period. The principles for Adjusted Revenue is 
unchanged compared to prior periods, whereby carried interest is only recognized after applying a valuation 
buffer (30-50%) on the unrealized part of the underlying fund valuations, see Note 4.

Note 26 Changes in accounting policy 
regarding carried interest

Following an analysis of EQT's investment in Special 
Limited Partners (SLP), it was concluded that the entire 
investment should be classified as a financial instru-
ment in accordance with IFRS 9 "Financial instruments". 
The investment in SLP is a contract which gives the right 
to receive cash, and it therefore meets the definition of 
a financial instrument.

Previously the investment has been divided into two 
parts, one financial instrument which has been recog-
nized at fair value in the balance sheet and one part 
that related to the carried interest which has been 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 15 "Revenue 
from contracts with customers"1).

As of 1 January 2024, EQT accounts for the entire 
investment, including carried interest, as a financial 
instrument in accordance with IFRS 9 at fair value in the 
balance sheet. The fair value changes will continue to 
be presented as Carried interest and investment income 
in the consolidated income statement.

The restatement is done in accordance with IAS 8 
"Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 
and errors" and the comparative period is restated.

The financial investments including carried interest 
is part of EQT's operating activities and is realized on a 
continuous basis. These investments have no contrac-
tual duration and is realized in  the normal operating 
cycle which has led to the conclusion that these invest-
ments are presented as current assets. Restatement is 
made of the comparative period. Consequently, also 
the cash flow from financial investments is classified in 
operating activities and reclassified from investing 
activities.

The effects of the change regarding accounting for 
carried interest, and reclassification of cash flows for 
financial investments have the following retrospective 
effects in the financial statements for the comparative 
period the fiscal year 2023.

1) The previous accounting policy for carried interest in accordance with IFRS 15 is 
presented in the annual report for 2023 on page 61.
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The change in accounting policy regarding measurement, classification and presentation of carried interest leads 
to the following effects in the consolidated balance sheet.

Reclassifications
Financial investments under Non-current asset together with Accrued but yet not paid carried interest has been

 reclassified into one single amount and presented as financial investments under the headline Current assets.

Effects on Retained earnings including net income
The change in accounting policy has generated a net increase of financial investments with a corresponding 
increase in Retained earnings including net income.

Consolidated balance sheet, restated

EUR m
Previously reported  

31 December 2023 Restatement
31 December 2023 

restated

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 2,132.6 2,132.6
Other intangible assets 3,147.7 3,147.7
Property, plant and equipment 171.5 171.5
Financial investments 730.7 –730.7 —
Other financial assets 16.7 16.7
Other non-current assets 17.8 17.8
Deferred tax assets 92.1 92.1
Total non-current assets 6,309.1 –730.7 5,578.4

Current assets
Current tax assets 30.5 30.5
Accounts receivable and other current assets 343.7 343.7
Financial investments incl carried interest — 3,038.9 3,038.9
Accrued but yet not paid carried interest 896.1 –896.1 —
Acquisition related prepaid personnel expenses 344.7 344.7
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 170.2 170.2
Cash and cash equivalents 1,114.0 1,114.0
Total current assets 2,899.2 2,142.8 5,042.0
Total assets 9,208.3 1,412.1 10,620.4

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 11.8 11.8
Other paid in capital 5,593.2 5,593.2
Reserves –450.0 –450.0
Retained earnings including net income 848.4 1,412.1 2,260,5
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company 6,003.6 1,412.1 7,415.8
Non-controlling interest — — —
Total equity 6,003.6 1,412.1 7,415.8

Consolidated balance sheet, restated

EUR m
Previously reported  

1 January 2023 Restatement
1 January 2023 

restated

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 2,172.2 2,172.2
Other intangible assets 3,624.7 3,624.7
Property, plant and equipment 170.5 170.5
Financial investments 668.4 –668.4 —
Other financial assets 40.4 40.4
Other non-current assets 15.2 15.2
Deferred tax assets 110.2 110.2
Total non-current assets 6,801.5 –668.4 6,133.1

Current assets
Current tax assets 29.4 29.4
Accounts receivable and other current assets 350.4 350.4
Financial investments incl carried interest — 2,957.6 2,957.6
Accrued but yet not paid carried interest 915.0 –915.0 —
Acquisition related prepaid personnel expenses 791.0 791.0
Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 70.4 70.4
Cash and cash equivalents 644.9 644.9
Total current assets 2,801.1 2,042.6 4,843.7
Total assets 9,602.6 1,374.2 10,976.8

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 11.2 11.2
Other paid in capital 5,593.2 5,593.2
Reserves –220.4 –220.4
Retained earnings including net income 1,014.7 1,374.2 2,388.9
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent company 6,398.7 1,374.2 7,772.9
Non-controlling interest — — —
Total equity 6,398.7 1,374.2 7,772.9



88

#01 This is EQT #02 Financial statements #03 Sustainability notes #04 Corporate governance #05 Additional information

Notes
Note 26 cont

Consolidated statement of cash flow, restated

EUR m
Previously 

reported  2023 Restatement
2023  

restated

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit (EBIT), continuing operations 274.9 38.0 312.8
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 418.2 418.2
Changes in fair value –22.5 –133.8 –156.3
Foreign currency exchange differences –15.0 –15.0
Other non-cash adjustments 479.5 479.5
Investments in financial investments incl carried interest — –208.3 –208.3
Recorded, yet not paid carried interest –95.8 95.8 —
Paid carried interest 114.7 –114.7 —
Proceeds from disposals of financial investments incl carried interest — 283.3 283.3
Increase (-) /decrease (+) in accounts receivable and other receivables –121.5 –121.5
Increase (+) /decrease (-) in accounts payable and other payables 17.6 17.6
Income taxes paid –105.3 –105.3
Net cash from operating activities 944.8 –39.7 905.0

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in intangible assets –0.5 –0.5
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment –23.1 –23.1
Investments in financial investments –208.3 208.3 —
Proceeds from disposals of financial investments 168.6 –168.6 —
Interest received 24.3 24.3
Final earn-out divestment Credit 11.2 11.2
Investment in non-current assets –11.0 –11.0
Net cash from (+) / used in (-) investing activities –38.8 39.7 0.9

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid –298.4 –298.4
Payment of lease liabilities –31.6 –31.6
Interest paid –47.7 –47.7
Share issue 0.5 0.5
Purchase of own shares and/or participations –38.0 –38.0
Net cash from (+) / used in (-) financing activities –415.2 — –415.2

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents 490.8 490.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 644.9 644.9
Foreign currency translation difference –21.7 –21.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 1,114.0 — 1,114.0

The change in accounting policy has the following 
effect on the consolidated statement of cash flows.

As the change in accounting policy has affected 
operating profit positively due to the changes in fair 
value, consolidated statement of cash flow is starting 
from a restated operating profit and consequently, as 
the fair value change is not a cash generating transac-
tion, the increase is reversed on the line item Changes in 
fair value. The remaining changes due to the change in 
accounting policy are reclassifications as described 
below.

Reclassifications
As all financial investments including carried interest 
are presented as one single line item in the balance 
sheet, the non-cash adjustment for Recorded, not yet 
paid carried interest is presented as part of Changes in 
fair value. Furthermore, as it has been deemed that 
cash flow from Financial investments including carried 
interest is part of EQT's operating activities, the cash 
flow has been reclassified from investing activities to 
operating activities and that Paid carried interest is 
presented as part of proceeds from Financial invest-
ments including carried interest.
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Parent company income statement
1 January — 31 December

SEK m Note 2024 2023
Net sales 2 2,198.2 2,091.8
Other operating income 3 - -
Total revenue 2,198.2 2,091.8

Personnel expenses 5 –730.6 –585.5
Other external costs 6, 7 –1,402.8 –1,192.7
Other operating expenses 4 –3.1 –7.2
Depreciation and amortization 12 –13.7 –11.5
Operating profit/loss 48.0 294.9

Profit/loss from financial items
Profit/loss from participation in subsidiaries 8 5,982.7 5,097.9
Interest income and similar profit/loss items 9 415.0 320.2
Interest expense and similar profit/loss items 10 –1,970.0 –759.7
Profit/loss after financial items 4,475.7 4,953.3

Group contribution 577.9 257.9
Profit/loss before tax 5,053.6 5,211.3

Income taxes 11 -19.6 115.2
Net income 5,033.9 5,326.5
Net income corresponds to total comprehensive income.
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Parent company balance sheet

SEK m Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Assets
Non-current assets

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold improvements 12 34.0 44.2
Equipment 12 7.9 11.4

41.9 55.6

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Participation in subsidiaries 13 93,276.1 89,920.6
Long-term loans, subsidiaries 6,535.6 5,970.4
Other securities held as non-current assets 14 13.8 14.3
Deferred tax assets 11 111.6 116.4
Other long-term receivables 16 1.1 4.8

99,938.1 96,026.5
Total non-current assets 99,980.0 96,082.1

Current assets

CURRENT RECEIVABLES
Accounts receivable 525.0 7.3
Receivables from subsidiaries 3,008.3 1,788.3
Current tax assets 44.3 58.6
Other receivables 114.9 256.4
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 17 208.6 146.7

3,901.1 2,257.3
Cash and bank 18 181.2 215.1
Total current assets 4,082.3 2,472.4

Total assets 104,062.3 98,554.5

SEK m Note 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
Equity and liabilities 
Equity 19

RESTRICTED EQUITY
Share capital 125.3 125.3

125.3 125.3
NON-RESTRICTED EQUITY
Share premium reserve 58,703.7 60,051.5
Profit or loss brought forward 142.6 –1,901.6
Net income 5,033.9 5,326.5

63,880.2 63,476.4
Total equity 64,005.6 63,601.7

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing liabilities 20 23,150.5 22,423.6
Long-term loans, subsidiaries 11,694.2 10,683.1
Total non-current liabilities 34,844.7 33,106.7

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 34.0 50.1
Liabilities to subsidiaries 3,450.8 1,178.2
Tax liabilities 14.4 —
Other liabilities 127.3 170.8
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 21 1,586.1 447.0
Total current liabilities 5,212.5 1,846.1
Total liabilities 40,057.2 34,952.8

Total equity and liabilities 104,062.3 98,554.5



91

#01 This is EQT #02 Financial statements #03 Sustainability notes #04 Corporate governance #05 Additional information

Parent company balance sheet

Parent company statement of changes in equity

Restricted equity Non-restricted equity

MSEK Share capital1)

Share  
premium 

reserve

Retained 
 earnings incl. 

profit for the year Total equity
Opening balance at 1.1.2024 125.3 60,051.5 3,424.9 63,601.7
Net income — — 5,033.9 5,033.9
Transactions with owners

Dividend - — -4,256.4 -4,256.4
Cancelling of C shares -0.3 — — -0.3
Bonus issue 0.3 — — 0.3
Equity incentive programs - — 974.1 974.1
Repurchase of own shares /and or participations - –1,347.8 — –1,347.8
Total - –1,347.8 -3,282.3 –4,630.1
Closing balance at 31.12.2024 125.3 58,703.7 5,176.5 64,005.6

1)	 The share capital amounts to SEK 125,335,166. 

Restricted equity Non-restricted equity

MSEK Share capital1)

Share  
premium 

reserve

Retained  
earnings incl. 

profit for the year Total equity
Opening balance at 1.1.2023 119.4 60,487.8 1,186.1 61,793.3
Net income — — 5,326.5 5,326.5
Transactions with owners

Dividend — — –3,557.2 –3,557.2
Share issue 6.0 — — 6.0
Cancelling of C shares –0.7 — — –0.7
Bonus issue 0.7 — — 0.7
Equity incentive programs — — 469.5 469.5
Repurchase of own shares /and or participations — –436.4 — –436.4
Total 6.0 –436.4 –3,087.6 –3,518.0
Closing balance at 31.12.2023 125.3 60,051.5 3,424.9 63,601.7

1)	 The share capital amounts to SEK 125,335,166. 
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Parent company statement of cash flows

SEK m 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit (EBIT) 48.0 294.9

Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 13.7 11.5
Foreign currency exchange differences 3.0 7.2
Other non-cash adjustments 118.5 31.5

Increase (–) /decrease (+) in account receivables and other receivables -791.3 2,543.3
Increase (+) /decrease (–) in account payables and other payables 1,974.9 –292.5
Dividends received 5,446.1 1,983.7
Income taxes paid 13.5 –1.6
Net cash from operating activities 6,826.5 4,578.0

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in subsidiaries/Group contributions paid -147.7 –79.6
Investment in subsidiaries - —
Divestment of subsidiaries - 56.1
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment - –8.1
Investment in non current assets - –0.4
Divestment of non current assets 4.2 0.7
Interest received 130.1 37.4
Final earn-out divestment Credit - 131.2
Net cash from investing activities -13.4 137.2

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid -4,256.4 –3,557.2
Proceeds from borrowings — —
Interest paid -800.7 –515.6
Purchase of own shares and/or participations -1,347.8 –430.4
Net cash flows from financing activities -6,404.9 –4,503.3
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 408.2 211.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 215.1 84.0

Foreign currency exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents -442.1 –80.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 181.3 215.1
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Parent company notes

Note 1 Accounting principles

GENERAL INFORMATION 
EQT AB, reg.no 556849-4180, is a Swedish registered 
limited company domiciled in Stockholm. The registered 
postal address is Box 16409, 103 27 Stockholm. The 
visiting address is Regeringsgatan 25, Stockholm. 

The annual report and consolidated financial 
statements have been approved for issuance by the 
Board of directors on 12 March 2025. The consolidated 
income statement and balance sheet and the Parent 
company’s income statement and balance sheet will 
be presented for approval at the annual shareholders’ 
meeting on 27 May 2025. 

Amounts are presented in SEKm unless otherwise 
stated. The accounting policies are unchanged compa-
red with the annual report 2023.

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
Revised standards and interpretations issued by the 
IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Committee but not yet 
effective, are expected to have an immaterial impact 
on the Parent company’s financial statements in the 
future periods of initial application. 

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GROUP’S AND THE 
PARENT COMPANY’S ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
Classification and presentation 
The income statement and balance sheet of the Parent 
company are prepared in accordance with the schedu-
les of the Annual Accounts Act, while the statement of 

income and other comprehensive income, the state-
ment of changes in equity, and the statement of cash 
flows are based on IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial 
Statements" and IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows".

Subsidiaries 
Shares in subsidiaries are recognized at cost. Transaction 
costs are included in the carrying amount of shares in 
subsidiaries. In the consolidated financial statements, 
transaction costs attributable to business combinations are 
recognized directly in the income statement as incurred. 

Contingent considerations are measured based on 
the probability that the consideration will be paid. Any 
changes in the provision/receivable is added to/reduces 
the cost of the shares in subsidiaries. In the consolidated 
financial statements, contingent considerations are 
measured at fair value and changes in fair value are 
recognized in the income statement. 

Investments in certain foreign entities with different 
types of share classes and with ring-fenced assets and 
liabilities attributable to each type of class, are treated 
as separate units, so called silos, within each entity. Only 
the share classes attributable to silos that are controlled 
by EQT AB are recognized as shares in subsidiaries. 

Functional and accounting currency 
The Parent company does not apply the Group’s prin-
ciples for determining the functional currency. Instead, 
the Annual Accounts Act’s rules on accounting currency 
are applied, which means that the Parent company has 
SEK as its accounting and reporting currency. 

Anticipated dividends 
Anticipated dividends from subsidiaries are recognized 
in cases where the Parent company alone has the right 
to decide the size of the dividend and the Parent com-
pany has decided on the size of the dividend before the 
Parent company has published its financial statements. 

Tax 
Unlike the consolidated financial statements, the Parent 
company recognizes untaxed reserves in the balance 
sheet without allocating it to equity and deferred tax 
liability. Similarly, no part of the appropriation is alloca-
ted to deferred tax expenses in the Parent company’s 
income statement.

Leases
The Parent company does not apply IFRS 16 "Leases". 
Instead, all lease contracts where EQT acts as a lessee, 
the lease payments are recognized as an expense 
according to the straight-line method over the lease 
term. Accordingly, no right of use assets nor lease 
liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet.

Research and development
In the Parent company, all development costs are 
recognized as expenses in the income statement as 
incurred. In the consolidated financial statements, 
development costs are capitalized when certain crite-
rias are met.

Financial instruments
The Parent company has, in accordance with RFR 2, 
chosen not to apply IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" for 
financial instruments, which means that financial 
non-current assets are measured at cost or amortized 
cost less any impairment losses and financial current 
assets are measured according to the lower of cost or 
market. 

However, some of the principles in IFRS 9 are appli-
cable – such as impairment losses and credit losses, 
recognition/derecognition, and the effective interest 
method for interest income and expenses. 

The cost of interest-bearing instruments is adjusted 
for the accrued difference between the amount that 
was initially paid, after addition/deduction of transac-
tion costs, and the amount paid on maturity, i.e. 
the premium and discount respectively. 

Impairment losses on financial assets measured at 
amortized cost are recognized in accordance with IFRS 
9, in the same manner as the consolidated financial 
statements.

Impairment losses on investments in equity instru-
ments are recognized if the fair value is less than the 
carrying amount.

Financial guarantees
The Parent company’s issued financial guarantee 
contracts consist partly of guarantees in favor of subsi-
diaries. Financial guarantees require the company to 
reimburse the holder of a debt instrument for losses 
that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when it is due in accordance with the terms of 
the contract. 

The Parent company applies the allowed exemption 
to IFRS 9 as permitted by the Swedish Financial 
Reporting Board (RFR) for financial guarantees. The 
exemption relates to financial guarantee contracts 
issued in favor of, among others, subsidiaries. The 
Parent company recognizes financial guarantee con-
tracts as provisions in the balance sheet when the 
company has a commitment for which it is probable that 
a payment will be required to settle the commitment.

Parent company financial 
statements with notes
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Note 2 Revenue

Revenue derives from contracts to provide services for 
other companies, mainly subsidiaries. The services 
relate to management and support functions and are 
considered to be interrelated and therefore constitute a 
single performance obligation that is fulfilled over time 
to the customer. The transaction price for the services is 
determined by a  method based on the arm’s length 
principle.

Revenue is recognized over time as the assignment 
is performed based on costs incurred and the fulfillment 
of the performance obligations.

The fee is invoiced on an ongoing basis based on a 
preliminary cost estimate with a final settlement at year 
end, payment is due within 10 days from invoicing.

Note 3 Other operating income

2024 2023
Foreign currency gains on operating 
receivables/liabilities — —

— —

Note 4 Other operating expenses

2024 2023
Foreign currency losses on operating 
receivables/liabilities –3.1 –7.2

–3.1 –7.2

Note 5 Employees and personnel expenses

Average number 
of employees 2024

 whereof 
women 2023

 whereof 
women

Sweden 217 44% 211 43%

Disclosures regarding the company’s Board of directors 
and senior executives are presented in the Group’s 
Note 7.

Note 6 Audit fees and expenses

2024 2023
KPMG
Audit services 7.0 6.7
Other services 1.7 1.7

8.7 8.4

Audit services refer to the legally required examination 
of the annual report and the book-keeping, as well as 
the Board of directors and the CEO’s management and 
any other audit examinations or agreed-upon procedu-
res determined by contract. This includes their work 
assignments which rest upon the company’s auditor to 
conduct, and advising or other support justified by 
observations in the course of examination or execution 
of such other work assignments.

Note 7 Operating leases

Lease contracts where the Company is the lessee

2024 2023
Future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases
Within one year 49.3 37.6
Between one and five years 148.3 137.5
Later than five years - 32.0

197.6 207.1

2024 2023
Lease expenses recognized 33.8 38.1

Office rent is included in future lease expenses. The 
lease agreement has a lease term of 10 years. Part of 
the office rent is recharged to the subsidiaries EQT 
Partners AB, EQT Exeter Advisors Sweden AB and EQT 
Treasury AB and is therefore not recognized in the lease 
expenses during the year.

Note 8 Profit/loss from participations  
in subsidiaries

2024 2023
Capital gain on divested subsidiaries - 161.7
Profit/loss from participations in subsidi-
aries -10.2 -
Impairment of shares in subsidiaries –74.2 –5.5
Dividends from subsidiaries 6,067.2 4,941.8

5,982.7 5,097.9

Shareholders’ contributions 
Provided shareholders’ contributions are recognized as 
an increase in the carrying amount of the shares/
participation. Repaid shareholders’ contributions are 
recognized as dividends followed by an impairment test 
of shares in subsidiaries.

Group contributions 
Both group contributions received and paid are recog-
nized as appropriations.

Salaries, other remunerations and social security 
expenses, including pension expenses

2024 2023
Salaries  

and remu-
nerations

Social 
security 

expenses

Salaries  
and remu

nerations

Social 
security 

expenses

464.7 208.4 370.0 165.9
(of which pen-
sion expenses) 60.1 51.7

Remunerations to the company’s CEO and other senior 
executives are presented in the Group’s Note 7. 
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Note 11 Income taxes

2024 2023
Current tax expense/income -14.4 -
Deferred tax expense/income 103.8 116.4
Tax attributable to prior years -109.0 –1.1

-19.6 115.2

The deferred tax income of 103.8 MSEK in 2024 prima-
rily relates to the recognition of tax loss carryforwards, 
based on an assessment that sufficient taxable profits 
will arise in the future.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2024 2023
Profit before tax 5,053.6 5,211.3
Tax at Parent company’s statutory rate, 
20.6% (20.6%) -1,041.0 –1,073.5
Non-deductible expenses -105.2 –79.5
Non-taxable income 1,250.0 1,051.4

Change in non-recognized tax losses - 218.0
Global minimum tax -14.4 -
Tax attributable to prior years -109.0 –1.1
Reported effective tax -19.6 115.2

Note 12 Property plant and equipment

Note 13 Participations in subsidiaries

2024 2023
Accumulated cost
Opening balance 94,727.9 87,841.8
Acquisitions - 0.0

Divestment of subsidiaries - –56.1
Shareholders’ contributions 3,429.7 6,942.2
Closing balance 98,157.7 94,727.9

Accumulated impairments
Opening balance -4,807.7 –4,804.3
Impairment -74.5 –3.4
Closing balance -4,881.9 –4,807.7
Carrying amount at year-end 93,276.1 89,920.6

Leasehold 
improvements Equipment Total

Accumulated cost
Opening balance 01.01.2024 90.6 19.7 110.4
Acquisitions - – -
Closing balance 31.12.2024 90.6 19.7 110.4

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 01.01.2024 -46.4 -8,3 -54.6
Depreciation –10.3 –3.5 –13.7
Closing balance 31.12.2024 –56.7 –11.7 –68.3
Carrying amount at  
year-end 31.12.2024 34.0 7.9 41.9

Leasehold 
improvements Equipment Total

Accumulated cost
Opening balance 01.01.2023 90.3 11.9 102.2
Acquisitions 8.2 – 8.2
Reclassification -7,9 7,9 0.0
Closing balance 31.12.2023 90,6 19.7 110.4

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 01.01.2023 –36.0 –7.2 –43.2
Depreciation –10.4 –1.1 –11.5
Closing balance 31.12.2023 –46.4 –8.3 –54.7
Carrying amount at  
year-end 31.12.2023 44.2 11.4 55.6

Leasehold improvements relate to the headquarter 
office. 

Note 10 Interest expense and similar  
profit/loss items

2024 2023
Interest expenses, subsidiaries –303.0 –151.6
Interest expenses, other –529.7 –534.4
Foreign currency losses –1,137.2 –73.7

–1,970.0 –759.8

Note 9 Interest income and similar  
profit/loss items

2024 2023
Interest income, subsidiaries 288.0 309.5
Interest income, other 126.1 10.5
Foreign currency gains — —
Other 0.9 0.3

415.0 320.2
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Specification of Participations in subsidiaries

31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Subsidiary / Corp. reg. no./ Registered office
Number of 

shares
Share  

in %1)
Carrying 

amount
Carrying 

amount
EQT Services (UK) Limited. Reg. no. 07936651, London 725 100.0 25.2 24.9
EQT Holdings B.V. Reg. no. 54467861, Amsterdam 1,800,000 100.0 2,282.0 2,290.4
EQT Investment Verwaltungs-GmbH. Reg. no. HRB 194327, Munich 25,000 100.0 - 17.3
EQT Infrastructure II (GP) Limited. Reg. no. 416498, Edinburgh 100 100.0 2) 0.0 0.0
EQT Fund Management S.à r.l. Reg. no. B167972, Luxembourg 1,627 100.0 424.6 310.1
EQT Mid Market (GP) Limited. Reg. no. 436969, Edinburgh 100 100.0 2) 5.9 5.5
EQT Management S.à r.l. Reg. no. B145067, Luxembourg 12,500 100.0 68.0 68.0
EQT Partners AB. Reg. no. 556233-7229, Stockholm 5,000 100.0 51,062.8 49,412.4
EQT Mid Market US (General Partner) Ltd. Reg. no. SC500973, Edinburgh 1 100.0 2) 3.9 0.0
EQT Real Estate Limited. Reg. no. SC504628, Edinburgh 1 100.0 2) 0.0 0.0
EQT Ventures (General Partner) S.à r.l. Reg. no. B0196578, Luxembourg 12,500 100.0 0.4 0.4
EQT Infrastructure III (General Partner) S.à r.l. Reg. no. B207225, Luxembourg 12,500 100.0 0.1 0.1
EQT Co-Investment (GP) S.à r.l. Reg. no. B209598, Luxembourg 1,200,000 100.0 0.6 0.6
EQT Mid Market Asia III (General Partner) Limited. Reg. no. SC521109, Edinburgh 1 100.0 2) 0.0 0.0
EQT Mid Market Europe (General Partner) Limited. Reg. no. SC521108, Edinburgh 1 100.0 2) 0.0 0.0
EQT VII International Holdings B.V. Reg. no. 69473129, Amsterdam 12,000 100.0 1.2 0.6
EQT VIII (General Partner) S.à r.l. Reg. no. B215816, Luxembourg 12,000 100.0 10.1 10.1
EQT VII Co-Investment (General Partner) S.à r.l. Reg. no. B217579, Luxembourg 12,000 100.0 4.2 1.4
EQT HC Holdings I B.V. Reg. no. 85291747, Amsterdam 308,642 100.0 — —
EQT HC Holdings II B.V. Reg. no. 852917387, Amsterdam 308,642 100.0 — —
White Mill Two AG. Reg. no. CH-0203035230-6, Wollerau 308,642 100.0 — —
EQT Corporate Services Netherlands B.V. Reg. no. 74993097, Amsterdam 1.0 100.0 0.0 0.0
EQT Treasury AB. Reg. no. 559227-5647, Stockholm 6,500 100.0 24,670.7 24,078.9
EQT Exeter Holdings US, Inc. Reg. no. 5402675, Dover 100 100.0 11,661.4 11,661.4
EQT Exeter Advisors Sweden AB Reg. no. 559296-3507, Stockholm 25,000 100.0 283.2 234.3
EQT Management SG Pte. Ltd. Reg. no. 2021226838H, Singapore 1.0 100.0 - 0.0
BPEA EQT Holdings AB. Reg.no. 559374-8691, Stockholm 25,000 100.0 2,771.3 1,753.5
BAKPDC3 Pte.Ltd. Reg.no. 201708595C, Singapore 54,291 100.0 - 50.6

93,276.1 89,920.6

1)	 Referring to the owners’ share of the capital, which is equivalent to the share of the votes for the total amount of shares.
2)	 The value amounts to 1 GBP each for these companies.

Note 14 Other securities held as  
non-current assets

2024 2023
Accumulated cost
Opening balance 14.3 13.8
Additional assets 0.4 0.6
Divestment -0.9 –0.1
Closing balance 13.8 14.3
Carrying amount at year-end 13.8 14.3

Note 15 Financial instruments and  
financial risks

FINANCIAL RISKS AND FINANCIAL RISK  
MANAGEMENT
The description of financial risks and financial risk 
management for the Group – Note 18 "Financial instru-
ments and financial risks", is in all material aspects also 
applicable for the Parent company. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The table below presents the Parent company’s finan-
cial assets and liabilities.  

2024 2023
Financial assets
Long-term loans, subsidiaries 6,535.6 5,970.4
Other securities held as non-current 
assets 13.8 14.3
Other non-current receivables 1.1 4.8
Accounts receivables 525.0 7.3
Receivables from subsidiaries 3,008.3 1,788.3
Other receivables 114.9 256.4
Cash and bank 181.2 215.1
Total financial assets 10,379.9 8,256.6

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 23,150.5 22,423.6
Long-term loans, subsidiaries 11,694.2 10,683.1
Accounts payable 34.0 50.1
Liabilities to subsidiaries 3,450.8 1,178.2
Other liabilities 127.3 170.8
Accrued expenses 1,360.4 272.9
Total financial liabilities 39,817.1 34,778.6

All financial assets are recognized at amortized cost. 
For short-term financial assets and liabilities (accounts 
receivables, receivables and liabilities from group 
companies, other receivables and liabilities, accrued 
income and expenses, cash and bank, and accounts 
payable) the carrying amounts are considered to be 
reasonable approximations of their fair value. For a 
description and disclosures about the fair value of other 
securities held as non-current assets, see the Group’s 
Note 18.
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Note 18 Revolving credit facility

On 10 July 2024, EQT extended its existing EUR 1.5 billion 
sustainability-linked revolving credit facility (RCF) for 5 
years, with two 1-year extension options. The RCF was 
originally signed on 21 December 2020 and increased to 
EUR 1.5 billion on 25 April 2022. The RCF increases the 
financial flexibility of EQT and is used for corporate 
purposes, supporting the EQT AB Group’s growth 
initiatives and long-term strategy. The RCF is not limited 
to a specific currency, it can be utilized in both EUR and 
USD, by both EQT AB and EQT Treasury AB. As of 31 
December 2024, the RCF was unused. The RCF also 
incorporates a pricing mechanism linked to sustainabili-
ty-related objectives, lowering the interest rates if 
targets are met, and increasing them if targets are not 
achieved. It is thus in line with EQT’s overall approach of 
integrating sustainability throughout its activities, both 
on EQT AB Group level and within funds advised by 
EQT.

Note 19 Number of shares and quota value

For further information regarding Number of shares and 
quota value, see the Group’s Note 14 Equity.

Note 20 Interest bearing liabilities

For further information regarding Interest bearing 
liabilities, see the Group’s Note 15 Interest bearing liabili-
ties.

Note 21 Accrued expenses and prepaid 
income

2024 2023
Accrued personnel expenses 225.7 174.1
Accrued consultancy fees 152.4 196.1
Other accrued expenses 1,208.0 76.7

1,586.1 447.0

Note 22 Pledged assets and contingent 
liabilities

As of 31 December 2024 the Parent company does not 
have any general guarantee commitments (SEK 0.0), 
pledged assets or contingent liabilities.  

Note 23 Related parties

Related 
parties Year

Sales of 
services

Purchases 
of services Other 

Recei-
vables 

Liabili-
ties 

Subsi
diaries 2024 2,032.6 235.3 6,052.1 9,543.9 15,145.0
Subsi
diaries 2023 2,090.1 214.3 5,099.6 7,758.7 11,861.2

Note 24 Events after the reporting period

For disclosures regarding events after the reporting 
period, see the Group’s Note 22.

PROPOSAL FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF NET INCOME

Standing at the disposal (in SEK) of the annual share-
holders’ meeting, in accordance with the balance sheet 
of EQT AB

Share premium reserve 58,703,698,468
Profit brought forward 142,596,937
Net income 5,033,944,911
Total 63,880,240,316

The board proposes that, following approval of the 
balance sheet of EQT AB for the financial year 2024, the 
annual shareholders’ meeting should distribute the 
earnings as follows:

Dividend to shareholders:
SEK 4.30 per share 5,079,722,2681)

Retained earnings 58,800,518,048
Total 63,880,240,316

1) �Based on the number of outstanding shares at 31 December 2024. The amount 
of the dividend may change up until each record date.

It is the Board’s opinion that the proposed dividend is 
justifiable taking into consideration the demands that 
the nature, scope and risks of EQT’s operations place on 
the size of EQT AB’s and EQT AB Group’s equity, and 
EQT AB’s and EQT AB Group’s consolidation needs, 
liquidity and financial position in general.

Note 17 Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income

2024 2023
Insurance 8,7 25.0
Pensions 5.9 1.3
Licenses 104.9 69.7
Accrued income 46.6 -
Other 42.5 50.6

208.6 146.7

Note 16 Other long-term receivables

2024 2023
Accumulated cost
Opening balance 4.8 5.4
Additional receivables – –
Divestment of receivables -3.7 –0.6
Carrying amount at the year-end 1.1 4.8



EQT faces a variety of risks and uncertainties, which 
could materially affect its operations, reputation, 
financial position or its earnings. Effective oversight and 
management of risks are essential for EQT to achieve its 
strategic objectives. EQT’s ability to generate superior 
risk-adjusted returns for its funds’ investors requires a 
full understanding of investment risks and opportunities 
as well as a disciplined approach to manage those 
throughout the investment and ownership phases.

EQT’s risk appetite is reviewed by the Risk Commit-
tee1) and covers the principal risks that the Group is 
facing. At least twice a year the risk team reviews the 
list and ranking of risks using a likelihood and impact 
framework and decides whether any new risks should 
be incorporated into the Group’s risk map. These 
include risks that would threaten the company’s perfor-
mance or reputation, as well as those with a higher 
likelihood and greater impact on strategic objectives. 
The Risk Committee reviews and validates any changes 
in risk ratings. Risks with higher ratings are prioritized 
through extensive monitoring and thematic reviews. 

In addition, the risk team continuously monitors and 
assesses emerging risks and their potential impact on 
EQT’s strategic objectives.

1) �A committee of senior managers responsible for discussing risk matters and reviewing EQT’s risk management framework on behalf of the Executive Committee.
2) EQT’s sustainability risks deemed material in accordance with EQT:s double materiality assessment are disclosed as part of the Sustainability notes.

Risk type EQT’s principal risks2)

External risks
Macro and market risk

Operational & financial disruptions related to adverse events

Strategic risks

Fund performance risk

Fundraising risk

Challenges in attracting, retaining and managing talent

Unsuccessful execution of new initiatives

Operational & Compliance risks
Failure to adequately scale the operating platform

Regulatory & compliance risks

Financial risks Market, credit and liquidity risks

Emerging risks
Increasing shift towards a multipolar world

Threats posed by emerging technology
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External Risks

Macro & market risk
Risks derived from a variety of economic factors and market volatility that can impact portfolio performance, valuations, and 
investment outcomes.

Potential impact:
	— Valuation uncertainties resulting in slower investment and 

exit pace.
	— Performance or financial issues in portfolio companies.
	— Tightened financing conditions for new deals.
	— IPO markets dislocation limiting potential exit routes, 

leading to longer holding periods.
	— Carried interest postponed or not achieved.
	— Extended fundraising timelines.

2024 & outlook
The macro landscape in 2024 painted a mixed picture with 
the US economy showing resilience through strong wages 
and demand, APAC driving global growth with robust 
activity and exports, and Europe facing challenges with 
slowing productivity and growth concerns.

Overall, market conditions improved during the year, 
driving broad-based investment activity across EQT’s global 
platform, alongside an increase in exits driven by a gradual 
recovery in the exit environment. However, the fundraising 
environment remained challenging.

With global election outcomes bringing clarity and 
shifting fiscal and regulatory dynamics, the deal environ-
ment is expected to improve in 2025. However, geopolitical 
uncertainties remain a significant risk, with protectionist 
policies potentially creating inflationary pressures and 
challenges for global trade.

Risk management & mitigation
EQT’s thematic investment approach is based 
on investing in companies and assets with strong market 
positions in resilient sectors benefiting from long-term 
secular trends, thus being less correlated with the economic 
cycle. 

EQT has a disciplined approach to leverage and very 
strong relationships with banks and private credit funds, 
through its dedicated Global Capital Markets team, which 
helps the funds’ ability to obtain favorable debt financing, 
with the majority of the financing being covenant-lite. 
Additionally, the Capital Markets team is working continu-
ously to manage portfolio company financing, ensuring a 
robust maturity profile across the EQT platform, with over 
75% of portfolio debt maturing in 2028 and beyond.

In buyout strategies, the EQT governance model and 
control ownership enables EQT to work closely with portfolio 
companies, take quick decisions and manage challenges 
effectively.

Further, the Capital Markets and investment advisory 
teams regularly conduct sensitivity analyses on cash flows to 
proactively manage liquidity at investment level.

Finally, EQT’s value creation approach mitigates the 
impact of macroeconomic risks by prioritizing operational 
enhancements, with a strong emphasis on driving sales and 
earnings growth at the investment level.

External Risks

Operational & financial disruptions related to adverse events 
Interruptions in business activities and financial performance caused by unforeseen external factors such as natural disasters, 
geopolitical conflicts, pandemics, regulatory changes, or supply chain disruptions.

Potential impact:
	— Damage to EQT’s reputation.
	— Large financial costs for EQT.
	— Unforeseen financial consequences for EQT or the EQT 

funds’ investments.

2024 & outlook
As EQT has grown more global, its exposure to worldwide 
challenges, including geopolitical and climate risks, has 
expanded throughout 2024. In response to this development, 
EQT continues to review the adequacy and resilience of its 
technology infrastructure as the business grows, while 
staying close to its portfolio companies to assess potential 
impacts and prepare for various scenarios.

Risk management & mitigation
EQT maintains a strong balance sheet and solid liquidity, 
ensuring high resilience during crises. Its robust incident and 
crisis management process enables swift mobilization of all 
relevant stakeholders. EQT works closely with specialist risk 
consulting firms to enhance its crisis management 
capabilities.

Additionally, the diversified exposures of EQT funds 
further bolster the Group’s ability to navigate adverse events 
effectively.

In buyout strategies, the EQT governance model enables 
EQT to work closely with portfolio companies, supporting 
them in preparing for various scenarios and managing 
crises. 
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Strategic Risks

Fund performance risk 
Risk of the fund not meeting its overall performance objectives, benchmarks, or investor expectations.

Potential impact:
	— Reduced carried interest and investment income 

received by EQT.
	— Reduced ability to raise future funds.
	— Damage to EQT’s brand, reputation, and long-term 

prospects.

2024 & outlook
As the market backdrop improved in 2024, EQT maintained a 
strong focus on exits, achieving approximately 30 exit events 
during the year while investment activity continued at a 
strong pace. EQT’s track record of generating liquidity 
remains a competitive advantage, supported by a systematic 
approach to assessing assets and balancing long-term value 
creation with liquidity needs.

The portfolio demonstrated healthy value creation, with 
EBITDA growth exceeding revenue growth in key sectors such 
as healthcare, technology, and industrial tech. Operational 
improvements and cost efficiencies delivered positive results, 
while underperformance in a few areas remained isolated 
and non-systematic. All key funds are performing On or 
Above plan.

With the majority of the portfolio still in value creation 
mode, many assets require additional time to mature before 
becoming exit-ready. However, proactive exit preparations 
and strong investment momentum position EQT well to 
capitalize on favorable market conditions as they arise.

Investment activity in Real Estate accelerated throughout 
the year. EQT Real Estate has selectively capitalized on 
market opportunities in attractive locations to deploy capital 
and has continued to drive value through strategic leasing 
and tenant improvement initiatives.

Risk management & mitigation
As part of EQT’s active ownership model, the EQT Playbook 
is a key driver of fund performance, fostering growth 
through digitalization, sustainability, and operational 
excellence. EQT’s governance model enables EQT to support 
the execution of business plans within portfolio companies 
including sustainability value creation drivers (please refer 
to #3.6 in the Sustainability notes for more information). 
EQT’s local-with-local approach, spanning more than 25 
countries and supported by global sector teams, ensures a 
consistent and performance-focused strategy.

Portfolio company performance and sustainability 
metrics are continuously monitored through the Portfolio 
Performance Review (PPR), which tracks the progress of 
each investment, identifies opportunities and warning signs 
early, and provides actionable recommendations. Concen-
tration limits at the investment level further mitigate risk by 
ensuring no single underperforming asset materially 
impacts a fund. In addition, EQT performs portfolio re-un-
derwriting periodically, reassessing various factors to 
proactively prepare its portfolio for potential macroeco-
nomic challenges.

Additionally, the Global Investment Forum (GIF) evalu-
ates overall performance and exposures across all EQT 
funds, promoting consistency in investment approaches and 
disciplined performance management. To strengthen 
oversight of exits and liquidity, EQT has implemented an Exit 
and Liquidity Committee across the organization. This 
committee systematically reviews exit priorities and executes 
liquidity strategies through various methods, ensuring a 
thoughtful and client-focused approach to liquidity and 
solutions. EQT also assumes exits at long-term average 
multiples to ensure a disciplined and consistent approach to 
valuation and exit planning.

Strategic Risks

Fundraising risk  
Risk of not achieving fundraising targets due to uncertainties around investor commitments, and market conditions.

Potential impact:
	— Reduced revenues due to lower FAUM and management 

fees, and over time, realized carry. 
	— Loss of market share. 
	— Potential pressure on management fees.

2024 & outlook
The fundraising environment continued to face challenges in 
2024 despite an improving market backdrop. Geopolitical 
uncertainty and low levels of realizations across private 
markets over recent years are leading to extended fundrais-
ing periods. Despite this, as a result of EQT’s strong track 
record, fundraising has progressed well for EQT’s established 
strategies, with EQT X closing at its hard cap during 2024.

As exit volumes begin to recover, the fundraising market is 
expected to gain momentum. Increased liquidity through 
primary and secondary markets and increased demand 
coming from private wealth will likely support healthier and 
faster fundraising conditions.

In 2025, EQT will continue fundraising for its flagship funds 
alongside newer strategies, including its evergreen offerings 
tailored to the private wealth market. 

Risk management & mitigation
EQT’s focus on fund performance and returning cash to 
investors are critical drivers of its fundraising success.  

EQT’s strong co-investment platform strengthens existing 
client relationships and positions EQT as a preferred partner 
for new investors, enhancing its ability to attract additional 
capital and support future fundraising success. With a global 
client base of more than 1,300 investors, EQT leverages its 
expansive network to drive scale and build long-term 
partnerships.

While EQT does not control external macroeconomic 
factors, EQT’s project-based fundraising processes and 
performance culture help minimize the risk of not meeting 
fundraising targets. 

To ensure adequate resources are allocated to fundrais-
ing projects, the Capital Raising team maintains ongoing 
dialogues with the business lines and updates the fundrais-
ing plans accordingly. 
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Strategic Risks

Challenges in attracting, retaining, and managing talent  
Risk staffing challenges, including employee turnover, skill gaps, succession planning, and the potential impact of personnel 
issues on operational performance and strategic goals.

Potential impact:
	— Insufficient resources to meet strategic objectives.
	— Loss of talent, affecting the success of investment and 

fundraising activities.

2024 & outlook
Attracting and nurturing a diverse, world-class EQT team and 
network is essential for long-term success, with a motivated 
and well-supported workforce driving productivity, fostering 
innovation, and ensuring overall success. This is evident by a 
low regrettable turnover across the organization.

For many years, EQT has focused on increasing the ratio 
of women and has improved gender balance in boards and 
management, in both EQT and across portfolio companies. 
While significant progress has been made in this area, it 
remains an important focus area for EQT.

Risk management & mitigation
EQT’s ability to attract, retain, and develop talent is sup-
ported by a comprehensive strategy that includes a well-de-
fined recruitment process, competitive and long-term 
compensation, and structured development opportunities 
through the EQT Academy. The EQT Academy delivers a 
wide range of growth and development programs ranging 
from general onboarding programs to career progression 
and personal development programs to future-proof 
talents.

An annual succession planning process is conducted to 
assess key personnel, identify successors, and ensure 
leadership strength for the continued success of the busi-
ness. 

A new equity-linked incentive program was recently 
introduced to ensure alignment between employee perfor-
mance and the wider EQT. This initiative improves EQT’s 
ability to recruit, motivate, and retain top talent, which is 
essential for EQT AB to achieve long-term value growth for 
its shareholders.

At EQT, inclusion is a business imperative and it’s embed-
ded into our talent strategy, decision-making, and culture to 
ensure that every individual and team operates at their full 
potential. By doing so, we unlock better collaboration, 
stronger innovation, and superior investment outcomes.

EQT fosters inclusion through its affiliation networks like 
DiverseMinds, EQT Pride and EQT Win to help people 
connect, become better allies, learn, develop professionally 
and participate in a safe space.

Regular engagement surveys provide insights into 
workplace dynamics, enabling EQT to address concerns, 
enhance employee satisfaction, and mitigate risks of 
attrition or disengagement. EQT ensures a collaborative 
environment where employees are motivated and empow-
ered to drive organizational success by prioritizing inclusive 
leadership practices and employee well-being.

Further details are described in #3.3 in the Sustainability 
notes. 

Strategic Risks

Unsuccessful execution of new initiatives  
Failure to implement or scale new projects, strategies, or programs effectively and in line with the firm’s strategic and financial 
objectives.

Potential impact:
	— Failure to capitalize on market opportunities, which 

impacts EQT’s long-term competitiveness, market 
position, and stakeholder confidence.

	— Failure to diversify revenue streams, increasing reliance 
on flagship funds.

2024 & outlook
Scaling recent initiatives, while building new initiatives are 
essential drivers for EQT’s growth ambitions. During the year, 
EQT has continued to focus on fundraising for new strategies, 
particularly in the private wealth segment, which presents 
significant opportunities. However, in a challenging fundrais-
ing environment, fundraising timelines for certain strategies 
are taking longer.

Looking ahead to 2025, EQT plans to introduce additional 
initiatives while continuing to drive fundraising momentum for 
its recently launched evergreen strategies.

Risk management & mitigation
EQT’s strong balance sheet is a key enabler for executing on 
new and recently launched strategies. In recent years, 
substantial efforts have been directed toward strengthening 
the private wealth platform through significant hiring across 
various departments in all regions.

To support its fundraising efforts, EQT is actively pursu-
ing new distribution channels and enhancing branding 
initiatives to increase market visibility and extend its reach.

To identify challenges at an early stage, EQT has estab-
lished a governance framework that ensures oversight of 
new initiatives. This framework includes a dedicated busi-
ness development team that regularly reports to the Execu-
tive Committee and Board.
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Operational & compliance risks

Failure to adequately scale the operating platform  
Risk of operational inefficiencies or reputational harm due to the inability to scale systems, processes, and infrastructure 
effectively in line with EQT’s growth ambitions.

Potential impact:
	— Operational failures leading to reputational damage or 

non-compliance.
	— Higher costs of doing business. 

2024 & outlook
In pursuing its growth ambitions, EQT must constantly adapt 
its operational processes to improve the efficiency and 
scalability of its operating platform.

As part of its day-to-day operations, EQT processes large 
amounts of transactions and data, making it vulnerable to 
errors or delays.

The expansion into private wealth, with multiple new 
products combined with EQT’s geographic expansion into the 
US market, introduces additional complexity to its operations. 

Successfully scaling the private wealth and US platforms 
will require EQT to balance operational efficiency with robust 
support for a growing client base, ensuring consistent service 
quality, regulatory compliance, and operational resilience 
across its expanding global footprint.

Risk management & mitigation
All functions within EQT, particularly the Fund Operations 
team and Central Functions’ Specialist teams, are responsi-
ble for developing and maintaining robust policies & proce-
dures to ensure the quality, resiliency, and scalability of 
EQT’s operations. The internal control framework is reviewed 
annually to identify and remedy control issues. In addition, 
EQT has prioritized enhancing the efficiency and scalability 
of its operating platform as a strategic focus, managed 
through its program management process under the 
oversight of the Operating Committee.

To address the specific challenges of private wealth 
expansion and entry into the US market, EQT has bolstered 
its operational foundation by increasing its workforce in key 
areas. These targeted hires are part of a broader strategy 
to build specialized expertise across regions, support the 
unique needs of private wealth clients, and navigate com-
plex regulatory landscapes in markets like the US.

Operational & compliance risks

Regulatory & compliance risks  
Failure to adhere to laws, regulations, industry standards, or internal policies.

Potential impact:
	— Financial costs of regulatory fines, damage to EQT’s 

brand and long-term prospects.
	— Increased compliance costs, reducing the attractiveness 

of certain jurisdictions or growth initiatives.

2024 & outlook
As the private markets industry continues to grow and is 
becoming increasingly more accessible for non-institutional 
clients, EQT expects to navigate an evolving regulatory 
landscape in which regulators increase their focus on the 
industry, particularly on investor protection, transparency, 
and sustainability. EQT’s strategic initiative to scale and grow 
within the private wealth client segment increases EQT’s 
regulatory exposure. Furthermore, an increasing global focus 
on private equity taxation with continued uncertainty on how 
carried interest is treated may lead to increased costs for 
EQT. 

Risk management & mitigation
EQT has made significant hiring efforts over the last few 
years to bolster its Central Functions’ Specialist teams 
globally to support the organization in navigating an 
increasingly complex regulatory landscape.

EQT has implemented a Regulatory Watch Model to 
ensure that new regulatory initiatives and trends are 
identified and assessed promptly to secure business objec-
tives and continuous compliance. 

EQT’s global compliance monitoring program ensures 
adherence to business ethics standards by identifying 
compliance risks, fostering integrity, and aligning operations 
with laws and EQT’s Code of Conduct as further described in 
#3.5 in the Sustainability notes.

EQT has robust documented guidelines, processes, and 
controls for managing taxes throughout the EQT platform, 
with the purpose of ensuring that all material tax risks are 
identified and mitigated through tax risk identification 
processes.
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Financial risks

Market, credit and liquidity risks  
Risk of financial loss or reduced earnings arising from market volatility, counterparty credit defaults, liquidity shortfalls, or 
revaluation of investments.

Potential impact:
	— Reduced earnings, if market fluctuations impact interest 

rates, currency exchange rates or the valuation of EQT 
AB Group’s investments.

	— Credit losses, in the event of a failure of a counterparty. 

2024 & outlook
EQT continues to leverage its balance sheet to drive growth 
initiatives and execute on its long-term strategy. Over the 
recent years, EQT has enhanced its financial flexibility by 
increasing its sustainability-linked Revolving Credit Facility 
and issued a number of sustainability-linked bonds. 

EQT’s interest rate risk is limited as the sustainabili-
ty-linked bonds have fixed coupons, subject to sustainabili-
ty-related objectives. During 2024, S&P assigned an A- (Sta-
ble) credit rating to EQT, complementing the existing rating 
from Fitch at the same level. 

Risk management & mitigation
The EQT AB Group uses risk mitigation tools, such as mini-
mum credit ratings, rigorous cash forecasting and liquidity 
facilities. See more information under Note 18.

The Treasury team monitors and reports on those risk 
exposures on a monthly basis. 

EQT has implemented a robust governance and approval  
process for balance sheet investments, which includes 
approval from both ExCom and the Board.

Emerging risks 

Increasing shift towards a multipolar world  
Risk of constrained investment and value creation opportunities driven by geopolitical tensions, protectionist policies, and 
fragmented global markets, affecting fundraising, portfolio performance, and cross-border activities.

Potential impact:
	— Certain sectors and geographies, where EQT funds have 

invested, become less attractive, which could make EQT 
less competitive in raising funds over the long term.

	— Reduced performance of portfolio companies with 
global supply chains.

	— Restrictions on certain deals in strategic sectors and 
geographies may reduce exit options for the EQT funds.

	— May affect EQT’s ability to attract capital from investors 
in certain countries or regions in the long-run. 

The global landscape is becoming increasingly fragmented 
as geopolitical tensions, potential trade wars, and supply 
chain disruptions accelerate the transition to a multipolar 
world. National security and protectionist policies are likely to 
reshape international trade, which may create complexities 
for EQT’s portfolio companies. Over time, rising tariffs, 
increasing regulatory scrutiny, and restrictions on cross-bor-
der trade and investments are expected to drive up costs and 
operational risks, while heightened cybersecurity threats 
pose ongoing challenges.

These dynamics may create sustained complexities in 
conducting deals across certain regions and present ongoing 
challenges for fundraising efforts in affected markets. As 
investors grow increasingly cautious about long-term stability 
and cross-border opportunities, EQT must adapt to these 
evolving geopolitical realities to ensure resilience and contin-
ued success.

Risk management & mitigation
Risk diversification across strategies and assets is a key 
mitigation to manage this emerging risk. Overall perfor-
mance and exposures are monitored by the Global Invest-
ment Forum (“GIF”) on a regular basis. In addition, EQT’s 
local-with-local approach, supported by 600+ high-profile 
industrial advisors within the EQT Network, will help EQT 
funds’ portfolio companies adjust their strategies to such 
challenges. Furthermore, all proposed investments go 
through a thorough due diligence and approval process 
during which all key aspects and outlooks of the transac-
tions, company and industry are discussed. 

In response to the increasingly complex geopolitical 
landscape, EQT has been engaging with geopolitical experts 
and risk specialists to further strengthen its threat intelli-
gence and adapt its risk management approach.

Finally, the emergence of a multipolar world also pre-
sents new opportunities leading to successful investments, 
thereby reducing the impact of investments that have been 
negatively impacted.
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Emerging risks 

Threats posed by emerging technologies 
Risk of data breaches, operational disruptions or errors arising from emerging technologies or poor implementation thereof, 
as well as competitive disadvantages arising from the late adoption of AI technologies.

Potential impact:
	— Loss of sensitive financial, personal, or proprietary data 

leading to damage to EQT’s brand.
	— Material financial costs arising from legal fees and 

remediation costs.
	— Operational disruptions impacting EQT’s ability to run its 

day-to-day operations.
	— Failure in decision-making processes dependent on such 

technologies, leading to regulatory, financial, or reputa-
tional repercussions. 

	— Competitive disadvantages and missed opportunities 
caused by slow or inadequate adoption of AI.

The emergence of AI and quantum computing technologies 
presents both transformative opportunities and long-term 
risks. Leveraging digital technology is essential to 
future-proofing EQT and its portfolio companies, supported 
by significant investment in digital capabilities in recent years. 
While these technologies enhance detection, response 
capabilities, and operational efficiency, they also introduce 
challenges such as cybersecurity vulnerabilities, regulatory 
scrutiny, and risks related to data governance and AI bias. 

Quantum computing also represents an emerging risk to 
existing cryptographic standards, necessitating the develop-
ment of quantum-resistant security frameworks. 

Moreover, the ongoing exploitation of supply chains, 
exacerbated by the increased reliance on vendor services 
and cloud technologies, expands the potential areas of 
vulnerability for EQT. As a firm engaging with numerous 
third-party providers, EQT must enforce rigorous due dili-
gence, robust AI governance, and continuous monitoring of 
supply chain security is required to mitigate this emerging 
risk. 

Risk management & mitigation
EQT continuously defines and implements the best cyber 
solutions for its environment and runs a threat detection and 
incident response program. Regular cyber security training 
for all employees, including phishing tests raises awareness 
and mitigates risks. Through its threat intelligence process, 
new trends are continuously monitored and reported to the 
Information Security Steering Committee on a quarterly 
basis, with summaries being reported to the Group Risk 
function, the Audit Committee, and the Board. A designated 
board member oversees the information security strategy 
and meets with EQT’s CISO twice a year.

To address the emergence of AI risk, EQT has established 
an AI Governance Steering Committee to ensure responsible 
AI adoption, regulatory compliance, and robust oversight of 
all AI applications.
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EQT AB
Corp. id 556849-4180

The board and CEO assure that the Annual Report has 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in Sweden and the consolidated 
accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
International Accounting Standards, stated in the 
regulation of the European Parliament and the Council 
of Ministers (EG) no 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002, concern-
ing the application of international accounting stand-
ards. The Annual Report and the consolidated accounts 
give a true and fair view of the parent company as well 
as of the EQT AB Group’s position and result. The Board 
of directors’ report for the parent company and the EQT 
AB Group gives a true and fair view of the parent 
company’s and Group’s business development, position 
and result. It also describes the major risks and uncer-
tainty factors facing the parent company and Group 
companies.

Conni Jonsson
Chairperson

Christian Sinding
CEO

Brooks Entwistle Diony Lebot  Gordon Orr

Marcus Wallenberg Margo Cook Richa Goswami

Stockholm 12 March 2025 The Annual Report and the consolidated accounts have 
been approved for publication by the Board of directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer on 12 March 2025. The 
consolidated income statement and balance sheet and 
the parent company’s income statement and balance 
sheet will be presented for adoption by the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 May 2025.

Our audit report has been submitted on 12 March 2025
KPMG AB 

Håkan Olsson Reising
Authorized public accountant
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REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND 
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts of EQT AB for the year 2024. The annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts of the company 
are included on pages 49-105 in this document. 

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, 
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the parent company as of 31 December 2024 
and its financial performance and cash flow for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
group as of 31 December 2024 and their financial 
performance and cash flow for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, as adopted 
by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory 
administration report is consistent with the other parts of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting 
of shareholders adopts the income statement and 
balance sheet for the parent company and the group.

Our opinions in this report on the the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts are consistent with the 
content of the additional report that has been submitted 
to the parent company’s audit committee in accordance 
with the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 11. 

 

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with Internation-
al Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent 
of the parent company and the group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and 
have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.This includes that, 
based on the best of our knowledge and belief, no 
prohibited services referred to in the Audit Regulation 
(537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to the 
audited company or, where applicable, its parent 
company or its controlled companies within the EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinions.

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in 
our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

To the general meeting of the shareholders of EQT AB, 
corp. id 556849-4180

Carried interest 
See disclosure 3, 5, 18, 26 and accounting principles on page 59 in the annual account and consolidated accounts for 
detailed information and description of the matter.

Description of key audit matter
As of 31 December 2024 the group reported carried 
interest of EUR 2 862 million in the balance sheet and 
income from remeasurement of carried interest of EUR 
587 million in the income statement.

As of 1 January 2024 EQT has changed its account-
ing policy for carried interest:

	— From being considered part of consideration for 
investment management services with a revenue 
recognition approach applying IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (Service Provider Model)

	— To being considered part of the investment in funds 
measured at fair value applying IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
(Ownership Model)

The change has been implemented retrospectively with 
restatement of comparative figures.

Carried interest is a share of returns that EQT AB 
Group receives through its holdings in the Special 
Limited Partners based on the performance of the 
relevant fund and the development of the funds 
underlying investments. EQT AB Group is entitled to an 
agreed share of accumulated returns exceeding agreed 
thresholds over the life of each individual fund. The 
underlying valuations, on which the carried interest is 
based, are complex and include significant levels of 
judgement.

Response in the audit 
Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to:

	— We have reviewed the company’s restatement of 
carried interest from service provider model to 
ownership model (fair value model). 

	— We have reviewed the company ś model for 
calculation of carried interest and  obtained an 
understanding of the valuation process and key 
controls in this process, 

	— We have assessed the development of the funds 
underlying investments to conclude whether these were 
performed in accordance with the prescribed method, 

	— We tested that the methodology and consistency 
applied in the valuation of the portfolio companies is 
in accordance with the International Private Equity 
and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines,

	— We assessed the relevance of multiples used against 
market multiples from relevant transactions or 
market data, 

	— We have involved internal valuations- and account-
ing specialists to assess the current unrealized fund 
values and also to evaluate the accuracy of the 
disclosures of carried interest in the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts.

	— We assessed the change in accounting method to 
ensure it is in line with what is stipulated in IFRS 
Accounting Standards. 
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Other Information than the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts 
This document also contains other information than the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts and is 
found on pages 1-48, 110-169 and 184-193. The other 
information comprises also of the remuneration report 
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidat-
ed accounts does not cover this other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read 
the information identified above and consider whether 
the information is materially inconsistent with the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. In this 
procedure we also take into account our knowledge 
otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the 
information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this 
information, conclude that there is a material misstate-
ment of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Responsibilities of the board of directors  
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts and that they give a fair 
presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as 
adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the 

Managing Director are also responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for the assessment of the 
company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of 
accounting is however not applied if the Board of Direc-
tors and the Managing Director intend to liquidate the 
company, to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the 
Board of Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, 
among other things oversee the company’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

	— Identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

	— Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal 
control relevant to our audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstanc-
es, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control.

	— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director.

	— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s, use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. We also 
draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s and the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion about the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause a company and a group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

	— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, including the disclosures, and whether the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

	— Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
and appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units 
within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on 
the consolidated accounts. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit 
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We 
must also inform of significant audit findings during our 
audit, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identified. 

We must also provide the Board of Directors with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, measures that 
have been taken to eliminate the threats or related 
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Board of 
Directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts, including the most 
important assessed risks for material misstatement, and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes disclosure about the matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
Auditor’s audit of the administration and the proposed 
appropriations of profit or loss 

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts, we have also audited the 
administration of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director of EQT AB for the year 2024 and the 
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or 
loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of share-
holders that the profit be appropriated in accordance 
with the proposal in the statutory administration report 
and that the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director be discharged from liability for the 
financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsi-
bilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independ-
ent of the parent company and the group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and 
have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal 
for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the 
proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of 
whether the dividend is justifiable considering the 
requirements which the company’s and the group’s type 
of operations, size and risks place on the size of the 
parent company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation 
requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
company’s organization and the administration of the 
company’s affairs. This includes among other things 
continuous assessment of the company’s and the 
group’s financial situation and ensuring that the 
company’s organization is designed so that the 
accounting, management of assets and the company’s 
financial affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassur-
ing manner. 

The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing 
administration according to the Board of Directors’ 
guidelines and instructions and among other matters 
take measures that are necessary to fulfill the compa-
ny’s accounting in accordance with law and handle the 
management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administra-
tion, and thereby our opinion about discharge from 

liability, is to obtain audit evidence to assess with a 
reasonable degree of assurance whether any member 
of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director in 
any material respect:

	— has undertaken any action or been guilty of any 
omission which can give rise to liability to the 
company, or

	— in any other way has acted in contravention of the 
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the 
Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and 
thereby our opinion about this, is to assess with 
reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal 
is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that 
can give rise to liability to the company, or that the 
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss 
are not in accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. The examination of the 
administration and the proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the audit 
of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed 
are based on our professional judgment with starting 
point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus 
the examination on such actions, areas and relation-
ships that are material for the operations and where 

deviations and violations would have particular 
importance for the company’s situation. We examine 
and test decisions undertaken, support for decisions, 
actions taken and other circumstances that are relevant 
to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a 
basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ 
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss 
we examined whether the proposal is in accordance 
with the Companies Act. 
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THE AUDITOR’S EXAMINATION OF THE ESEF 
REPORT

Opinion
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts, we have also examined that the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director have 
prepared the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts in a format that enables uniform electronic 
reporting (the Esef report) pursuant to Chapter 16, 
Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities Market Act 
(2007:528) for EQT AB for year 2024. 

Our examination and our opinion relate only to the 
statutory requirements. 

In our opinion, the Esef report has been prepared in 
a format that, in all material respects, enables uniform 
electronic reporting.

Basis for opinion
We have performed the examination in accordance 
with FAR’s recommendation RevR 18 Examination of the 
Esef report. Our responsibility under this recommenda-
tion is described in more detail in the Auditors’ 
responsibility section. We are independent of EQT AB in 
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director   
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the Esef report in 
accordance with the Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the 

Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528), and for such 
internal control that the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director determine is necessary to prepare 
the Esef report without material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the Esef report is in all material respects 
prepared in a format that meets the requirements of 
Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities 
Market Act (2007:528), based on the procedures 
performed. 

RevR 18 requires us to plan and execute procedures 
to achieve reasonable assurance that the Esef report is 
prepared in a format that meets these requirements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but it is not a guarantee that an engagement carried 
out according to RevR 18 and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the Esef report. 

The audit firm applies International Standard on 
Quality Management 1, which requires the firm to 
design, implement and operate a system of quality 
management including policies or procedures regard-
ing compliance with ethical requirements, professional 
standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements.

The examination involves obtaining evidence, 
through various procedures, that the Esef report has 
been prepared in a format that enables uniform 

electronic reporting of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement in the 
report, whether due to fraud or error. In carrying out 
this risk assessment, and in order to design procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, the auditor 
considers those elements of internal control that are 
relevant to the preparation of the Esef report by the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of those internal controls. The examina-
tion also includes an evaluation of the appropriateness 
and reasonableness of the assumptions made by the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director. 

The procedures mainly include a validation that the 
Esef report has been prepared in a valid XHTML format 
and a reconciliation of the Esef report with the audited 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

Furthermore, the procedures also include an 
assessment of whether the consolidated statement of 
financial performance, financial position, changes in 
equity, cash flow and disclosures in the Esef report have 
been marked with iXBRL in accordance with what 
follows from the Esef regulation.
 

KPMG AB, Box 382, 101 27, Stockholm, was appointed 
auditor of EQT AB by the general meeting of the 
shareholders on the 27 May 2024. KPMG AB or auditors 
operating at KPMG AB have been the company’s 
auditor since 2012.

Stockholm 12 March 2025 
KPMG AB		
		
		
		
Håkan Olsson Reising		
Authorized Public Accountant		
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 I, Luuk Bogaarts state that I am Director of Small Cells HoldCo Inc. (the “Company”); that 

I am authorized to make this Verification on behalf of the Company; that the foregoing filing was 

prepared under my direction and supervision; and that the contents with respect to the Company 

and its affiliates are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed this 28th 

day of May, 2025. 

 

 

 Luuk Bogaarts 

Director 
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 I, Joseph Turley state that I am Director of Small Cells HoldCo Inc. (the “Company”); that 

I am authorized to make this Verification on behalf of the Company; that the foregoing filing was 

prepared under my direction and supervision; and that the contents with respect to the Company 

and its affiliates are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed this 28th 

day of May, 2025. 

 

 

 Joseph Turley 

Director 

Small Cells HoldCo Inc. 

 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
I, Danielle Burt, hereby certify that on May 28, 2025, copies of the Joint Petition of Crown 

Castle Fiber LLC and Small Cells Holdco Inc. for Consent of the Transfer of Control of Franchisee 

to Small Cells Holdco Inc. was served by Overnight Courier to the addresses identified herein: 

 
Department of Information Technology and 
Telecommunications  
Attention: General Counsel 
15 Metro Tech Center, 18th Floor  
Brooklyn, New York 11201 
 

Department of Transportation 
Attention: General Counsel  
55 Water Street, 9th Floor 
New York, New York 10041 

New York City Law Department 
Attention: Chief, Economic Development 
Division 
100 Church Street 
New York, New York 10007 

 

 
        /s/ Danielle Burt    
           Danielle Burt 



RESOLUTION 

FRANCHISE AND CONCESSION REVIEW COMMITTEE 

CITY OF NEW YORK 

Cal. No. 2 

In the matter of consent to transfer control of the mobile telecommunications services franchise 
agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”) between the City of New York and Crown Castle Fiber LLC (“Crown 
Castle Fiber”) for the installation, operation, maintenance of equipment and facilities, including base 
stations and access point facilities, on: 1) City-owned street light poles and traffic light poles, and certain 
privately-owned utility poles located on the City streets; and 2) subject to necessary further approvals, 
LinkNYC Kiosks, bus stop shelters and automatic public toilets, all in connection with the provision of 
mobile telecommunications services, to Small Cells HoldCo Inc. 

WHEREAS, on March 9, 2016, Authorizing Resolution 935 was adopted by New York City Council, granting 
the New York City Department of Information Technology and Telecommunications (“DoITT”), now known 
as the Office of Technology and Innovation, the authority to grant franchises for the provision of mobile 
telecommunications services, as permitted by said Authorizing Resolution; and 

WHEREAS, on March 1, 2018, the New York City Department of City Planning reviewed a request for 
proposals for the provision of mobile telecommunications services (“RFP”) submitted by DoITT and 
determined that a franchise, consistent with the RFP, would not have land use impacts or implications 
and that review under Section 197-c of the New York City Charter would not be necessary; and 

WHEREAS, on June 12, 2018, DoITT issued the RFP; 

WHEREAS, Crown Castle Fiber responded to said RFP; and 

WHEREAS, Crown Castle Fiber has been given opportunity to review a Franchise Agreement consistent 
with the RFP and has expressed intent to pursue said Franchise Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Franchise and Concession Review Committee held a public hearing regarding the proposed 
Franchise Agreement on January 13, 2020, which was a full public proceeding in compliance with the 
requirements of the New York City Charter, and said hearing was closed on that date; 

WHEREAS, the Franchise and Concession Review Committee adopted the resolution granting the 
Franchise Agreement to Crown Castle Fiber on January 14, 2020; 

WHEREAS, on May 28, 2025, Crown Castle Fiber petitioned DoITT seeking consent to transfer control of 
the Franchise Agreement to Small Cells HoldCo Inc; 

WHEREAS, the Franchise and Concession Review Committee held a public hearing on March 9, 2026 
regarding the proposed transfer of control of the Franchise Agreement, which was a full public proceeding in 
compliance with the requirements of the New York City Charter, and said hearing was closed on that date. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT 

 



RESOLVED, that the Franchise and Concession Review Committee does hereby approve the transfer of 
control of the Franchise Agreement between the City of New York and Crown Castle Fiber LLC to Small 
Cells HoldCo Inc. 

 
 
 

THIS IS A TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE 
FRANCHISE AND CONCESSION REVIEW COMMITTEE ON: 

03/11/2026 

Date: 

Signed 

Title: City Chief Procurement Officer 
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